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Reporting

Cloudberry reports consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS and a supplementary propor-
tionate 1 segment reporting. The proportionate segment reporting provides enhanced insight to the operation, 
financing and future prospect of the Group. Proportionate reporting is aligned with internal management 
reporting, analysis and decision making. 

Cloudberry is preparing for the adoption of the European Sustainability Reporting Standards (ESRS) required 
by the Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD). The standard is based on the ESG structure 
Environment, Social and Governance. For more information see our Sustainability chapter.  

1	 See Alternative Performance Measure appendix for further definitions.



3Cloudberry Annual report 2022

Introduction

Cloudberry in brief
Cloudberry is a renewable energy company, born, bred, and operating 
in the Nordics.  We own, develop, and operate hydropower plants and 
wind farms in  Norway, Sweden and soon in Denmark. We are powering 
the transition to a sustainable future by providing new renewable energy 
today and for future generations. We believe in a fundamental long-term 
demand for renewable energy in Europe. With this as a cornerstone,  
we are building a sustainable, scalable, efficient, and profitable platform 
for creation of stakeholder value.

 

Cloudberry`s growth strategy

Our current portfolio in Norway and Sweden consists of 28 hydropower assets and 51 wind turbines (in four 
projects), wholly or partially owned. Before summer 2023, we expect to add another 51 wind turbines primarily 
in Denmark to the portfolio.  We have a local and active ownership strategy and prefer majority ownership; 
however, in certain investments we have shared ownership with strong, strategic partners. The scalable 
Cloudberry platform is positioned for profitable growth, both in terms of energy production and our in-house 
development backlog and pipeline. Cloudberry’s strategy is to continue to grow both organically and through 
acquisitions in the Nordic market. We are backed by strong owners and an experienced management team. 
Our shares are traded on Oslo Stock Exchange’s main list, ticker: CLOUD.  

Cloudberry`s business model 

Our business model is based on three revenue generating 
segments and one cost-efficient corporate segment. 
Development is a green-field developer for both onshore 
and off-shore projects. Development has a solid track 
record of organic, in-house developments of wind and 
hydropower assets in Norway and Sweden. Production 
is an active owner of renewable power assets in the 
Nordics. Operations, 60% owned, is an asset manager 
and operator of hydro and wind assets including digital 
solutions with a scalable operating platform.

Our strong commitment to local communities and our 
integrated value chain ensures local presence and opti-
mization of stakeholder alignment and value creation. 

Our Nordic clean renewable platform

OperationsDevelopment Production

Our Values       Be Supportive   •   Be Committed   •   Be Bold   •   Be Exceptional
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Through 2022 we have focused on growing the 
project pipeline and moving power projects into 
producing assets generating long term cash flow for 
the company – on time and budget and with a strong 
ESG focus. Our Hån wind farm is an excellent example 
of a project developed in-house from the very start. 
Hån is now in full operation generating new renewa-
ble power to a geographical area that soon will be in 
need of more power to avoid power shortage. 

We doubled the production in Cloudberry from 2020 
to 2021 and doubled the production again during 
2022. Successful projects like Hån, Odal Vind and 
the hydropower plant Bøen were great contributors. 
In parallel with the sustainable development and 
construction of our projects we always focus on 
being well financed for all our projects. During 2022 
we established a strong financial position to be able 
to act on opportunities and develop more renewable 
projects onshore and offshore.      

Building the offshore team in Sweden has also been 
a priority in 2022 and we are proud of the competent 
and diverse team we have developed during the year. 
In addition to our lake project Stenkalles, we have 
come a long way with the Baltic Sea shallow water 
project Simpevarp (800 MW). The Simpevarp project is 
a good example of how we work locally to develop a 
project. We want to go beyond just obtaining accept-
ance for a project, but through local involvement, 

transparency and sufficient information create a 
positive engagement for new renewable projects. We 
look forward to seeing more from the development 
team in Sweden over the next years.

As a developer, owner, and operator of renewable 
energy assets we have placed sustainability at the 
core of everything we do and view it as essential to 
our long-term achievements and value-creation. We 
treasure our community and business partnerships, 
and work closely with our employees, business 
partners, shareholders, and local community mem-
bers to create this value and share the rewards fairly. 
Our stakeholders expect us to operate our business 
in line with the strongest environmental, social, and 
governance (ESG) principles and we have the same 
expectation of ourselves, as well as of our partners 
and suppliers. We strive to live and breathe ESG in 
all we do. We hope our 2022 Sustainability Report will 
give you a deeper insight into Cloudberry’s ESG work 
in practice. 

We have also focused on strengthening the 
Cloudberry organization and portfolio in 2022 with 
the acquisition of the Captiva Group. We are happy 
to get fantastic new colleagues onboard and to see 
how well the different organizations have become 
integrated and are collaborating in developing and 
operating hydro- and wind projects in the Nordics. 
The Captiva Portal™ is for many of us the new 

Cloudberry’s purpose is to provide clean sustainable energy for 
future generations. We share a strong culture and everything 
we do reflects our purpose and our values. Because of this we 
always strive to see opportunities, make the right decisions, and 
do business in a sustainable way. This is our contribution locally and 
globally to the ongoing climate and energy crisis.  

Letter from the CEO

Building The Leading Nordic 
Independent Power Producer    

Letter from the CEO
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Anders J. Lenborg 
Chief Executive Officer

favourite source of information for managing our 
power production portfolio. 

The recent acquisition of the Odin portfolio in early 
2023 is a game changing step into the Danish 
market creating a strong and diversified position for 
Cloudberry throughout the Nordics. The partnership 
with Skovgaard is a new important step to build 
the Nordic Independent Power Producer with both 
a strong producing portfolio and access to new 
development projects in the Danish market. 

Looking into the future we believe the demand for 
renewable energy in Europe will increase. We are 
certain that the “RePowerEU” initiative introduced by 
the EU will further speed up the process of devel-
oping more new renewable energy in the coming 
years. The ongoing energy transition will also lead 
to continued high power prices in our relevant price 
areas into 2023 and onwards. Cloudberry is well 
positioned for the massive energy demand in the 
Nordics and Europe.  

Our company’s strong commercial and sustainable 
performance in 2022 against a backdrop of contin-
ued unrest and volatility caused by pandemic, war 
and regulatory challenges in Europe would not have 
been possible without the bold and exceptional 
performance from all Captiva and Cloudberry 
colleagues. I would like to thank all my colleagues 
for their hard work and commitment during a 
game-changing year. I also thank the Board for 
it’s engangement and valuable input throughout 
the year, and our shareholders for their continued 
support. Together we create the Leading Nordic 
Independent Power Producer.  

We are building our business for the long term.  
We are building our business for all of us.

“We believe 
the demand for more 
renewable energy in 
Europe will increase”.
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Overview and highlights

1	 Asset portfolio per reporting date with proportionate ownership to Cloudberry. 
2	 Duvhällen project included as 60 MW – Cloudberry has grid capacity permit for 30 MW and has applied for increased grid capacity to match the 

construction permit. 
3	 Odin transaction is pedning governmental approval and expected to close in Q2 2023. The capacity and production figures assumes no triggering 

of pre-emptive rights. 

Production

  Production 
  incl. under construction 1

Existing portfolio
Capacity:	 188 MW
Production:	 612 GWh

Odin portfolio 3

Capacity:	 106 MW
Production:	 311 GWh

Total
Capacity:	 294 MW
Production:	 923 GWh

Development

  Construction permit 2

Wind assets:	 3
Capacity:	 128 MW 2

Production:	 389 GWh 
	 	 (normalized)

  Backlog

Backlog (exclusive projects)
Projects:	 15
Capacity:	 480 MW
New projects Söderköping and 
Ulricehamn in Sweden, downprioritizing 
of Norwegian wind projects

Pipeline (non-exclusive projects)
Projects:	 >20
Capacity:	 >2,500 MW
Example: 	 Simpevarp

Cloudberry continues to deliver profitable 
growth. In 2022, the company has 
increased its production & development 
portfolio and strengthened its balance 
sheet significantly.  
 
Below is an overview of our portfolio 
per reporting date, including the  
latest expansion to Denmark,  
see subsequent events.
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1	 Compared to FY 2021.

Main developments in 2022

Financials 1 (per 31.12.2022, consolidated figures unless otherwise stated)

•	 Revenue increased by more than five times, 
from NOK 41m to NOK 217m 

•	 EBITDA improved from NOK -32m to NOK 151m 

•	 Proportionate EBITDA improved from NOK 
-25m to NOK 381m

•	 Cash position increased from NOK 1 115m  
to NOK 1 538m 

•	 Interest bearing debt increased from NOK 
304m to NOK 339m

•	 Booked equity increased from 2 636m to  
3 794m

Operational

•	 Proportionate production increased 129% 
from 117 GWh to 268 GWh 1

•	 Completed Hån wind-farm on time and 
budget, with strong ESG performance

•	 Odal in full operation 

•	 Secured new projects in Sweden: Sundby 
(previously Kafjarden) and Munkhyttan  

•	 Farm-down of the shallow-water project 
Stenkalles, bringing in Hafslund as a 50%  
strategic partner

•	 Updated climate risk assessment and 
scenario analysis.  Implemented new 
ESG requirements as part of supply chain 
management

•	 New hydro projects:  Ramsliåna and Skåråna 
completed.  Bøen I & II in operation, with an 
option for Bøen III  

•	 Purchased 60% of Captiva (Cloudberry’s 
operation segment). Option to purchase 100%

Subsequent events 

February 2023. First step into Denmark 
increasing production capacity by up to 70%.     

•	 Cloudberry signed a sale and purchase 
agreement to acquire 80% of the Odin 
portfolio from Skovgaard Energy A/S 
(“Skovgaard”) 

•	 A step-change for Cloudberry establishing 
Denmark as the third Nordic area 

•	 A high-quality and primarily Danish portfolio 
of producing onshore wind assets  

•	 Primarily located in the attractive DK1 price 
area 

•	 Portfolio consists of 51 Vestas and Siemens 
turbines in total 106 MW (net to Cloudberry), 
all in production  

•	 Acquisition includes land, re-powering 
options and a well anchored partnership 
with Skovgaard (a local and highly successful 
development team)  

•	 Fully financed through existing cash & bank 
facility (approx. 50% equity / 50% debt)  
– Please see stock exchange notice 10.02.23.  
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Project portfolio 1

Cloudberry’s strategy is to develop, own and operate producing assets 
in the Nordic region. During February 2023, Cloudberry signed a sale 
and purchase agreement with Skovgaard Energy A/S.  The transaction 
will be Cloudberry’s first step into Denmark and adds up to ~106 MW of 
net production. The transaction is pending government approval and 
is expected to close during Q2 2023.  

The 2023 chart is an illustrative picture of our portfolio diversification 
following the Odin transaction.

1	 Per reporting date

2022

150 MW
2023

294 MW

Sweden
59 MW

Sweden
21 MW

Denmark
100 MW

Norway
135 MW

Norway
129 MW
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The figures belop summarize the status of our projects
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Producing
Under

construction
Construction

permit

1 2
25

MW

5 9 3 9 5 2

54

2 4 6

21

106 254 8
32 294

18

60

50 422

Project Technology Location
Price 
area

Total 
capacity 

(MW) Ownership

Cloudberry's 
proporionate 

capacity 
(MW)

Cloudberry's 
estimated 

production 
(GWh) Status 

Finnesetbekken Hydro Norway NO-5 1 100% 1 3 Producing

Røyrmyra Wind Norway NO-2 2 100% 2 8 Producing

Forte (5 assets, NO-2) Hydro Norway NO-2 26 34% 8 29 Producing

Forte (4 assets, NO-3) Hydro Norway NO-3 19 34% 6 21 Producing

Forte (6 assets, NO-5) Hydro Norway NO-5 33 34% 11 37 Producing

Selselva Hydro Norway NO-3 5 100% 5 20 Producing

Nessakraft Hydro Norway NO-5 9 100% 9 34 Producing

Bjørgelva Hydro Norway NO-4 3 100% 3 7 Producing

Usma Hydro Norway NO-3 9 100% 9 26 Producing

Åmotfoss Hydro Norway NO-2 5 100% 5 23 Producing

Tinnkraft Hydro Norway NO-2 2 100% 2 6 Producing

Bøen I & II Hydro Norway NO-2 6 100% 6 18 Producing

Ramsliåna Hydro Norway NO-2 2 100% 2 6 Producing

Skåråna (2 assets) Hydro Norway NO-2 4 100% 4 14 Producing

Odal Vind Wind Norway NO-1 163 33.4 % 54 176 Producing

Hån Wind Sweden NO-1 21 100% 21 74 Producing

Odin portfolio 1 Wind Denmark DK-1 133 80% 106 311 Producing

Total 1 (Producing) 441 254 813

Kvemma Hydro Norway NO-5 8 100% 8 20 Const/Prod. H1 2024

Sundby (Kafjarden) Wind Sweden SE-3 32 100% 32 89 Const/Prod. H1 2024

Total 2 (Producing + under constr.) 481 294 922

Munkhyttan Wind Sweden SE-3 18 100% 18 60 Final procurement

Duvhalllen Wind Sweden SE-3 60 100% 60 165 Constr. permit

Stenkalles (Vanern) Offshore Sweden SE-3 100 50% 50 164 Constr. permit

Total 3 (Producing + const. + permit) 659 422 1311

1	 Odin portfolio.  SPA signed.  Closing expected Q2 2023.  85 MW is unconditional.  Production mainly in DK-1 (93%).
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“The increased production 
of renewable energy in 
Cloudberry in 2022 has 

doubled our contribution to the 
decarbonization of Europe.”
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Key Performance Measures

2022 2021

Financials
Consolidated FY

Revenue 217m 41m

EBITDA 151m -32m

	Cash, year-end 1 538m 1 115m

Interest bearing debt, year-end 339m 304m

	Total equity, year-end 3 794m 2 636m

Proportionate FY Revenue 646m 83m

EBITDA 381m -25m

Sustainability 1

Proportionate

CO2 reduction EU-27 electricity mix 59 496 tons 
CO2 eq.

29 133  tons 
CO2 eq

Direct and indirect emissions 10 727  tons 
CO2 eq.

25 827 tons  
CO2 eq.

Production
Proportionate

Production 268 GWh 117 GWh

In operation year-end 148 MW 58 MW

Development
Proportionate

	Construction permits year-end 128 MW 160 MW

Backlog year-end  2 420 MW 370 MW

1	 CO2 reduction and the direct and indirect GHG emissions have been adjusted for previous years. Go to the Sustainability section for details.
2	 Backlog not including subsequent events which represents an additional 60 MW.
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Market and power prices

While 2021 was a special year in the power markets, 2022 showed 
even greater volatility. The war in Ukraine tested the European energy 
supply to its limits, and has caused significant, long-term changes to 
the European energy markets. The demand for more power in Europe 
is expected to increase going forward, and there is clear push towards 
renewables following EU initiatives. Overall, the outlook caused by the 
energy transition and the market conditions is expected to serve as a 
foundation for high power prices going forward. 

During 2022, Europe and the Nordics, saw record 
high power prices, primarily driven by soaring gas 
prices. With a near complete cut-off of gas import 
from Russia, gas prices skyrocketed to unprece-
dented levels, pushing power prices to the limits 
set by the markets. As the year drew to a close, the 
immediate danger of a real shortfall of gas in Europe 
during the winter fell, and prices dropped signifi-
cantly, albeit from exceptional levels. However short- 
to medium term prices are still, historically, very high.

The uncertainty related to the energy crisis, and 
the associated volatility in the markets, affected 
the Power Purchase Agreements (“PPA”) market 
negatively, and the volumes of PPAs in the Nordics 
dropped. This is both due to soaring prices, and 
the stress put on the financial power market. This 
stress is based on, amongst others, a significantly 
higher associated cost of hedging due to the rise 
of guarantees needed for trades. A rebound for the 
PPA market during 2023 is thus expected, especially 
in a scenario where prices stabilize.

For the year 2022, the Nordic System price averaged 
at 136 euro/MWh, the highest ever recorded price. 
The previous record was set in 2021, at 62 euro/MWh. 
For NO1 and NO5, the average price for 2022 ended 
at approximately 192 euro/MWh, and NO2 ended at 
211 euro/MWh. However, the internal price difference 
in Norway were at record levels: In Northern Norway, 
the average price ended at 24 euro/MWh. Similarly, 
prices in Southern Sweden, SE4, (152 euro/MWh) 
were above twice the average price in Northern 

Sweden, SE1, (59 euro/MWh) for the year. We expect 
the internal price differences to remain, although at 
relatively lower levels in the medium to short term. At 
long term, additional grid development (such as the 
upgrade of the 300 kV Aurland-Sogndal line to 420 
kV), is expected to reduce the bottleneck between 
the Norwegian price areas NO3 and NO5. 

Going forward, we expect the supply crunch caused 
by the war to keep the prices higher than normal in 
especially NO1, NO2, NO5, DK1, DK2, SE3 and SE4 in 
2023. More-than-usual rain during the spring/sum-
mer/autumn seasons might change the outlook for 
Norway. However, the underlying shortage of energy 
in Europe will affect European energy markets for 
years to come.

In Norway a significant growth in new demand is 
expected  mainly related to emerging electrifica-
tion projects and power intensive industries. This 
combined with a limited growth in power production 
capabilities moves the country’s expected power 
balance towards negative territory. This may add 
further pressure on Norwegian, and thus Nordic, 
power prices. Please see chart on the next page for 
the expected power balance in Norway from Statnett. 

During 2022, more than 95% of Cloudberry’s power 
production was sold at spot prices. We remain 
positive to elevated Nordic power prices especially 
in the southern price areas in Sweden (SE3+4) and 
Norway (NO1+2+5). 
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Executive Management

Anders J. Lenborg    Chief Executive Officer 

Anders is the founder of Cloudberry. He is responsible for managing the 
company’s overall operations,  the development and execution of the long-
term strategies. Anders is an experienced lawyer within the infrastructure 
and renewable energy section in the Nordics. Anders was previously Partner 
and Head of the Energy Sector Group at DLA Piper Norway. He holds a law 
degree from the University of Oslo and a postgraduate diploma from King’s 
College in London.

Christian A. Helland    Chief Value Officer 

As CVO, Christian is responsible for the finances of the company. Since 
2008, he has been a lead investor for renewable projects in the Nordics 
and Germany. He has 13 years of experience in the investment and finance 
industries. He was previously Partner and Portfolio Manager at Pareto Asset 
Management. Christian holds a Master’s degree in Systems Engineering 
from Cornell University, a Master’s degree in Business Economics from 
University of California and a Bachelor of Science degree in Mechanical 
Engineering from University of California.

Ingrid Bjørdal 
Chief Compliance and Organizational Officer

Ingrid started in Cloudberry in  2022 and is responsible for compliance, ESG, 
organisation and HR in the Group. Ingrid has 20 years of experience from 
sustainability, HSE, compliance, HR and organisational development from 
the recycling and circular economy industry. She was SVP of Sustainability 
and Compliance  in the Norsk Gjenvinning Group and has held the position 
as General Manager of two subsidiaries in the Group. She holds a Master 
of Science from King’s College in London and an Executive MBA from BI 
Norwegian Business School. 
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Charlotte Bergquist    Chief Development Officer 

Charlotte is from 2022 responsible for the Development segment with a 
special emphasis on Cloudberry’s shallow-water and offshore portfolio. 
She is a former developer for wpd Offshore, Vice Chair of the Board at 
the Swedish TSO, Svenska Kraftnet, Chairperson of Power Circle and the 
Founder of Kraftkvinnorna. Charlotte has a Master of Business Admin. from 
Gothenburg School of Economics and Commercial Law.

Stig J. Østebrøt    Chief Technology Officer

Stig has been the CEO of the Captiva Group for the last 10 years and 
responsible for Cloudberry’s operations segment from 2022.  He is the 
Chairperson of Kraftanmelding, Chairperson of Fjord Energi and a former 
analyst from EY. Stig has an Executive MBA from Norwegian School of 
Economics and a Master’s degree from BI Norwegian Business School.   

Jon Gunnar Solli    Chief Operating Officer 

Jon Gunnar is responsible for day-to-day operations of the Cloudberry 
portfolio. He is a former CFO and investment manager with more than 20 
years of experience in the asset management industry. Jon Gunnar was 
previously a CFO/CIO at OVF, Nordea Asset Management, SpareBank 1 
Livsforsikring and Storebrand. He holds a Master’s degree in Accounting 
& Auditing from Norwegian School of Economics (NHH) and is a state 
authorized Public Accountant.
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Board of Directors

Frank J. Berg    Chair of the Board

Frank J. Berg has more than 30 years of experience in the energy and utility industry 
including having spent the last 16 years in the Nordic renewables market. He was 
previously a partner at Arthur Andersen, and the law firm Selmer, with a particular 
focus on renewables, infrastructure and sustainability. Frank serves as chairman and 
board member of a number of companies, including Salten Kraftsamband AS and 
Nordic Wind Power AS. Frank is Chair of the Board and head of the Audit Committee  
in Cloudberry. Frank holds a Master’s degree in Accounting & Auditing from the 
Norwegian School of Economics (NHH) and a PED from IMD, Lausanne. Frank J. Berg  
is a Norwegian citizen

Benedicte H. Fossum    Board member

Benedicte H. Fossum currently chairs the board of Smartfish AS and is a board 
member of Alliero AS, Salmo Trace AS and family offices. As one of the founders of 
Pharmaq AS, she has managerial experience in R&D, M&A, and regulatory affairs from 
the Norwegian Medicines Agency. She maintains a special interest in sustainability, 
combining biological and economical perspectives. Benedicte is a member of the 
ESG Committee in Cloudberry. Benedicte is a veterinarian from the Norwegian 
University of Life Sciences. Benedicte H. Fossum is a Norwegian citizen.

Petter W. Borg    Board member

Petter W. Borg has more than 35 years of experience in investment banking and 
asset management. He is the former CEO of Pareto Asset Management, a position 
he held for 18 years. Petter is the chairperson of Attivo Eiendom, and House of 
Maverix. In addition, he is a member of the board of directors of Ferd Holding, 
Grieg Investor, Fearnley Asset Management and Nordic Aquafarms. Petter is head 
of the Compensation Committee andhead of the ESG Committee in Cloudberry. 
Petter holds a degree in Economics from Handelsakademiet. Petter W. Borg is a 
Norwegian citizen.

Liv Lønnum    Board member

Liv Lønnum is currently working as a political adviser to the Progressive Party’s 
parliamentary group at Stortinget. Part of her responsibility includes energy 
policy development, with a focus on sustainability. She has been State Secretary/
Deputy Minister at the Ministry of Petroleum and Energy and has considerable 
experience from both business and politics in Norway. She has previously worked at 
Storebrand ASA, Compass Group and Hammer & Hanborg. Liv is a member of the 
Compensation Committee in Cloudberry. Liv holds a Bachelor’s degree in Economic 
and Administration from the Norwegian School of Management and York University 
in Toronto, Canada. Liv Lønnum is a Norwegian citizen.
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Nicolai Nordstrand    Board member

Nicolai Nordstrand is the CEO of Havfonn AS, the investment company of the 
Bergesen family.  He has been with Havfonn for eight years as analyst and 
investment director.  Before joining Havfonn, Nicolai worked more than 10 years with 
corporate finance in PwC in Oslo and London and Sparebank 1 Markets. Nordstrand 
holds a Master of Science in Financial Economics from BI Norwegian Business School. 
Nicolai Nordstrand is a Norwegian citizen.

Stefanie Witte    Board member

Stefanie Witte is a Director with responsibility for Google’s operating system in the 
German speaking countries, the Nordics and Poland. Over the last eleven years she 
has had leading positions in Google, like Head of Marketing for Android, Google’s 
own hardware and advertising products. Witte worked previously six years in leading 
positions at Novartis after three years as a consultant in McKinsey. Stefanie Witte 
is represented at the board of several tech companies in Norway and Germany. At 
Cloudberry, she is also a member of the Compensation Committee. She holds a M.A 
HSG Finance, Accounting and Controlling from the University of St. Gallen. Stefanie 
Witte is a German citizen.

Henrik Joelsson    Board member

Henrik Joelsson heads his own consultancy firm and has formerly worked 13 years as 
an Investment Director at the listed investment firm Ratos AB. Furthermore, Joelsson 
has 9 years of experience as a strategic consultant at Bain & Company. Joelsson 
has broad board experience and has been an active investor, board member and 
consultant within the energy sector, with a specific focus on renewables. He is 
currently a board member of Goava Sales Intelligence AB. Joelsson holds a Master 
of Science in Business Administration and Economics from Stockholm School of 
Economics and a MBA from INSEAD in France. Henrik Joelsson is a Swedish citizen.
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Cloudberry owns, develops and operates hydropower plants and 
wind farms in the Nordics. Over the recent years Cloudberry has 
built a scalable publicly available Nordic renewable platform for 
hydro and wind power assets. This is further cemented by the signed 
share purchase agreement in February 2023 for the Odin portfolio, 
establishing Denmark as the third Nordic area. This will immediately 
increase Cloudberry’s production capacity with up to 70% (further 
described under subsequent events). The Cloudberry platform is 
well positioned for profitable growth going forward in the Nordic 
market. Cloudberry is backed by strong owners and an experienced 
management team, powering the transition towards a sustainable 
future by providing clean and renewable energy. 

Cloudberry`s business model and strategy

The development segment consists of green-field 
projects both onshore and off-shore. Managed by 
our experienced team with a solid track record of 
organic, in-house development of wind and hydro-
power assets. The production segment is the owner 
of the operating assets, with power sold in the spot 
market (NordPool) and under fixed price Power 
Purchase Agreements (PPAs). Cloudberry cultivates 
the portfolio to ensure a diversification and balance 
of risk, returns, assets and geographical area. The 
Operations segment delivers services such as asset 
management of hydro and wind assets, including 
digital solutions. The services are created on a 
scalable operating platform, delivered both internally 
to Cloudberry’s assets, as well to third parties. 

Cloudberry considers material financial, legal, ESG 
and technical related factors when making strategic 
decisions. The company is building a robust business 
and uses competitive financing to deliver sustaina-
ble and profitable long-term growth.

Cloudberry operates in a market with unique char-
acteristics when it comes to renewables. The hydro 
and the wind resources in the Nordics are among 
the best in the world. The company uses its local 
presence and optimization of stakeholder alignment 
to grow through greenfield developments and 
acquisitions. 

Cloudberry believes in being local, focused and 
agile. The long-term growth strategy rests upon 
its ability to create value for all stakeholders, using 
the best possible technology available, being cost 
efficient, and enhancing sustainable operations. 

Board of Directors report
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Operating our business  
in a sustainable way  

Sustainability is at the very core of Cloudberry`s 
business and is crucial for the company`s long-term 
achievements and value creation. The company 
wants to be a driver of a positive change and we are 
committed to powering the transition to a sustaina-
ble future by providing renewable energy today and 
for future generations. Cloudberry creates value in 
the communities in which we operate, together with 
and for our employees, customers, business part-
ners, and shareholders. Developing new renewable 
assets is essential to reduce the global greenhouse 
gas (GHG) emissions, and we believe that a system-
atic approach towards incorporating sustainability in 
the value chain is imperative to fulfilling our purpose. 

The development and production of renewable 
energy contributes to the transition to green energy, 
achieving climate targets, and the UN Sustainable 
Development Goals. Businesses are shifting their 
strategies towards net-zero carbon emissions 
targets and Cloudberry sees an increased demand 
for renewable energy supply.

Dialogue and input from all stakeholders are of high 
importance to Cloudberry. As the company has 
grown significantly in 2022 through the acquisition of 
60% of the Captiva Group (the Operations segment) 
and by organic growth, we saw the necessity of fur-
ther developing and strengthening our sustainability 
strategy. Our materiality analysis and stakeholder 
dialogue process resulted in stronger sustainability 
ambitions, and updated material environmental, 
social and governance topics. With this Cloudberry 
has set our sustainability targets and key perfor-
mance indicators (KPIs) for the short and longer 
term, which we have described in more detail in this 
year’s sustainability report. 

Sustainability is a rapidly developing field, and ensur-
ing sustainable business operations is an ongoing 
process. We follow new developments closely to 
ensure we keep up with the changing landscape 
and to ensure that our sustainability strategy and 
reporting are adapted to growth and changes in 
the company and in line with future regulations. 
As a response to it, Cloudberry decided in 2022 
to look to the European Sustainability Reporting 

Standards (ESRS) requirements, set by the Corporate 
Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD), rather 
than the World Economic Forum (WEF) Stakeholder 
Capitalism reporting framework. The ESRS stand-
ards are based on the Environment, Social, and 
Governance (ESG) structure.

We know that there is always more work to do. We 
are currently working on developing more sustain-
ability KPIs and targets and plan to commit to the 
Science Based Targets initiative (SBTi) in the future. 
Additionally, we will conduct a CSRD gap analysis in 
2023 to prepare for the coming requirements as part 
of our efforts towards continuous improvement.

Environment
Renewable energy is essential to reducing the 
worlds greenhouse gas emissions, stopping cli-
mate change, and protecting the environment. At 
Cloudberry, concern for the environment and climate 
change are at the center of everything we do. Our 
main ambition is powering the transition to renew-
able energy, while aiming to have a net positive 
impact on climate and nature. With the development 
and production of renewable energy, Cloudberry 
makes a positive contribution to the energy transi-
tion. Cloudberry’s proportionate power production in 
2022 totalled 268 GWh (117 GWh in 2021). The avoided 
emissions based on the baseline emissions from the 
European electricity mix (EU-27 electricity mix, IEA 
2022) is equivalent to 59,496 tCO2e (29,133 tCO2e in 
2021). However, developing and constructing renew-
able energy have a negative impact on the planet 
as well. It is of the utmost importance to Cloudberry 
to reduce our environmental footprint as much as 
possible. Controlling our greenhouse gas (GHG) 
emissions in the value chain is of high importance to 
us, and therefore we identified more significant GHG 
emissions from the categories in scope 3 during 
2022. The total GHG emissions reported in 2022 is 
10,727 tCO2e (25,827 tCO2e in 2021) across scopes 1, 
2, and 3. CO2 reduction and the direct and indirect 
GHG emissions have been adjusted for previous 
years. Go to the Sustainability section for details. 
From 2023 we will report our carbon emissions on a 
quarterly basis. 

Cloudberry will create a roadmap to reach net-zero 
from our emissions by no later than 2040, with the 
aim of using this process to identify pathways to 
reach net-zero even earlier.
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Cloudberry has conducted thorough assessments 
of our producing assets’ alignment to the criteria of 
the EU Taxonomy, and the internal analysis found 
that all wind and hydropower plants are aligned. In 
2022 Cloudberry engaged a third-party, Det Norske 
Veritas (DNV), to perform a detailed assessment 
to evaluate our alignment to the criteria of the EU 
Taxonomy. DNV stated all of Cloudberry’s hydro-
power plants to be aligned to the criteria of the EU 
Taxonomy, and a verification statement has been 
issued for each of the hydropower plants. The 
third-party verification for the wind power plants is 
ongoing and will be reported on during 2023.

Cloudberry has aligned further with the Task Force 
on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) 
recommendations, focusing on developing more 
mature and holistic reporting. We updated our 
climate-related financial risks and opportunities 
related to our growth and expansion during 2022. This 
was further used to formulate the most material risks 
for Cloudberry, which the scenario analysis is based 
upon. In the sustainability section in this report there is 
a short summary of our work with the climate related 
risks and opportunities. A detailed TCFD report and 
the scenario analysis is published on our website. 

During 2022 we have strengthened our work with 
environmental topics, where climate change and 
energy transition, biodiversity and nature impact, 
and circular use of resources and materials are the 
main topics. Minimizing environmental and nature 
impact in our development and operating projects 
are of high importance to us. We are continuously 
working on developing measurement and KPIs on 
how to minimize nature impact on our sites and will 
continue to work on relevant measurements going 
forward and implement the framework for Taskforce 
on Nature-related Financial Disclosures (TNFD).

Social
Providing renewable energy enables society’s 
essential transition to green energy, and we seek 
to do this in a sustainable and responsible man-
ner. Specifically, Cloudberry must act responsibly 
towards our employees and society at large, seek to 
be a preferred employer and partner in the renew-
able energy industry and create local engagement 
and value where we operate. 

The Board of Directors considers the working environ-
ment to be healthy and productive. In 2022 there were 

no material health and safety incidents – and the 
organization’s rate of absence due to illness was 1.83% 
(1.06% in 2021). Of the recordable work-related injuries, 
none were classified as serious injuries. However, two 
near misses were reported where a rock rolled down 
a slope at a construction site, and a truck slid off a 
construction road and into a shallow ditch.

Health, Safety and Environment (HSE) is addressed in 
the Supplier Code of Conduct to safeguard a mutual 
commitment between Cloudberry and its suppliers and 
contractors, and training and awareness are required 
in our agreements with contractors. In 2022 Cloudberry 
continued to work with HSE concerns throughout the 
supply chain, and the Supplier Code of Conduct is 
implemented in all our procurement phases.

In the Group, total FTE per year end was 62 1, of this 
15 were female employees. Fostering diversity, equity, 
and inclusion (DEI) in the organization is of high 
importance for Cloudberry. In 2022, Cloudberry con-
ducted an employee engagement survey focusing 
on HSE, compliance, work life balance and DEI in the 
workplace. The results from the survey gave a DEI 
index of 5.2 (6 is maximum score), which is based on 
a bundle of responses to five questions. This result 
constitutes the baseline for measures and targets 
within DEI and employee engagement. Actions to 
ensure progress and continuous improvement have 
been identified and are under implementation. 
Cloudberry will conduct smaller surveys in addition to 
the annual employee engagement survey to meas-
ure progress and discuss results in focus groups 
during 2023. Cloudberry has also set targets related 
to gender balance in the company, which are 
described in the Sustainability section in this report. 

Additionally, Cloudberry takes its impact on local 
communities very seriously and strives to maintain 
ongoing, transparent dialogue with stakeholders. We 
hold meetings in local communities on each devel-
opment project to assess local needs, and we plan 
our work accordingly. Cloudberry opened two new 
offices during 2022 which are located nearby our 
projects in Sweden. We also hired local employees 
and engage local businesses wherever possible. 
This contributes to local economic growth and value 
creation. Going forward we aim to develop appropri-
ate KPIs to measure our local impact and establish 
goals, in parallel with continuing our work with local 
communities and stakeholders.

1	 The sustainability report covers employees and companies where the Group has more than 50% proportionate ownership, ie. 42 employees. 
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Governance
Responsible and good governance is the basis 
for a healthy business, and it is our ambition at 
Cloudberry to always ensure solid governance 
internally and in our value chain. The company 
adheres to recognized governance standards and 
shall comply with the Norwegian Code of Practice 
for Corporate Governance of October 2021, issued 
by the Norwegian Corporate Governance Board 
(NUES). This includes having principles for disclo-
sure and transparency in Cloudberry`s business to 
provide shareholders and stakeholders with precise 
and accurate information concerning all aspects 
regarding Cloudberry.

Incorporating sustainability focus on our day-to-day 
business is a continuous process in the business 
units and in Cloudberry’s entire value chain. The 
ESG committee ensures the alignment with the 
company`s sustainability strategy and assesses the 
administration’s work and implementation of the ESG 
strategy in the company`s overall strategy. In 2022, 
the committee held eight meetings, a doubling from 
2021, and the Chief Compliance and Organization 
Officer became a member of the committee, along-
side the Chief Sustainability Officer and the two 
board members. Furthermore, to secure the inte-
gration of ESG ambitions and topics in all business 
units in the company, Cloudberry established an 
ESG project group early in 2022. The group consists 
of employees from different segments and areas of 
responsibility that actively work to improve methods 
and internal routines for ESG compliance.  

In the Supplier Code of Conduct we address 
Cloudberry`s ethical standards towards our suppli-
ers. We expect our suppliers and partners to uphold 
these standards, and that their policies, statements, 
and commitments are enforced in their own oper-
ations, and with their sub-suppliers. The Supplier 
Code of Conduct is implemented in procurement 
phases and is reviewed annually by the organization. 

Cloudberry has integrated due diligence evaluations 
of environmental, social, and governance topics in all 
operational and investment decisions. In tender pro-
cesses Cloudberry implemented a supplier declara-
tion form which is used as a basis for pre-screening 
of suppliers of products and services to Cloudberry. 
The declaration form reflects regulatory require-
ments, quality, sustainability topics and HSE, and is 

included in an overall assessment when choosing 
a supplier. The procedure was implemented during 
2022, and we will work to expand this further. In 
accordance with the Norwegian Transparency Act, 
we have incorporated human rights due diligence 
aligned with the OECD guidelines for Multinational 
Enterprises and the United Nations Guiding 
Principles for Business and Human Rights. A report 
on the due diligence assessment will be published 
by 30 June 2023, in accordance with deadlines 
outlined in The Norwegian Transparency Act.

Cloudberry conducts its business in a highly ethical 
manner with integrity, dignity, and respect towards 
all its surroundings. The company’s Code of Conduct 
is the basis for how the company acts and performs 
its business. All new employees are introduced to the 
Code of Conduct as an integral part of the onboard-
ing, and all personnel are followed up with training 
and awareness. The Code of Conduct is revised and 
audited by the Board of Directors annually.  

An important part of good governance is being 
transparent and proactive regarding any incidents 
or irregularities that may occur. Cloudberry wants 
to be made aware of any such irregularities or other 
concerns regarding the organization and its busi-
ness and encourages a speak-up culture among its 
employees. To notify misconduct observed with the 
Group, an independent and anonymous reporting 
channel is abailable on our website. There were no 
whistleblowing reports and no instances or suspicion 
of corruption or fraud raised during 2022.

Cloudberry provides details of its sustainability 
work in its Annual Report and specifically in the 
sustainability and corporate governance sections. 
Cloudberry’s reporting requirements under section 
3-3 a and c of the Norwegian Accounting Act are as 
such addressed in this section.

Financial Performance

Financial summary 
In 2022 Cloudberry has grown significantly. The pro-
portionate production more than doubled compared 
to 2021, while the consolidated revenues increased 
~400%, on the back of a 50% increase in the balance 
sheet. The group has a strong financial position and 
is fully financed for ~1TWh in run-rate production.  
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The year started with the completion of the acqui-
sition of Captiva, establishing the fourth business 
segment Operations to support and develop the 
remaining Cloudberry segments. The acquisition 
enabled all Cloudberry assets to be manged 
inhouse. Further, Captiva strengthened Cloudberry’s 
capabilities within development of renewable assets, 
especially within hydro power. 

The Production portfolio grew during 2022 after 
closing several acquisitions. In addition, both power 
production and revenue were continuously ramped 
up as the wind assets Odal and Hån came into full 
operation. By year end the production portfolio, 
including assets under construction, consisted of 
28 hydropower assets and 51 wind turbines (in four 
projects), wholly or partially owned.  

The Development segment achieved several mile-
stones through the fiscal year. Most importantly Hån 
was finalized on time and on budgets and started in 
November to generate revenues through its com-
missioning period. Hån was the first wind farm in 
the portfolio that was overseen by Cloudberry from 
early-stage development through construction. The 
project was in Q3 2022 sold to the Production seg-
ment. Further, the Development segment secured 
two new projects: Sundby Vindpark (Kafjärden) 
and Munkhyttan, and in December Cloudberry 
took final investment decision on Sundby where 
Cloudberry plans to install 32.4 MW. The project is 

expected to have first power by the end of 2023. In 
addition, the development segment farmed-down 
the shallow-water project Stenkalles, bringing in 
Hafslund as a 50% strategic partner. Hafslund has 
an experienced organization, strong balance sheet 
and operational know-how which is expected to help 
improve the project economics and reduce risk.    

The corporate segment had an active year in 2022. 
Among other activities, In September Cloudberry 
raised  NOK 800 million through a private placement, 
and published an updated Prospectus, which was 
approved by the Financial Supervisory Authority of 
Norway in December. 

By year-end 2022, the total equity of Cloudberry was 
NOK 3 794m  (NOK 2 636m at the end of 2021).  The 
Group has a robust balance sheet with low debt, 
strong cash position and is fully funded for a portfo-
lio of ~1 TWh. 

Key figures
The below information describes the operations 
of the consolidated Group in 2022, with the corre-
sponding figures for 2021 in brackets. Figures are 
presented in NOK million.

Profit and loss
Profit before tax was NOK 122m (NOK -64m). This 
comprises reported total revenues of NOK 217m  
(NOK 41m) from sale of power related products,  

Financial summary 2022 2021

Operating revenues NOK million 217 41

EBITDA NOK million 151 (32)

Profit for the year NOK million 122 (63)

Total assets NOK million 4 603 3 118

Cash NOK million 1 538 1 115

Net interest bearing debt NOK million (1 200) (811)

Total equity NOK million 3 794 2 636

Equity share % 82% 85%

Producing during the year 1 GWh 268 117

Secured portfolio (Producing and under construction) MW 188 150

Secured portfolio (construction permit) MW 128 160

Secured portfolio (Backlog) MW 420 370

1	 Includes proportionate share of production from associated companies. 
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asset management-, digital- and consultancy ser-
vices and other income. Operating expenses were 
NOK -186m (NOK -89m), share of profit from associ-
ated companies was NOK 120m (NOK 16m), depreci-
ations and amortization were NOK -35m (NOK -10m) 
and net finance items were NOK -6m (NOK -22m).

EBITDA was NOK 151m (NOK -32m), and EBIT was 
NOK 116m (NOK -41m). Profit after tax for the year 
was NOK 122m (NOK -63m).  

Other comprehensive income consists mainly of 
items that may subsequently be reclassified to profit 
and loss and amounts to NOK 101m (NOK -7m). This 
relates to movements of cash flow hedges with tax 
effects and foreign currency translation differences. 

Total comprehensive income was NOK 223m (NOK 
-70m), of which NOK 219m was attributable to 
Cloudberry shareholders, while NOK 3m was attrib-
utable to non-controlling interests. 

The total income of NOK 223m is expected to be 
allocated to retained earnings. 

Cashflow
Cash flow from operating activities for the year was 
NOK 43m (NOK -61m). 

Cash flow from investing activities was NOK -379m 
(NOK -838m).  

Cash flow from financing activities amounted to 
NOK 760m (NOK 1 411m).  

For details, please see the consolidated statement 
of cash flows in the Group consolidated financial 
statements. 

At year-end, cash and cash equivalents were NOK 
1 538m (NOK 1 115m). 

Financial position
Total assets at year-end were NOK 4 603m (NOK 
3 118m). The increase from last year primarily reflects 
acquisitions, business combinations and capital 
raises. Non-current assets totalled NOK 2 821m 
(NOK 1 735m) consisting of investment in producing 
assets and associated companies, while current 
assets were NOK 1 782m (NOK 1 383m), mainly project 
inventory, other current assets and cash, and cash 
equivalents. 

Total equity was NOK 3 794m (NOK 2 636m) at year 
end, corresponding to an equity ratio of 82% (85%). 

Total liabilities were NOK 808m (NOK 482m), with NOK 
283m (NOK 91m) due within 12 months.

Segments
Cloudberry reports its operations in four seg-
ments, Production, Development, Operations and 
Corporate. Operations was established with the 
acquisition of Captiva in January 2022.

Production
Cloudberry Production owns long-term yielding 
hydro and wind assets in Norway, Sweden and soon 
Denmark pending Governmental approval of the 
Odin acquisition. Electricity is primarily sold through 
the spot market Nordpool, but also through bilateral 
agreements. Producing assets are entitled to elec-
tricity certificates and guarantees of origin. 

Production, segment 2022 2021

Total revenue NOK million 402 77

EBITDA NOK million 262 43

Production 
(proportionate) 

GWh 268 117

Production capacity 
year-end

MW 148 58

Secured portfolio 
(Producing & under 
construction) 

MW 188 150

Main activities
The focus during 2022 has been on increasing pro-
duction volumes and continuous streamlining and 
improving the operational platform.

Key events over the year:
	· Hån reached commercial operating date and was 

in Q3 sold from the Development to the Production 
segment. By year end Hån was in full production.

	· Odal Vind reached full operation after having 
taken over all turbines through the year. All tur-
bines are operational by year end, except for the 
one turbine that needs to change its gearbox and 
main bearing. Due to long lead time on spare parts 
the gear box and main bearing will be changed 
during summer 2023. This is covered by Siemens 
guarantees.
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	· The acquisitions of the hydropower plants 
Tinnkraft, Ramsliåna and Bøen were all completed 
and are currently in full production

	· A share purchase agreement for Øvre Kvemma 
Kraftverk was entered into. Financial close is 
expected during the first half of 2024 when the 
construction of the power plant is completed and 
tested.

	· The hydropower plants in Skåråna Kraft were con-
nected to the grid in the third quarter of 2022 after 
a delay caused by 3rd party grid owner. The plants 
are by year end in full and stable production

	· The share purchase agreement for Odin Energy 
was entered into subsequent to the balance sheet 
date. Please see subsequent events for more 
information

Power production
Cloudberry’s proportionate power production grew 
from 117 GWh to 268 GWh during the year. Based on 
the current production portfolio, Cloudberry esti-
mates an annual run-rate production of ~500 GWh, 
and up to ~800 GWh per year including the Odin 
portfolio.

Development
Cloudberry Development has a significant onshore 
and offshore development portfolio with renewa-
ble assets in the Nordics. Since inception, eleven 
projects have been fully developed and sold to 
infrastructure investors and European insurance 
companies. Going forward Cloudberry has the 
option to either sell, farm-down or maintain in-house 
projects for long-term cash flow. In 2022, the main 
activities have been focused on growing the port-
folio and moving existing projects in the portfolio 
forward. With the acquisition of Captiva in January 
2022, further resources within hydro development 
and procurement and construction of wind projects 
have joined the Cloudberry team. 

Development, segment 2022 2021

Total revenue NOK million 207 6

EBITDA NOK million 177 (30)

Construction permits MW 128 160

Backlog MW 420 370

Key events over the year:
	· Completion of the Hån project on time and budget 

during the fourth quarter. All turbines were taken 
over from Vestas in December.

	· Cloudberry has taken the final investment deci-
sion on Kafjärden (renamed Sundby Windpark 
AB) and signed a turbine agreement with Vestas. 
Cloudberry plans to install 32.4 MW (9 Vestas tur-
bines with an effect of 3.6 MW each). The project 
was then moved from projects with construction 
permits, into projects under construction.

	· Farm-down on the shallow-water project 
Stenkalles, brining in Hafslund as a 50% strategic 
partner in order to improve the project economics 
and reduce risks.  The project received two-year 
extension during 2022 giving the project team time 
to further optimize the project. 

	· Cloudberry has per year end an exclusive backlog 
of 420 MW (480 MW at the reporting date). The 
company has ongoing dialogue with landowners, 
municipalities and grid companies to clarify oppor-
tunities for new wind power projects. 

	· In 2022 the segment has scaled up both onshore 
and off-shore with projects and new employ-
ees. Charlotte Bergquist is now heading the 
Development segment with an increased focus on 
shallow-water projects.   

	· In addition to the onshore activities, we are actively 
working on shallow water projects in the Baltic Sea. 
It is a long-term goal to have a shallow-water project 
portfolio of > 2,500 MW in the Baltic Sea by 2030. 

Operations
The segment Operations includes the activities 
organized in the Captiva Group. The segment was 
established after completion of the acquisition of 
Captiva in January. Captiva is an asset manager 
and operator of wind and hydro assets in the Nordics 
with more than 15 years of experience in the industry.  
Cloudberry is currently a 60% owner of Captiva with 
the option to purchase 100% of the business by 2025 
(the remaining 40% is owned by the management 
of Captiva). Captiva has organized its business into 
management services and digital solutions. 

Operations, segment 2022 2021

Total revenue NOK million 38 N/A

EBITDA NOK million 4 N/A
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Key events over the year:
	· In September Cloudberry raised in NOK 800 million 

through a private placement and published an 
updated Prospectus which was approved by 
the Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway in 
December. 

	· The share capital has been changed over the 
year in connection primarily to the private place-
ment and settlement of the acquisition of Bøen 
and Captiva. By year end the Company’s new 
share capital was NOK 72,824,976.25, comprising 
291,299,905 shares, each with a par value of NOK 
0.25. Each share carries one vote.

	· New board members. Stefanie Witte, Henrik 
Joelsson and Nicolai Nordstrand were elected into 
the Board of Directors. Morten Bergesen stepped 
out of the Board and will remain head of the 
election committee.

Corporate  
The Corporate segments represents corporate 
centralised functions, operated out of
 the Oslo office. The corporate management aims 
to remain a cost-effective, agile and dynamic team 
that the other segments can build on. By year 
end, there were seven employees in the corporate 
segment. 

Key events over the year:
	· In September Cloudberry raised in NOK 800 million 

through a private placement and published an 
updated Prospectus which was approved by 
the Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway in 
December. 

	· The share capital has been changed over the 
year in connection primarily to the private place-
ment and settlement of the acquisition of Bøen 
and Captiva. By year end the Company’s new 
share capital was NOK 72,824,976.25, comprising 
291,299,905 shares, each with a par value of NOK 
0.25. Each share carries one vote.

	· New board members. Stefanie Witte, Henrik 
Joelsson and Nicolai Nordstrand were elected into 
the Board of Directors. Morten Bergesen stepped 
out of the Board and will remain head of the 
election committee.

 

Cloudberry Corporate, segment 2022 2021

Total revenue NOK million - -

EBITDA NOK million (63) (38)

Risk Management

The Group is exposed to various risks through its 
value chain, including strategic, operational, climate, 
financial and market/external risks. Cloudberry has 
extensive routines and policies in place to actively 
manage risks. In 2022, we updated our risk man-
agement policy and implemented a standardized 
process for risk assessment and risk mitigation in the 
Group. The process included conducting risk work 
shops in all segments, training the management 
team and key personnel in risk management, and 
aligning and calibrating risks across the Group.  The 
key risks are discussed, and policies are reviewed 
and approved by the Audit committee and Board of 
Directors on a regular basis. 

Operational risk
All processes throughout the value chain are 
exposed to operational risk. A key operational risk is 
related to the operating performance of the pro-
ducing assets, another risk relates to the process of 
transitioning development projects from the backlog 
and pipeline stage to finalization. Even though the 
Group has a solid project pipeline, finalizing the 
projects depends on a number of factors such as 
project availability, local authority approvals, envi-
ronmental impact, suppliers, financing, power prices 
and the regulatory framework in the relevant market. 

Operational risks also include health and safety 
hazards especially in our construction processes, 
and risks related to climate, nature and environment. 

Cloudberry manages the risk through close follow-up 
and monitoring of operating assets and developing 
projects. Procedures and guidelines for the seg-
ments are implemented and reviewed regularly and 
include the whole value chain we are part of.  

Market/External/Political risk 
The Group is engaged in the production and sale of 
renewable electrical power. The power industry is 
highly regulated, and regulations may change over 
time. Further, the Group`s activities are subject to the 
laws and regulations applied by the governmental 
authorities in connection with obtaining concessions 
and permits, government guarantees, and other 
obligations regulated by law in each country. The 
proposed changes to the taxation of Norwegian 
renewables in 2022 has further heightened the 
political risk in Norway.
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A number of broader regulatory changes to the 
electricity market, such as changes to integration of 
transmission allocation, changes in the tax regula-
tion, changes to energy trading, potential caps on 
energy prices and transmission charging, are being 
implemented or evaluated across Europe. These 
changes have an impact on the electricity prices 
and the costs of selling electrical power, which may 
reduce the Group’s profitability. Cloudberry empha-
sises the uncertainty these factors have when mak-
ing investment decisions and continuously monitors 
changes in the political landscape and includes this 
in the relevant discussions. 

The Group also has several projects under devel-
opment, which require support from local and/or 
national authorities. Changes in the political land-
scape may imply that certain of the Group’s projects 
under development must be abandoned due to lack 
of political support or regulatory changes which 
result in the projects no longer being expected to 
meet the Group’s minimum profitability requirements.

Financial risk 
Through its business activities, Cloudberry is mainly 
exposed to market risks including power prices, 
interest rate risk, currency risk, credit risk and liquidity 
risk. Financial risk management is based on the 
objective of reducing negative cash flow effects 
and, to a lesser extent, negative accounting effects 
of these risks. Currency and interest rate risks are 
regulated by means of mandates and managed by 
using hedging instruments. During 2022, Cloudberry’s 
power production has increased to a level where 
there are opportunities to evaluate both financial 
power price hedges, and long term PPA’s. 

Cloudberry’s interest rate exposure is related to its 
debt portfolio and managed based on a balance 
between keeping interest cost low over time and 
contributing to stabilise the group’s cash flows. The 
construction of the Group’s projects will normally 
be financed with a combination of equity and debt. 
As a result, any increase of interest rates will lead 
to higher financing costs, which in turn reduces 
the Group’s profitability. The Group is dependent 
on external financing. If the Group is not able to 
obtain required financing on a timely basis and on 
attractive terms, the result could be lost business 
opportunities, shortened lifetime of current assets 
and/or that the Group is forced to realise its interest 
in certain projects.

Fluctuations in exchange rates could affect the 
Group’s cash flow and financial position. The Group 
presents its financial statements in NOK. However, 
power is traded at Nord Pool, where EUR is the trad-
ing currency. The Group is also exposed to SEK and 
EUR through its operations in Sweden and invest-
ments in associated companies, hence the Group 
is exposed to currency risk through fluctuations in 
exchange rates between NOK, SEK and EUR. 

Climate risk
Cloudberry is exposed to climate changes related 
to more extreme weather, primarily driven by 
increasingly warmer climate, wetter and more windy 
weather conditions, or simply changes in normal 
weather conditions in local geographic areas.  

Such climate risks can pose a significant threat 
to humans, wildlife and society as a whole. For 
Cloudberry it can possibly damage producing 
assets, increase costs of maintenance and other 
costs, reduce performance due to change in water-
falls or other disruptions of core activities. 

Cloudberry has assessed its potential climate-re-
lated risks and opportunities in accordance with the 
recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-
related Financial Disclosure (TCFD). The company 
continuously analyses and assesses its climate-re-
lated risk strategy to detect other risks and oppor-
tunities, and to ensure that the company makes the 
right decisions and assessments on how climate 
risks might affect Cloudberry. The climate-related 
risks will be further integrated into overall risk man-
agement structure in Cloudberry. The climate-re-
lated risks are further described in the Sustainability 
Report. 

The Norwegian tax proposal
In September 2022, the Norwegian government 
proposed significant changes to the taxation of 
Norwegian renewables, primarily introducing a 
ground rent tax for onshore wind and a windfall tax 
for wind- and hydropower. Cloudberry has invested a 
significant amount of time on the proposed new tax 
regime to meet with and inform the Government, the 
Ministry of Finance, Ministry of Petroleum and Energy, 
the Parliament, and the public in general of the 
negative consequences it will have for development 
and production of renewable energy in Norway if 
implemented. Our two key messages are that: i) Tax 
implementation cannot be retroactive in principle i.e., 
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the existing wind projects must be exempted from 
the ground rent tax for onshore wind, and ii) for new 
projects it is important the taxation is implemented 
with investment neutrality to ensure continuous 
development of renewable energy in Norway. 
Cloudberry delivered an official hearing on 15 March 
2023, and will continue to work on improving the 
proposal until the final vote in Parliament hopefully 
before summer of 2023.

The war in Ukraine 
On 24 of February 2022 Russia attacked Ukraine 
which started a war that is still ongoing at the time 
of publication in March 2023. The invasion is a terrible 
tragedy for all affected both within and outside 
the Ukraine boarders. Further, the invasion has 
resulted in severe implications on inter alia global 
trade, global markets, energy prices and commodity 
prices. 

During 2022, Europe, and the Nordics, saw record 
high power prices, primarily driven by soaring gas 
prices after European gas imports from Russia 
ended. The intermediate danger of a European gas 
shortage has since been reduced, and power prices 
have dropped significantly, but are still at historically 
high levels. As Cloudberry primarily sells its electricity 
in the spot market, the war’s effect on energy prices 
has, and will continue to have, a significant impact 
on Cloudberry’s revenues. Further, there may be 
implications to global trade, transportation costs 
and/or commodity prices, which may increase the 
cost of Cloudberry’s construction projects.  

It is still highly uncertain how the conflict will evolve 
and how it will continue to have an impact on the 
global economy going forward. Cloudberry contin-
ues to assess the risk related to volatility in energy 
prices and implications of the war in detail going 
forward.

Outlook 

Cloudberry is continuing its profitable growth 
and has become a leading Nordic Independent 
Power Producer (IPP). Please refer to the recently 
announced acquisition of “Odin”, which provides 
diversification into a new attractive market and price 
area DK1. 

We are pleased that Odal Vind and Hån wind farms 
are in full production adding new renewable power 
to our portfolio. New wind power will also affect our 
production profile especially in winter where our 
hydro based portfolio is generally producing on a 
lower level. Further strengthening the production 
profile and power production is the FID on Sundby 
Wind Farm in SE 3 adding another 32MW to our 
portfolio once it is in production at the beginning of 
2024. 

We have an increased focus on growing our devel-
opment backlog with new hydro and wind projects. 
We are happy to see new projects in Sweden com-
ing into the development portfolio. On the offshore 
side we continue our work on our latest early-stage 
project Simpevarp (800MW) in Sweden and also 
other near shore projects in the Swedish sector. 

On the international arena EU is focusing on speed-
ing up the energy transition through Fitfor55 and 
RePowerEU at the same time as they are looking at 
a redesign of the energy market. We are following 
the work closely and hope the outcome will be pos-
itive for the development of new renewable power 
throughout the EU leading to reduced and more 
stable energy prices for the consumers and industry. 

The Nordic power market continues to look strong 
with high spot prices and high forward prices 
compared to historical levels for all our relevant price 
areas. With the ongoing energy transition and the 
increased focus on security of supply the power 
prices are expected to remain strong.

Corporate Governance 

The Board of Directors has a strong commitment to 
maintain a high standard of corporate governance. 
This ensures trust, and effectively and continuously 
improve the communication between manage-
ment, the Board of Directors, shareholders, and 
other stakeholders. Cloudberry complies with the 
Norwegian Code of Practice (NUES). 

The Annual Report includes a statement on 
Cloudberry`s corporate governance principles and 
practices, including corporate audit, internal control 
of financial reporting and the work of the Board of 
Directors.
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Going concern

According to Section 3-3 of the Norwegian 
Accounting Act, the Board of Directors confirms 
that the Financial Statements have been prepared 
under the assumption that the Cloudberry Group 
is a going concern, and that this assumption 
was appropriate at the date of approval of the 
Financial Statements. The consolidated Financial 
Statements for the Group include the operations 
of Cloudberry Clean Energy ASA, its subsidiaries 

fully consolidated and associated companies, 
which are equity accounted. The Group reports its 
Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU) and 
the interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretation 
Committee (IFRSIC) applicable to companies report-
ing under IFRS and also complies with IFRS as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB). The consolidated accounts are prepared with 
Norwegian Kroner (NOK) as the reporting currency. 

Oslo, 23 March 2023

The Board of Directors of Cloudberry Clean Energy ASA

Frank J. Berg 
Chair of the Board

Petter W. Borg 
Board member

Benedicte Fossum 
Board member

Liv Lønnum 
Board member

Henrik Joelsson 
Board member

Nicolai Nordstrand 
Board member

Stefanie Witte 
Board member

Anders J. Lenborg 
CEO
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What we do and why we do it

Climate change is a global crisis, and the world is already beginning 
to see its effects in the changing weather patterns and increasing 
frequency and severity of floods, droughts, and other extreme 
weather events. At the same time, these issues are compounded  
by nature degradation.

To slow down or stop the climate change and  
mitigate its impacts, the society must reduce its 
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and nature 
impact. This requires a significant reduction in the 
use of fossil and carbon-intensive energy, at the 
same time as global energy demand is increasing. 
This must be achieved through the development 
of renewable energy. We have high ambitions on 
increasing our production of renewable energy  
in the years to come and thus contribute to the 
much-needed globally decarbonization.

At Cloudberry, we are powering the transition to 
a sustainable future by developing and providing 
renewable energy today and for future genera-
tions. We create value in the communities in which 
we work, together with and for our employees, 

customers, business partners, and shareholders. 
Nevertheless, the positive effects we create, 
Cloudberry’s development and construction of 
renewable energy plants generates GHG emissions 
and impacts the surrounding environment and 
society at large in a multitude of ways. 

We aim to be transparent about all our impacts  
– good and bad. In the following sustainability report 
we describe how Cloudberry contributes to the shift 
to the renewable energy transition, the impacts 
we have on the climate, nature, and society, and 
how we proactively work to mitigate our negative 
impacts. We ensure that concern for environment, 
society and sustainability is at the core of everything 
we do. 
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ESG Ambitions. Material Topics and Targets

Environmental Social Governance

Sustainability 
ambitions

To power the transition to 
renewable energy aiming 
to be climate and nature 
positive

To act responsibly towards 
our employees and 
society, being a preferred 
employer and partner

To ensure solid 
governance internally 
and in our value chain  
at all times 

Material 
topics

Climate change and energy 
transition

Nature impact & biodiversity

Circular use of resources and 
materials

Engagement, health and 
safety 

Diversity and equal 
opportunities

Local community impact

Responsible business 
conduct

Responsible value chain

Targets Net zero by 2040

Minimize and repair adverse 
nature impact

Zero injuries 

Attract and retain a diverse 
and competent workforce

Zero compliance breach 
internally and in the value 
chain

Contribution to 
SDG targets
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Introduction

Everything we do at Cloudberry is based on our desire to make a  
positive impact for all our stakeholders while contributing to society’s 
transition to renewable energy. Our licence to operate is closely linked 
to our ability to act in a sustainable way and to develop and provide 
renewable energy for current and future generations. 

In Cloudberry a long-term perspective colours 
everything we do. We want to be a driver for positive 
change.  Developing new renewable assets is essen-
tial to reducing global CO2 emissions. We realise, 
however, that our growth does not come without 
environmental and social impact. Construction and 
production have an impact on biodiversity, land use 
and individuals’ interests. Cloudberry is conscious of 
these risks and seeks to understand and evaluate all 
aspects. We must carry out our work in a sustainable 
manner, and we recognize the need to continuously 
develop our approach to ensure sustainability 
remains a key aspect in all our processes. We know 
that the choices we make along the way matter, 
and conduct our business with concern for our 
impact on environmental, social, and governmental 

(ESG) aspects at all times. We work systematically 
towards our goal to be net zero across the value 
chain no later than 2040.

It is important to our various stakeholders that we 
manage our business according to the strongest 
ESG principles. We expect nothing less of ourselves 
and our partners. Thus, we continually improve our 
sustainability efforts and are transparent about 
what we have done and what we still need to work 
on. This report addresses what we have done in 
2022, our ongoing sustainability processes, and the 
topics we plan to increase our focus on in the future.

Cloudberry grew significantly in 2022 through 
the acquisition of 60% of the Captiva Group (the 



33Cloudberry Annual report 2022

Sustainability report

Our Values

Be Supportive
We accept everyone’s worth and dignity, respect and help each other. We encourage 
supportiveness and value diversity. We welcome different opinions, but always pull in 
the same direction towards Cloudberry’s common goals.

Be Committed
We work together with passion and dedication to reach our purpose and goals today 
and for the next generation. We engage in our work and emphasize the value of 
collaboration and teamwork. We operate with a long-term perspective, and sustainability 
is integrated in everything we do.

Be Bold
We believe that our mission to accelerate the transition to renewable energy requires 
us to be bold, go in new directions, think innovatively and differently, and think big  
– but always act responsibly. 

Be Exceptional
We know that to succeed we must always perform our best. Being exceptional means 
valuing diversity to strengthen our ability for problem solving and value creation. We set 
our standards high and ensure industry-leading competence and foster a culture that 
values the synergies of cooperation. 

Operations segment) and by organic growth. This 
growth, along with developments within the field of 
sustainability, necessitated an update and strength-
ening of our sustainability strategy. During 2022, we 
revised the material topics, a process which included 
updating our external stakeholder dialogue. The 
stakeholder meetings are treasured and of high 
importance to the company.

As a result of these processes, during 2022 we have 
updated our ESG material topics, and set our sus-
tainability ambitions, targets, and key performance 
indicators (KPIs). 

Over the past year we have constantly improved our 
formal efforts within social sustainability and sus-
tainable governance. We conducted a due diligence 

assessment in accordance with the requirements of 
the Transparency Act to secure fundamental human 
rights and decent working conditions in our entire 
supply chain. The work included, among other meas-
ures, implementing pre-screening for all potential 
suppliers. Furthermore, we conducted an employee 
engagement survey focusing on HMS, compliance, 
work life balance and diversity, equity, and inclusion 
(DEI) in the organization. This will be an annual 
survey, in addition to introducing smaller employee 
surveys on compliance and employee well-being on 
a more frequent level.  As Cloudberry has grown, we 
arranged a workshop for all employees with the pur-
pose of further developing our value-based culture. 
This resulted in revitalised values:  
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About the report 
Reporting standards
Sustainability is a rapidly evolving field, with evolving 
reporting standards. When we wrote our first sus-
tainability report in 2020, we chose to use the World 
Economic Forum (WEF) Stakeholder Capitalism 
reporting framework. This year we have decided to 
move away from the WEF structure in favor of an 
Environment, Social, and Governance (ESG) structure. 
We make this change because the ESG structure 
is becoming more standard in sustainability report-
ing, and to prepare for the European Sustainability 
Reporting Standards (ESRS) required by the 
Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD). 
These standards have been detailed by the European 
Financial Reporting Advisory Group (EFRAG) and are 
based on the ESG structure. Accordingly, we have 
included some information related to the mandatory 
CSRD disclosures in this report and plan to conduct a 
CSRD gap analysis in 2023.

Despite our switch to the ESG reporting structure, 
this report contains many of the same disclosures 
as before, which are aligned with the Sustainability 
Accounting Standards Board (SASB) and elements 
of the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). 
Previously, Cloudberry’s sustainability reports were 
also aligned with the Task Force on Climate Related 
Financial Disclosures (TCFD). This year we have 
published a separate TCFD report, although the 
sustainability report still highlights the most material 
climate risks. This report is also inspired by the Global 
Reporting Initiative (GRI) and therefore includes new 
GRI disclosures and a GRI reporting matrix at the 
end of the report.
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ESG Key Performance and Targets

In 2022, we updated our material environmental, social, and governance (ESG) 
topics and developed corresponding ambitions, targets, and KPIs. The table below 
shows the targets and the KPIs we are reporting.

Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Actual 2022 Target 2023 Target 2025

Environment 1 GHG emissions avoided tCO2e 5 229 29 133 59 496 124 500 249 000

GHG emissions tCO2e 6 980 25 827 10 727 13 500 24 750

Social 2 Work injuries (incl. Sub-contractors) 0 0 0 0 0

Employee engagement index N/A N/A 5.2 ≥ 5.2 ≥ 5.3

Female employees % of total 20% 29% 29% 35% > 40%

Female managers % in mgmt. positions 20% 20% 33% 33% > 40%

Female BoD % in total BoD 40% 40% 43% > 40% > 40%

Equal opportunities index N/A N/A 5.2 ≥ 5.2 ≥ 5.3

Governance Prescreening of suppliers N/A N/A 10% 50% 100%

Whistle-blowing incidents N/A 0 0 N/A N/A

Compliance training N/A 100% 36% 100% 100%

1	 CO2 reduction and the direct and indirect GHG emissions have been adjusted for previous years. See the Key performance summary and the 
Environment section for details.

2	 The reporting covers employees and companies where the Group has more than 50% proportionate ownership. Companies not included are  
Enestor AS, Broentech Solutions AS and Kraftanmelding AS. See note 28 in annual report. 

Key performance summary
Cloudberry’s sustainability management was 
strengthened in 2022, with focus on organizing and 
disclosing our ESG activities and performance. As a 
result, we have developed and expanded our set of 
targets and KPIs. We are continuously improving our 
sustainability efforts and acknowledge that some 
KPIs need to be further developed going forward. 
Nevertheless, our current KPIs are discussed in the 
Environmental, Social and Governance chapters of 
this sustainability report.
 
Cloudberry’s 2022 proportionate power production 
totaled 268 GWh (117 GWh in 2021). The avoided 
emissions relative to baseline emissions from the 
European electricity mix (EU-27 electricity mix, IEA 
2022) are equivalent to 59,496 tCO2e (29,133 tCO2e in 
2021). The avoided emissions previously reported in 
2020 and 2021 are adjusted in the 2022 report and is 
described in the Environment section. The 2023 and 
2025 targets are based on expected proportionate 
production of renewable energy. 

In 2022 Cloudberry’s total direct and indirect GHG 
emissions from Scope 1, Scope 2 and Scope 3 

amounted to 10,727 tCO2e (25,827 tCO2e in 2021). The 
previously reported Scope 3 emissions for 2020 and 
2021 have been adjusted in the 2022 report, and 
includes the Scope 3 emissions from construction 
of the Odal wind farm and the Hån wind farm. This 
is described in detail in the Environment section. 
Targets estimated for 2023 and 2025 are calculated 
from the construction projects in the company`s 
project pipeline. Starting from 2023 we will report our 
GHG emissions on a quarterly basis. 

All of Cloudberry’s hydro power plants are aligned 
to the criteria of the EU Taxonomy. Detailed third-
party assessments were carried out to evaluate our 
alignment to the criteria of the EU Taxonomy, and 
a verification statement has been issued for each 
of Cloudberry’s hydro power plants. The internal 
analysis of our three wind power plants found that all 
are taxonomy aligned. The third-party assessment 
is currently ongoing for the wind power plants and 
will be reported on during 2023. For more information 
on the EU Taxonomy please go to the Environment 
section in this report.
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During 2022 Cloudberry recorded no material inci-
dents causing harm to people`s health and safety. 
We have a zero-incident target for injuries that 
cause absence from work, as well as for incidents 
causing harm to people`s health and safety.

The 2022 employee engagement survey focused 
on HSE, compliance, work life balance and diversity, 

equity, and inclusion (DEI) in the workplace.  A DEI 
index of 5,2 was calculated of based on a bundle 
of responses to five questions, where  six is the 
maximum possible score. This result will be used as 
a baseline for measures and targets within DEI and 
employee engagement. We will work systematically 
to sustain or improve the score in 2023. Furthermore, 
Cloudberry has set targets related to gender bal-
ance in the company. Gender balance and our work 
with DEI are described in detail in the Social section.

In 2022 we conducted a due diligence assessment 
in accordance with the Transparency Act require-
ments, to secure fundamental human rights and 
decent working conditions in our entire supply 
chain. Additional steps to strengthen our work on 
transparency and decent working conditions, such 
as implementing pre-screening of all potential 
suppliers, have been implemented. The work relating 
to prequalifying suppliers will be fully incorporated in 
Cloudberry from 2023. We have set targets related 
to screening suppliers with significant impact in 
our projects. This is described in more detail in the 
Governance section.

In 2022 Cloudberry received a light green 
rating from Position Green, the annual 
review of ESG reporting of the 100 largest 
listed companies in Denmark, Norway,  
and Sweden. 
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	 Gender  
equality

Cloudberry 
contributes 
improving 

gender balance and ensuring 
equal opportunities for all 
genders in own workforce and 
operations and brings the 
attention to recruitment  
agencies and contractors. 
Progress is measured through 
our social KPIs for share of 
female employees, -man-
agement, and -the Board of 
Directors.

	 Affordable 
and clean 
energy

Cloudberry 
ensures 

access to affordable, 
reliable and sustainable 
renewable energy for all. 
This opens opportunities 
for new economic opportu-
nities, jobs and local value 
creation, and contribution 
to climate change.

	 Sustainable 
cities and 
communities

Cloudberry 
contributes 

to the development of 
sustainable cities and 
communities by developing 
and operating renewable 
energy infrastructure. In 
addition, Cloudberry seeks 
to protect cultural and 
natural heritage as well as 
using sustainable materials 
and solutions, e.g., reuse 
materials and engage local 
suppliers where possible.

	 Responsible 
consumption  
and production

Cloudberry 
aims to act 

responsibly in all development 
projects, focusing on environ-
mentally sound management 
of chemicals and all waste 
throughout the life cycle, 
recycled and reuse of material 
as well as efficient use of nat-
ural resources. Secondhand 
furniture in own offices and 
improving circularity where we 
have an impact.

	 Climate  
action

Cloudberry  
contributes 
to mitigating 

climate change by developing 
and operating renewable 
energy with a focus on 
reducing our GHG emissions 
and minimizing our nature 
impact, and we have a goal 
of being net-zero before 
2040. The effect of climate 
change has consequences 
for our operating assets 
therefore we consider our 
business planning and have 
assessed our climate related 
risks and opportunities to 
ensure that our assets are 
climate-resilient.

	 Life on  
Land 

Cloudberry 
protects 
life on land 

through the company’s 
contributions to climate 
change mitigation. 
Additionally, Cloudberry 
integrates ecosystem 
protection and biodiversity 
values into our development 
processes, and promotes 
sustainable forest and 
biodiversity management, 
including protection of 
threatened flora and fauna.

	 Peace, justice  
and strong  
institutions

Cloudberry 
contributes 

ensuring ethical value-chain, 
transparency, and include 
various stakeholders in our 
decision making and project 
planning processes. We track 
our work through our compli-
ance and anti-corruption KPIs, 
as well as supplier screening. 
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Supporting the UN Sustainable Development Goals

The development of renewable energy capacity 
contributes to the energy transition required to reach 
net-zero, European and national climate targets, 
and the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). 
In 2021 we reviewed our sustainability strategy with 
attention to the SDG targets and highlighted those 
we aligned with. In 2022 we evaluated our alignment 
with the UN SDGs in light of our updated environ-
ment, social and governance (ESG) strategy. As a 
result, we made some adjustments, including high-
lighting two additional SDGs as topics important to 
Cloudberry’s business and how we operate: number 
5; Gender Equality, and number 16; Peace, Justice 
and Strong Institutions.

Cloudberry is aware that the energy industry is 
highly male dominated. Supporting SDG number 5,  
Gender Equality, reflects how Cloudberry actively 
works to improve gender equality in an area where 
we can have a real impact. 

Cloudberry is committed to acting ethically and 
using ethical suppliers. This includes working against 
corruption and bribery, which is a central part of SDG 
16, as well as establishing transparency in institutions 
at all levels and ensuring inclusive decision making. 
Both goals are well aligned with Cloudberry’s work to 
ensure a steady and transparent flow of information 
between the company and its stakeholders, as well 
as the focus we have on stakeholder collaboration.

The following UN Sustainable Development Goalss are particularly  
important to Cloudberry’s business and how we operate
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In 2022 we received zero grievances from neither 
project under construction nor from those in oper-
ation. Cloudberry aims for zero non-compliance 
incidents in the years to come. However, we want to 
be made aware of irregularities or concerns regard-
ing the organization and our business. We therefore 
welcome all whistle-blowing occurrences and 
encourage a culture of transparency.  Compliance 
training includes training in Code of Conduct, 
notification routines for whistleblowing incidents and 
anti-corruption. In 2022, all Cloudberry and Captiva 
employees received information about the whistle-
blowing policy, and the updated Code of Conduct 
was shared. Mandatory training for all employees in 
anti-corruption and the Code of Conduct is embed-
ded in Cloudberry from 2023. 

Updated sustainability strategy
Cloudberry`s overarching purpose is to provide 
renewable energy for future generations and power 
the transition to a sustainable future. This purpose 
shapes everything we do, and our long-term success 
is linked to operating our business in a sustainable 
way. To fulfil this purpose, Cloudberry believes that 
identifying, understanding, and systematically 
managing the material sustainability topics in our 
value-chain is of utmost importance for future long-
term value creation. 

Cloudberry grew significantly in 2022 with the acqui-
sition of 60% of the Captiva Group (the Operations 
segment) and through organic growth. The growth 
necessitated an update of our sustainability strat-
egy and material topics list, facilitated by renewed 
external stakeholder dialogue. 

As a result of this process, Cloudberry has revised 
its material topics and developed relevant sustain-
ability ambitions, targets, and key performance 
indicators (KPIs). They have all been incorporated 
into our development, production, operations, and 
corporate business units. The targets and KPIs were 
approved by Cloudberry’s ESG committee and Board 
of Directors at the end of 2022.This sustainability 
report addresses our updated strategy and sus-
tainability material topics in more detail, as well as 
our plans to address each of them, divided into the 
Environmental, Social, and Governance dimensions.

Double materiality assessment  
and adjusted material topics  
As part of our ESG strategy update we conducted 
a double materiality assessment inspired by the 
Global Reporting Index (GRI) and the methodology 
described in CSRD. This process represents our 
first step towards CSRD alignment and included 
interviewing our most important stakeholders. This 
resulted in receiving input on how our activities 
impact people and the environment, and on how 
different sustainability matters create risks and 
opportunities for Cloudberry.

We have linked the topics that came out of this pro-
cess with the three ESG dimensions: Environmental, 
Social, and Governance.  

Our assessment found our most material environ-
mental topic dimensions to be climate change and 
energy transition, nature impact and biodiversity, 
and circular use of resources and materials. Our 
most material social topics are engagement, health 
and safety, diversity and equal opportunities, and 
local community impact. Under governance, respon-
sible value chain and responsible business conduct 
were identified as the most material sustainability 
topics. 

In the coming years Cloudberry will continue to 
raise our sustainability ambitions and goals and 
strengthen the work with our material topics. The 
integration of ESG topics is an ongoing process in 
both our own business units and the value chain. 
Good corporate governance and ethical business 
conduct are essential to Cloudberry as the com-
pany continues to grow organically and through 
acquisitions.

The table below gives an overview of our material 
sustainability topics, as well as our preliminary 
assessment of them related to double materiality. 
For each material topic, we have considered how 
Cloudberry impacts the outside world (also known as 
inside-out impact and sometimes called “impact”), 
as well as how changes related to the topic create 
risks and opportunities for Cloudberry (also known 
as the outside-in impact and closely related to 
financial issue).
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Material sustainability topics

ESRS Topic Inside-out Outside-in

E1 – Climate 
change

Climate 
Impact

Positive: Cloudberry’s development and 
production of renewable wind and hydro 
power contributes positively to society’s 
overall energy decarbonization, which 
helps to mitigate climate change.

Negative: The manufacturing and transport 
of the components used in renewable 
energy production, along with production 
site construction, are significant sources of 
greenhouse gas emissions.

Opportunities: There will likely be an 
increase in funding for renewable energy 
development as society tries to limit 
climate change and reduce emissions. 
As an established clean energy company 
with a clear focus on environmental and 
social sustainability, Cloudberry is well 
positioned to take advantage of this 
growth opportunity.

Risks: Climate change will cause changes 
in precipitation patterns, which will make 
hydro power less reliable in the future. 
This risk can be minimized by establishing 
a resilient network of hydropower plants 
in different locations. Climate change 
will also cause an increase in extreme 
weather events, which could damage 
assets.

E4 – 
Biodiversity 
and 
ecosystems

Nature 
impact and 
biodiversity

Positive: Cloudberry has an indirect positive 
impact on nature and biodiversity through 
the production of renewable energy, which 
contributes to the mitigation of climate 
change. This is positive because climate 
change constitutes a serious threat to the 
existence of many species, the world’s 
ecosystems, and therefore biodiversity as 
a whole.

Negative: On the other hand, Cloudberry 
has direct and indirect negative impacts 
on nature and biodiversity. Indirectly, the 
extraction of raw materials that Cloudberry 
uses harm nature in the areas they come 
from. Cloudberry’s construction of projects 
have a direct negative nature impact, 
which we are working to minimize.

Opportunities: Cloudberry has the 
opportunity to be an industry leader 
regarding nature impact and biodiversity 
and is currently working to develop 
relevant KPIs and planning how to 
reduce our impact. This would make us 
an attractive partner to work with for 
organizations and communities which are 
focusing on reducing nature impact risk 
and halting biodiversity loss.

Risks: Regulators, local communities, 
environmental activists, and the general 
public are becoming more aware of the 
global biodiversity crisis and focusing 
more on the risks that renewable 
energy generation pose to nature and 
biodiversity. Public opinion turning against 
development of wind and hydro power 
plants is a risk to Cloudberry’s operations 
and we are working to minimize our 
impact and maintain an open, transparent 
dialogue with stakeholders in the areas in 
order to minimize this risk.

E5 – resource 
use and 
circular 
economy

Resource 
use and 
circularity

Positive: Cloudberry works to use 
resources in a circular manner wherever 
possible, such as in our own offices, 
and by encouraging suppliers to be as 
resource efficient as possible. In the 
future, Cloudberry will work actively to 
improve circularity related to wind turbines 
and other critical use components for 
renewable energy.

Negative: While hydropower plants have 
long lifecycles, which is good for circular 
resource use, the opposite is for wind 
energy at current stage. It is still a challenge 
the recycling of the wind turbine blades, 
and the same for the concrete used in the 
foundations this is some of the negative 
impact on overall circular material use.

Opportunities: The renewable energy 
industry is not very mature when it comes 
to circular resource use, giving Cloudberry 
the opportunity to be a front runner. 
Increasing circular resource use is also a 
direct financial opportunity, as successful 
material or component reuse would 
reduce the company’s costs.

Risks: There are some regulatory risks 
regarding circular resource use in the 
renewable energy industry. For example, 
governing bodies may impose fees or 
other costs for the end of life handling 
of resources. Additionally, there is a 
reputational risk for Cloudberry if wind 
turbine blades end up in the landfill.
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ESRS Topic Inside-out Outside-in

S1 – own 
workforce, 
S2 – workers 
in the value 
chain

Engagement, 
health and 
safety

Positive: Cloudberry’s employees are mainly 
office workers, and safety is therefore not a 
large concern. We work actively to ensure 
good employee engagement and promote 
employee health.

Negative: Cloudberry hires subcontractors 
for development, construction, and 
maintenance of projects, and it is difficult 
to ensure that the subcontractors follow 
Cloudberry’s standards. There is therefore 
a risk that our activities have an indirect 
negative impact on overall health and 
safety.

Opportunities: Having high levels of 
employee engagement makes Cloudberry 
an attractive employer. Employee 
engagement also creates opportunities 
for employee feedback and input which 
can improve our operations.

Risks: It is impossible to completely 
eliminate health and safety risk, especially 
in construction, and Cloudberry has, 
therefore, some financial risk due to the 
risk of accidents on the job. We emphasize 
safety and strive to minimize this risk as 
much as possible.

S1 – Own 
workforce

Diversity 
and equal 
opportunities

Positive: Cloudberry is an equal opportunity 
employer and encourages diversity, equity, 
and inclusion in the workplace. We have 
a systematic process and work actively to 
promote equity and prevent discrimination 
across the company.

Negative: Despite Cloudberry’s status 
as an equal opportunity employer, our 
employees include a higher number of 
men. Additionally, manufacturing and 
construction are industries which are 
known to favor men.

Opportunities: Being seen as an equal 
opportunity employer is closely connected 
with employee engagement and 
contributes to making Cloudberry an 
attractive employer. Cloudberry has the 
opportunity to be a diversity, equity, and 
inclusion leader in the construction sector, 
making the company an attractive partner 
for future projects and for investors.

Risks: Cloudberry faces reputational risks 
if we fail to fulfil our diversity and equal 
opportunity ambitions, or lag behind in the 
renewable energy industry.

S3 – Affected 
communities

Local value 
creation

Positive: Cloudberry strives to have a 
positive impact on local communities, and 
we use local suppliers and hire employees 
locally wherever possible. Cloudberry 
also engages with local stakeholders to 
determine the best way to create value 
in each community, which has lead to, for 
example, building local bike paths and 
walking trails. 

Negative: The construction and running 
of wind and hydro power plants do 
have some negative impact on local 
communities. The biggest complaints 
are generally noise, ruining the view, and 
impact on nature. We work hard to consult 
with the communities where we operate 
and minimize these negative impacts.

Opportunities: Successfully creating local 
value and developing a reputation for 
doing so can lead to future opportunities 
for Cloudberry, with community focused 
investors and partners, as well as the local 
communities themselves, considering this 
in their decision making processes.

Risks: If Cloudberry fails to create enough 
local community value and maintain its 
reputation as a professional developer 
there is the risk of delaying or even losing 
future projects. 
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ESRS Topic Inside-out Outside-in

G1 – Business 
conduct

Responsible 
value chain

Positive: Cloudberry has the opportunity 
to use the Transparency Act as a force for 
good, to uncover supply chain risks and 
end illegal and unfair practices when it 
comes to human and workers’ rights.

Negative: Cloudberry has a large network 
of suppliers and is, as is the case with all 
renewable energy companies, dependent 
on industries which are known for human 
rights’ and workers’ rights abuses, as 
well as damaging the environment. At 
Cloudberry we do our best to minimize this 
risk by choosing suppliers in Europe where 
possible, and expecting our suppliers and 
partners to uphold the standards in our 
Supplier Code of Conduct.

Opportunities: Establishing a reputation as 
a transparent and responsible employer 
and partner will make Cloudberry a 
desirable partner in the future.

Risks: Regulations and potential fines 
in the case of human or workers’ rights 
abuses as well as costs related to 
environmental damage in the supply chain 
constitute financial risks for Cloudberry. 
We do our best to mitigate this risk, but as 
with other companies in the industry, it is 
still a risk.

G1 – Business 
conduct

Responsible 
business 
conduct

Positive: Cloudberry emphasizes 
responsible business conduct throughout 
our operations, including in our Code of 
Conduct. We follow up our suppliers closely 
and have long relationships with them 
which builds trust and allows us to have 
more influence in their practices.

Negative: Cloudberry has a large network 
of business partners which makes it 
difficult to ensure that they are all acting 
responsibly. We do our best to choose 
transparent, responsible business partners 
when possible.

Opportunities: Establishing a reputation as 
a transparent and responsible business 
partner will make Cloudberry a desirable 
partner in the future.

Risks: If Cloudberry, or someone 
connected to the company fails to act 
responsibly or follow our Code of Conduct, 
there is a reputational risk, which could 
lead to loss of business and loss of 
investor confidence. 
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Stakeholder dialogue and managing 
stakeholder expectations 
Cloudberry`s success depends on our ability to build 
trust amongst our stakeholders.  It is essential that 
landowners lend their land to us, local communities 
have trust in us, people and partners want to work 
with us, and that investors and creditors value us. It 
is fundamental for the company to engage timely 
and openly with our stakeholders, and we have 
the ambition to maintain an open and transparent 
dialogue.

An important part of maintaining dialogue and 
building trust is ensuring Cloudberry a local pres-
ence, allowing us to understand the context we work 
in. We strive to have a transparent decision-making 
process. Regular dialogue with and input from our 
main stakeholders gives us valuable feedback and 
enables Cloudberry to continue to improve and 
enhance our trust and reputation.

When exploring a new opportunity, we evaluate 
landowners’ interest in having a powerplant on their 
property as well as the local attitude towards the 

establishment of the relevant renewable energy 
power plant. After submitting the formal notifica-
tion of a project to the authorities, we hold public 
meetings to inform residents about the project and 
identify local needs that we can accommodate 
them. Cloudberry creates opportunities for individual 
residents to discuss any concerns they may have 
throughout the process.

Dialogue with and input from all stakeholders are 
highly important to the company and contribute 
to and validate, our sustainability strategy. In 2022 
Cloudberry engaged with external stakeholders as 
a part of our larger process to update our material 
topics. We conducted interviews with existing and 
potential stakeholders and individuals belonging to 
several stakeholder groups. Key stakeholders consist 
of landowners on whose land Cloudberry has 
projects, residents, municipalities, and politicians in 
communities where Cloudberry operates, suppliers, 
consultants, investors, relevant financial institutions, 
and an environmental NGO, as illustrated below. A 
full day workshop with employees and management 
was also conducted.

Cloudberry’s stakeholders are particularly con-
cerned with how we handle environmental and 
social impact, governance issues, health and safety, 
company culture and supplier management. In the 
table below we describe the main findings from the 
2022 stakeholder interviews regarding Cloudberry’s 
development and construction projects in Norway 
and Sweden.

Way forward
In 2023, Cloudberry will further systematize our 
stakeholder engagement. The input we receive is 
valuable and influence our sustainability framework 
and will be reflected in our strategic priorities going 
forward. On every construction project Cloudberry 
will continue to distribute newsletters, keep updated 
project websites, and hold meetings for authorities, 
landowners and other stakeholders involved. We 
maintain close dialogue with our stakeholders to 
understand and address their concerns. 

Cloudberry’s 
Value 

Creation

Landowners

Suppliers Employees

NGO
Financial 

institutions

Authorities

Municipalities

Local 
residents

Investors

Cloudberry’s main stakeholders
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Main stakeholders

External 
Stakeholders Expected of the company Areas of dialogue Examples of actions to address expectations

Landowners 
and residents

Frequent and transparent 
communication, protecting 
and minimizing damage to 
nature, consider cultural 
sustainability, financial 
funds for locally initiatives 
and contribute to local 
business opportunities 
creating jobs.

Direct contact with 
the landowners 
and residents 
through meetings, 
and consultation 
meetings with the 
residents of the 
neighbourhood. 

Information letters to stakeholders on 
progress regarding the project. Several 
informational meetings were held locally to 
ensure understanding around the process, 
impact, risk, and opportunities, local value 
creation, and to facilitate Q&A sessions.  

In the Sundby Vindpark (Kafjärden), 
a specific budget is dedicated to 
environmental and social work in the 
construction phase. A budget for the 
production period is dedicated to investment 
in local initiatives.

Participation in an open community hearing 
at Hån Vindpark in the early phase of 
construction. This participation was a result 
of Cloudberry’s community outreach and 
relationship building, ensuring that our 
projects are carried out in the best possible 
way.

Cloudberry engaged external consultants 
to investigate biodiversity at the 
Björnetjärnsberget wind development 
project and modified the wind farm layout 
based on the results of this work. 

At Hån wind farm dialogue with the local 
stakeholders resulted in a bike trail called 
“Unions-leden” in the area around the 
border of Sweden and Norway, as a part 
of Cloudberry`s contribution during the 
construction phase.

A project website with updated information 
regarding projects during development and 
construction.

At Tinnkraft hydro power plant Cloudberry 
set up benches for hikers in the area.

Municipalities 
and 
politicians

Energy supply locally, 
local value creation 
such as jobs on projects 
and infrastructure. 
Professional handling of 
conflicts, sustainability 
throughout the supply 
chain and minimizing the 
environmental impact.  
Recommend that the 
company enters into 
dialogue with the local 
community at an early 
phase. 

Dialogue and 
meetings with the 
municipalities, 
politicians and 
authorities. 

The development and production of wind 
and hydro power are highly regulated in both 
Norway and Sweden, including stringent 
environmental regulations. The company 
maintains a continuous dialogue with 
authorities and local stakeholders and held 
several meetings with the municipalities 
where our projects are located e.g., Sundby 
(Kafjärden), Munkhyttan and Düvhällen 
wind farm projects.   Simpevarp project 
managers held regular dialogue with local 
stakeholders, visiting local municipalities, 
events, and businesses and held meetings 
with local politicians and interest groups. The 
dialogue improved our understanding of the 
community and established a good baseline 
for future discussions. 

In all our projects we have the policy to 
work with local suppliers as far as possible 
and to use local companies for food and 
accommodations.
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External 
Stakeholders Expected of the company Areas of dialogue Examples of actions to address expectations

Suppliers and 
consultants

Transparent 
communication, focus 
on health and safety , 
minimizing environmental 
and climate impact,  
contribute to local value 
creation., 

Regular meetings 
with partners, 
suppliers, and 
consultants. 

Cloudberry has implemented a supplier 
declaration form which is an overall 
assessment conducted when choosing a 
supplier for a project and is used as a basis 
for pre-screening suppliers of products and 
services to Cloudberry The prequalification 
formula reflects regulatory requirements, 
quality, sustainability topics and HSE.

Supplier Code of Conduct is a part of 
procurement phases.

Regular meetings on health and safety 
management on site with entrepreneur and 
other suppliers. Focus on health and safety 
routines and environmental and social 
impact. Registering incidents and mitigation 
plans. 

Reporting on GHG emissions from projects.

Investors 
and financial 
institutions

Close collaboration with 
investors and partners. 
Balanced and fact-
based ESG reporting. Be 
ambitious on sustainability 
targets. Alignment to 
governance acts., Focus on 
environmental and social 
impact and circular use of 
material. 

Meetings 
with investors 
nationally and 
globally, analyst 
presentations, 
company 
presentations in 
investor forums and 
at conferences. 

Direct and indirect greenhouse gas (GHG) 
emissions will be reported quarterly from 
2023 (annually previously). A plan for a 
pathway and commitment to Science Based 
Targets initiative (SBTi) to reach net-zero no 
later than 2040.  Climate related financial 
risks and opportunities, which the scenario 
analysis is based upon, and integrated in the 
overall risk management in the company. 
The KPIs and targets on the material 
ESG topics are set, and are to be further 
developed. Alignment to the criteria of the 
EU Taxonomy on all hydro power plants. The 
wind power plants expected to be aligned 
and under assessment by a third party.

NGOs Develop and produce 
renewable energy, minimize 
land use and nature 
impact, respect the needs 
and rights of indigenous 
people, prioritize wind 
projects in already 
impacted areas such as in 
industrial areas and areas 
already impacted.

Meetings with 
associations and 
NGO´s. 

Reuse existing infrastructure to minimize 
environmental and nature impact. E.g., 
at Sundby wind farm project we reuse 
existing concrete foundations and cables. 
At Hån wind farm, we used just in time (JIT) 
deliveries for wind turbine blades. In this way 
we minimized and saved nature impact by 
not building storage area for the blades.

At both Simpevarp and Björnetjärnsberget 
development projects we held meetings with 
local stakeholders to establish transparent 
dialogue at an early stage, focusing on 
biodiversity and nature impact, and how to 
create local value for stakeholders involved.

At Åmotsfoss hydro power plant we maintain 
regular dialogue with local communities 
to safeguard and protect biodiversity 
surrounding the river, and particularly in the 
river. We set up reconciled solutions which 
contribute to a sustainable environment for 
the local inhabitants and society.
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External 
Stakeholders Expected of the company Areas of dialogue Examples of actions to address expectations

Investors Measuring CO2 emission, 
energy efficiency, life-
cycle assessment and 
environmental impact. 
Prioritize developing 
windfarms in industrial 
areas.

Meetings 
(preferably digitally) 
with investors and 
analysts, company 
presentations.

Providing renewable energy and thereby 
reducing climate GHG emissions. Accessible 
for a broader universe of stakeholders and 
ESG focused investors as Cloudberry was 
listed on the fully regulated market Oslo 
Stock Exchange in 2021.

Diversified and growing production portfolio 
with a highly efficient operating platform, a 
growing development backlog and pipeline 
both on- and offshore. 

The increased production of renewable 
energy in Cloudberry in 2022 has doubled 
our contribution to the decarbonization of 
Europe. 

Reports annually on direct and indirect 
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, 
assessed climate related financial risks and 
opportunities, which the scenario analysis is 
based upon. 

Financial 
institutions

Ensure that suppliers and 
partners operate in line 
with the company’s code 
of conduct.

Focus on the company’s 
emissions and HSE 
routines.

Meetings and 
presentations.

Beside reporting financially, the company 
is integrating environmental, social and 
governance in its reporting to highlight the 
focus on sustainability management in the 
company`s business strategy.

Cloudberry met with Natur og Ungdom (NU), the largest environmental 
organization for young people in Norway. NU is a non-political, independent 
organization that works to take care of nature and biodiversity to secure the 
livelihood of future generations. 

As a part of our stakeholder management, it is 
essential for Cloudberry to have dialogue with 
NGOs such as NU, to learn about and understand 
their views on how climate change and nature 
impact must be linked to each other when devel-
oping and constructing wind- and hydropower 
plants.

«Natur og Ungdom clearly sees that there is 
a necessity for much more renewable energy, 
as well as a need for an overarching plan to 
develop wind energy. We must improve our 

energy efficiency and develop more efficient 
renewable energy in order to secure our energy 
supply and facilitate profitable wind energy with 
a low nature impact. Since climate mitigation and 
nature impacts are complex, renewable energy 
asset development must quickly be planned 
locally, regionally, and nationally - integrated with 
existing infrastructure and in already impacted 
areas. We always encourage local anchoring and 
the establishment of some positive spin-offs for 
the local community and the landowners»,
says Simon Balsnes, Natur og Ungdom
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Environment

Sustainability ambitions

To power the transition to renewable energy 
aiming to be climate and nature positive

Renewable energy is essential to reducing the 
worlds greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, stopping 
climate change, and protecting the environment. 
At Cloudberry, concern for the environment and 
climate change lies at the center of everything we 
do. Our main ambition is to power the transition 
to renewable energy. While aiming to have a net 
positive impact on climate and nature, our goal is to 
be net-zero on GHG emissions no later than 2040. 
We plan to commit to the Science Based Targets 
initiative (SBTi) in our further work and is currently 
developing a roadmap which we aim to use actively 
to identify opportunities to even speed up the pro-
cess and reach net-zero sooner. It is a high priority 
for Cloudberry to reduce our environmental footprint 
and our 2022 materiality assessment identified three 
environmental topics which we will prioritize in the 
years to come 1) climate change and energy tran-
sition, 2) nature impact and biodiversity, and 3) the 
circular use of resources and materials. 

Our production of renewable energy positively 
impacts the energy transition which addresses the 
climate crisis. In addition, the impact also addresses 
major operational and financial risk posed by 
climate change that causes changes in weather 
patterns which makes wind energy and hydropower 
less predictable. Additionally, climate change may 
increase the frequency of extreme weather events 
which can damage our assets. At the same time, 
renewable energy development damages nature 
and negatively impacts biodiversity. Thus, minimiz-
ing nature impact is one of Cloudberry’s highest 
priorities going forward. Finally, renewable energy, 

particularly wind energy, is known to be resource 
intensive with underdeveloped markets for reuse and 
recycling, as well as for manufacturing and transport 
of the components used in the production. These, 
along with site construction, are significant sources 
of GHG emissions. Addressing these issues and 
becoming more circular will contribute to our overall 
sustainability and minimize our material scarcity risks 
which is another of Cloudberry’s focus areas.

Climate change end energy transition
Our approach
Climate change constitutes a global threat, and 
transitioning to a less carbon intensive energy 
system is essential. Contributing to this transition 
and helping to mitigate climate change is imperative 
for Cloudberry. We have an overall positive impact in 
this area, although we acknowledge that the devel-
opment and operation of renewable energy sites are 
sources of GHG emissions.

Climate change itself is a risk for Cloudberry, 
although society’s climate change mitigation efforts 
create financial opportunities for us. Climate change 
is altering precipitation patterns, which makes hydro-
power a less dependable source of electricity than 
it has been in the past. Additionally, climate change 
is increasing the frequency and severity of extreme 
weather events, which pose threats to our assets. 
At the same time, concern about climate change 
is leading many investors and governments to look 
towards renewable energy which will likely result in 
new renewable energy development opportunities 
for Cloudberry in the future.

Key Performance Measures

Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Actual 2022 Target 2023 Target 2025

Environment 1 GHG emissions avoided tCO2e 5 229 29 133 59 496 124 500 249 000

GHG emissions tCO2e 6 980 25 827 10 727 13 500 24 750

1	 CO2 reduction and the direct and indirect GHG emissions have been adjusted for previous years. See the Key performance summary and the 
Environment section for details.
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Our activities
Climate related risks and opportunities
Financial markets, creditors and investors need clear, 
consistent, and comparable, high-quality infor-
mation on the impacts of climate change on busi-
nesses. The Task Force on Climate-related Financial 
Disclosure (TCFD) developed the TCFD disclosure 
recommendations to improve and standardize the 
reporting of climate-related financial information 
and to enhance market transparency and stability.

In 2022 Cloudberry has further aligned with the TCFD 
disclosure recommendations, related to our growth 
and expansion during 2022, and we developed a 
more mature reporting. A workshop, facilitated by 
a third party, reassessed the financial risks- and 
opportunities. The update was used to determine 
the most material risks for Cloudberry. A summary 
report outlining the key elements of each risk and 
opportunity was developed. A wide range of key per-
sonnel were engaged to assist in quantifying each 
risk and opportunity based on its likelihood, financial 
impact, and time horizon. In total, ten changes to 
the risk and opportunities were identified. This was 
further used to formulate the most material financial 
risks for Cloudberry, on which the scenario analysis 
is based upon. 

Transition risk: Volatile power prices. 
	· 	As observed in 2022, energy prices are constantly 

evolving and can, under certain circumstances, 
be extremely volatile. What are key drivers that 
could potentially lead to changes in volatility in 
the future? How might these drivers develop in a 
transition narrative where the world aligns with a 
well-below 2˚C scenario? 

Physical risk: Changing weather patterns.
	· Changes in average temperatures will impact 

the climate In the Nordics where Cloudberry 
currently operates. Overall warmer climate can 
lead to increased rainfall, increased wind, and 

longer periods of drought. Potential consequences 
include flooding at hydro plants resulting in less 
production, severe winds exceeding a wind 
turbine`s capacity leading to production stops, and 
droughts leading to low water levels and forcing 
the company to reduce or even fully stop the 
electricity production.

The risks were analyzed in two different scenarios. 
In the Business-as-Usual scenario, aligned with 
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC)’s 
SSP5-8.5 and RCP 8.5 scenario, physical risks 
dominate the risk landscape. In the well-below 2°C 
scenario, IPCC’s SSP1-2.6 and International Energy 
Agency (IEA)’s Net Zero Emissions were used as the 
premise, and transitional risks dominate. 

The climate-related risks and opportunities related 
to Cloudberry`s business development and expan-
sion are assessed annually. The full TCFD report and 
the scenario analysis is available on our website.

Cloudberry’s Carbon Emissions
We positively impact the energy transition by develop-
ing and producing renewable energy. Sustainability is 
at the core of everything we do and well-integrated in 
our long-term strategy. To improve our climate foot-
print, we must reduce our environmental impact and 
avoid CO2 emissions wherever possible. In 2022, we 
improved and conducted our Scope 3 screening of our 
carbon emissions, aligned with the Greenhouse Gas 
(GHG) Protocol, focusing on the most material catego-
ries of GHG emissions. The company has developed 
an in-house system to streamline the process of 
gathering data on emissions, including emissions 
from the value chain, our operations and Cloudberry`s 
offices. This will allow us to report GHG emissions on 
a quarterly basis from 2023. Cloudberry is planning to 
commit to SBTi and is currently developing a roadmap 
to reach net-zero no later than 2040. We aim to use 
this process actively, to identify opportunities to speed 
up the process and reach net-zero sooner.  

Table 1. GHG emissions in tons for Scope 1, Scope 2 and Scope 3

Carbon Accounting Unit 2020 2021 2022

Scope 1 Total tCO2e - - -

Scope 2 Total Location-Based tCO2e 1 7 5

Scope 3 Total tCO2e 6 978 1 25 820 2 10 723

Total tCO2e 6 980 25 827 10 727

1	 Adjusted from 186 tCO2e previously reported for 2020. The number now includes the Scope 3 emissions from construction of the Odal wind farm.
2	 Adjusted from 196 tCO2e previously reported for 2021. The number now includes the Scope 3 emissions from construction of the Odal wind farm and 

the Hån wind farm.

https://www.cloudberry.no/assets/TCFD-Report-2022-Cloudberry.pdf
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Table 2. GHG emissions in tons, Cloudberry Clean Energy

Carbon Accounting Unit 2020 2021 2022

Scope 1 tCO2e - - -

Scope 2 (Location-Based) tCO2e 1.4 7 5

Scope 2 (Market-Based) tCO2e 9.1 56.1 49

Scope 3 (Purchased Goods and Services) tCO2e 183.7 1 134 1 6

Scope 3 (Capital goods) tCO2e 6 793 2 24 678 3 10 693

Scope 3 (Fuel-and-energy related activities) tCO2e - - 1

Scope 3 (Waste Management) tCO2e - 0.9 9

Scope 3 (Business Travel) tCO2e 1.6 4.6 11

Scope 3 (Investments) tCO2e - 2.1 3

Total GHG emissions tCO2e 6 980 25 827 10 727

Total Energy MWh 34.6 226 183

1	 Adjusted from 188 tCO2e previously reported for 2021. The number now includes the Scope 3 emissions from construction of the Hån wind farm.
2	 Adjusted from 0 tCO2e previously reported for 2020. The number now includes the Scope 3 emissions from construction of the Odal wind farm.
3	 Adjusted from 0 tCO2e previously reported for 2021. The number now includes the Scope 3 emissions from construction of the Odal wind farm and 

the Hån wind farm.

Cloudberry`s carbon inventory is divided into the 
three main scopes of direct and indirect emissions, 
and in 2022 Cloudberry’s reported GHG emissions 
from Scope 1, Scope 2 and Scope 3 were 10,727 tons 
CO2e (25,827  tCO2e).

Scope 1 covers all direct emissions sources, including 
the use of fossil fuels for stationary combustion 
(predominantly diesel generators) and transporta-
tion. Cloudberry does not have any company cars 
and did not purchase any gas (SF6) refills in 2022 and 
has, therefore, zero direct GHG emissions to report in 
Scope 1.

Scope 2 includes indirect emissions from 
Cloudberry`s purchased energy (i.e., electricity and 
heating/cooling). This includes purchased energy for 
Cloudberry`s offices in Oslo, Norway and in Karlstad, 
Eskilstuna and Särö, Sweden, as well as the energy 
used at our production sites. In 2022 Cloudberry 
used a total of 183 MWh of energy, corresponding to 
the emission of 5 tCO2e. 

Scope 3 comprises the reported indirect emissions 
resulting from Cloudberry`s value chain activities. 
Reporting of purchased goods and services, and 
upstream transportation and distribution, were 
identified as the most material reporting categories. 
The total registered emissions from Scope 3 were 
10,723 tCO2e. Please see Appendix for a Scope 3 
breakdown of included categories.

Cloudberry follows the principle of Proportionate 
Share (by ownership) and is reporting 34% of the 
total emissions based on the ownership share in 
Odal wind farm. The previously reported Scope 3 
emissions for 2020 and 2021 have been adjusted 
in the 2022 report. According to the GHG protocol, 
emissions from the Odal wind farm should be 
reported under Category 15 (investment Scope 1 and 
2), but Cloudberry has decided to include emissions 
from the construction phase under Category 2 
(capital goods) instead. Additionally, the Scope 3 
Category 1 and 2 emissions from Hån wind farm 
have not previously been reported. This is adjusted 
and the 2020 and 2021 figures are updated including 
the construction activities respectively (concrete, 
steel, copper, diesel, and production of the wind 
turbines). The GHG emissions are reported based 
on the invoices from the construction period, both 
for Hån and Odal wind farms. In total, the Scope 3 
emissions accounted for 99% of Cloudberry’s GHG 
emissions in 2020, 2021 and 2022.

Principles on reporting emissions
In-house development projects: Cloudberry reports 
emissions on in-house development projects from 
final investment decision (FID) and starting point of 
the construction. 

Projects under construction: Where Cloudberry is the 
initiator to the construction, the company will report 
emissions from construction start. On projects under 
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construction where Cloudberry is the legal owner, 
Cloudberry reports construction phase emissions. 

On assets under construction where Cloudberry 
has entered into an agreement to buy the power 
plant and is the legal owner after the construction 
is completed and commission period is approved, 
Cloudberry reports emissions from takeover.

Producing assets: Cloudberry reports its emissions 
on producing assets and from take-over (additional-
ity principle).

CO2 Reduction in the grid
In 2022, Cloudberry produced 268 GWh (117 GWh 
in 2021) of renewable energy, which is equivalent to 
reducing 59,496 tCO2e (29,133 tCO2e in 2021), based 
on the baseline emissions from the European 
electricity mix (EU-27 electricity mix, IEA 2022). As 
the underlying frameworks are continuously evolving 
the avoided emissions in 2020 and 2021 have been 

restated to exclude Cloudberry’s GHG emissions 
which was previously included in the relevant year 
as an off set against the avoided emissions. The 
avoided emissions are a result of our production of 
renewable energy and is contributing to the much-
needed globally decarbonization.

Hån wind farm 

The majority of Cloudberry’s total carbon 
emissions in 2022 were related to the con-
struction of Hån and Odal wind farms. Hån 
wind farm started producing renewable 
energy in October 2022, and will from May 
2023, by avoiding CO2 emissions in the grid, 
have a carbon-neutral footprint assuming 
normal wind conditions. 
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Target
Cloudberry monitors national and international 
climate politics and their potential impact on our 
strategy and business. We strive to ensure that the 
company makes the right decisions and assess-
ments on how climate risks might affect us. We 
have strengthened our risk strategy by including the 
topics identified in the materiality assessment where 
climate change and energy transition is one of the 
core topics. 

Cloudberry has a scalable platform and is posi-
tioned for valuable growth, both in terms of energy 
production and in-house development backlog  
and pipeline. Cloudberry’s strategy is to continue  
its sustainable growth organically and strategically  
in the Nordic market. Areas of our business will  
have residual GHG emissions, which we will  
neutralize while minimizing our footprint as much  
as possible.

To do our part for society to become a low-carbon 
economy, Cloudberry is planning to commit to SBTi. 
We will create a roadmap to reach net-zero from our 
emissions no later than 2040, with the aim of using 
this process to identify pathways to reach net-zero 
even earlier.

Starting from 2023 Cloudberry will report our GHG 
emissions on a quarterly basis.

The Taxonomy
Cloudberry has conducted thorough assessments 
of our producing assets’ alignment to the criteria of 
the EU Taxonomy, and the internal analysis found 
that all wind and hydropower plants are taxonomy 
aligned. In 2022 Cloudberry engaged a third-party, 
Det Norske Veritas (DNV), to perform a detailed 
assessment to evaluate our alignment to the criteria 
of the EU Taxonomy. DNV stated all of Cloudberry’s 
hydropower plants to be aligned to the criteria of 

Transitioning to  
a low-carbon society Net-Zero by 2040

Cloudberry will create a roadmap to reach net-zero from our emissions no later than 2040, 
with the aim of using this process to identify pathways to reach net-zero even earlier.

https://finance.ec.europa.eu/sustainable-finance/tools-and-standards/eu-taxonomy-sustainable-activities_en
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the EU Taxonomy, and a verification statement has 
been issued for each of the hydropower plants. The 
third-party verification for the wind power plants is 
ongoing and will be reported on during 2023.  

Eligibility
In accordance with the EU Taxonomy requirements 
for the reporting year 2022, qualitative information 
and information on the proportion of taxonomy 
eligible activities in relation to total activities set out 
in the Delegated Act must be disclosed.

In 2022 Cloudberry assessed its eligible activities 
covered by the EU Taxonomy and technical screen-
ing criteria and its proportion of Taxonomy-eligible 
and Taxonomy non-eligible economic activities in its 
total turnover, capital expenditure, and operational 
expenditure.

Inventory of the eligible activities covered by the 
Taxonomy in Cloudberry`s business units:

1.	 	Electricity generation from wind power. NACE 
code D35.1.1 (Production of electricity) and F42.2.2 
(Construction of utility projects for electricity)

2.	 Electricity generation from hydro power. NACE 
code D35.1.1 (Production of electricity) and F42.2.2 
(Construction of utility projects for electricity)

Basis and principles
Cloudberry reports on the company’s proportion of 
Taxonomy-eligible activities: electricity generation 
from wind power and electricity generation from 

hydro power on consolidated units (IFRS). Units that 
are power producing at year-end are classified as 
“producing”, while units that are under construction, 
ready for construction or in the concession process, 
(project inventory in the consolidated balance sheet) 
are classified as “construction”. The eligible sales 
revenues from Note 11 in the 2022 annual report are 
divided into each of the two Taxonomy eligible activ-
ities above. Asset management services related to 
assets eligible-classified activities are assessed as 
closely related to that eligible activity and reported 
as part of it. Corporate activities (OpEx) were in 2021 
allocated proportionately to the respective eligible 
activities, while in 2022 related KPI’s are reported as 
non-eligible. 

Eligible turnovers include sales revenue from the sale 
of products generated from wind or hydro electricity 
production or closely related to this activity. Closely 
related may include products originating from the 
sale of El-certificates or guarantees of origin (GoO) 
or asset management services related to the eligible 
activity. The denominator in the turnover KPI is “Sales 
revenue” (Note 11 in the Consolidated Group financial 
statements in the 2022 annual report).

Eligible capital expenditures are investments in prop-
erty, plant, and equipment (PPE), intangible assets or 
lease agreements which have activities that are EU 
Taxonomy eligible.

The denominator for capital expenditures is the 
CAPEX KPI and includes total additions to intangibles 
and Tangibles assets (PPE), including capitalized 

CAPEX and OpEx per activity and the proportionate share 

Economic Activities
NACE 
Codes

Turnover 
(mNOK)

Revenue 
proportion

CAPEX 
(mNOK)

CAPEX 
Porportion

OPEX 
(mNOK)

OPEX 
Porpotion

A: Taxonomy eligible activities

Electricity generation from wind power  
- Production of electricity

D35.1.1 42.0 20%  -   0%  3.5 4%

Electricity generation from wind power  
- Construction of utility projects for electricity

F42.2.2 1.9 1%  271.2 84%  -   0%

Electricity generation from hydropower  
- Production of electricity

D35.1.1  138.4 66%  -   0%  23.1 29%

Electricity generation from hydropower  
- Construction of utility projects for electricity

F42.2.2  0.7   0%  14.0 4%  -   0%

Total A: Taxonomy eligible activities  183.1 88%  285.2 88%  26.6 33%

B: Taxonomy non-eligible activities  25.3 12%  39.2 12%  54.0 67%

Total A and B  208.4 100%  324.4 100%  80.6 100%
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leases. (Notes 16 and 17 in the Consolidated Group 
financial statements in the 2022 annual report).

Eligible operating expenses (OpEx) include direct 
costs related to the eligible activity, such as mainte-
nance, repair, and variable lease.  

The denominator of the operating expenditure, OpEx 
KPI is “Other operating expenses” (Note 13 in the 
Consolidated Group financial statements in the 2022 
annual report).

88% of Cloudberry`s turnover and investments, and 
33% of operating expenses were EU Taxonomy 
eligible in 2022. The table shows the turnover, CAPEX 
and OpEx per activity and the proportionate share 
of the Group’s total reported figures.

Alignment
All of Cloudberry`s hydropower plants are aligned 
to the criteria of the EU Taxonomy, and verification 
statements are issued by the third-party Det Norske 
Veritas (DNV). The internal analysis found that the 
three wind power plants are aligned to the criteria 
of the EU Taxonomy, and a verification by DNV is 
currently ongoing and expected to be reported on 
during 2023.
 
Cloudberry’s run-of-river hydropower plants and 
wind farms are within the substantial contribution 
criterion to climate mitigation, as there are no further 
requirements for such power plants. The hydropower 
plant with a reservoir is well within the substantial 
contribution criteria of 100 gCO2e/kWh calculated 
with EU’s G-res tool, as well as a power density 
above the limit.

In addition to the substantial contribution criteria, 
the EU taxonomy has three criteria for “Do not 
significant harm” that apply to electricity generation 
from hydropower: Climate adaptation, Water and 
Biodiversity. 

To ensure no significant harm are done under 
Climate adaptation, Cloudberry has conducted 
physical climate risk assessments for each hydro-
power plant. These assessments identify the mate-
riality of risks, document adaptation solutions and 
consider the potential environmental impacts for the 
physical climate risk mitigation strategy. 

To meet the criteria for Water, Cloudberry has 
implemented all feasible and ecologically relevant 
minimum water flow measures and all feasible 
and ecologically relevant measures to protect or 
enhance habitats. Additionally, we have established 
monitoring plans for these measures. This includes 
the measures described in the water management 
plans for 2022-2027, as well as additional measures 
where needed. 

Environmental Impact Assessments (EIA) have been 
conducted, and implementation of mitigation and 
compensation measures for protecting the environ-
ment have been documented. None of the hydro-
power plants are located near biodiversity-sensitive 
areas. For these reasons, Cloudberry considers the do 
no significant harm criteria for biodiversity to be met.

For the wind power farms, the same internal analysis 
for physical climate risk assessments has been 
carried out, environmental impact assessments 
conducted and an assessment of the recyclability 
and durability of the material and components has 
been performed. 

The EU Taxonomy has a general minimum safeguard 
criterion for all economic activities. Cloudberry 
follows the OECD Guidelines for Multinational 
Enterprises and the UN Guiding Principles on 
Business and Human Rights, and has assessed risk 
for anti-bribery, anti-corruption, remuneration of 
staff and tax compliance. The relevant governance 
practices (management structures, and whistle 
blower mechanisms) are documented.

DNV has issued verification statements for  
each of Cloudberry’s hydropower plants.

For the wind farms, the same exercise for physical 
climate risk assessments has been carried out, 
environmental impact assessments conducted and 
an assessment of the recyclability and durability of 
the material and components has been performed.

Page 1 of 3 

  
 

* This statement is provided on a limited assurance basis. This statement is for informational use only and should not be relied upon as legal or professional advice by 
DNV. This statement has been based on a review of received information. DNV shall not be responsible in any way in connection with erroneous or incomplete 
information provided by THE CUSTOMER or any third party, or for the effects of any such erroneous or incomplete information or data whether contained or referred 
to in this document. The findings are reflective of circumstances at the time of issuance only and do not reflect or account for any potential changes that may have 
happened thereafter. The assessment is conducted based on a sampling and within a set of agreed limitations and the result is therefore predicated upon the said 
limitations and defined by the scope of work agreed with THE CUSTOMER. 
 
“DNV” is a trading name of DNV AS. Registered Office:, Veritasveien 1, 1363 Høvik, Norway. www.dnv.com 

Cloudberry Clean Energy, 
BJØRGELVA 
 

 

DNV AS (henceforth referred to as “DNV”) has been 
commissioned by Cloudberry Clean Energy (henceforth 
referred to as “THE CUSTOMER”) to provide EU 
Taxonomy alignment verification for BJØRGELVA.  

DNV has concluded that BJØRGELVA aligns with 
DNV’s interpretation of the EU Taxonomy for 
Sustainable Activities for the eligible activity '4.5 
Electricity generation from hyrdropower' as follows. * 

 

Date of issuance: 15/02/2023 
Date of expiry: 15/02/2024 
Reference number: 2023-0002
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Target
Cloudberry continues to assess the company’s 
economic activities in accordance to the criteria of 
the EU Taxonomy. Alignment to the EU Taxonomy is a 
continuous process and the Do No Significant Harm 
to Water and Biodiversity criteria, must be updated 
yearly to ensure that all feasible mitigation solutions 
are reevaluated, implemented, and followed up. 
We acknowledge that the EU Taxonomy will be 
further updated in the years to come with additional 
requirements, and Cloudberry aims to be top-of-the-
range in terms of transparency and reporting, and 
to be 100 percent aligned to the criteria of the EU 
Taxonomy for our hydro and wind power plants.

Cloudberry currently develops a standalone 
Taxonomy report that will be published going 
forward. The focus of our taxonomy work in 2022 has 
been the company’s producing assets, as they cover 
most of the revenue streams, as well as CAPEX and 
OpEx of our economic activities. 

Cloudberry`s goal is to have 100 percent alignment 
in the coming years. It is crucial for society to shift 
to a low-carbon economy and reach net-zero, while 
doing no significant harm to the environment, water, 
climate adaptation efforts or other sustainability 
goals. Cloudberry will ensure that its organization 
reduces GHG emissions while the activities contrib-
ute to lower emissions in third parties.

Nature impact & biodiversity
Healthy ecosystems and the natural environment 
are essential to humanity’s survival, and a high level 
of biodiversity gives us resilience against shocks and 
diseases. It is therefore essential that we protect 
nature and biodiversity, and this topic is accordingly 
getting more and more attention in sustainability dis-
cussions. The science is clear that we currently are in 
the midst of a massive biodiversity loss, and that this 
loss is at least partially caused by climate change. 
For the sake of the future of us all, we must work to 
protect and strengthen nature and biodiversity. 
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Cloudberry’s operations are closely linked with 
nature and biodiversity in two ways. 

First, through the production of renewable energy, 
we positively impact the energy transition which 
addresses the climate crisis. On the other hand, 
building power plants has a negative impact on the 
natural areas and biodiversity where we operate, 
using natural habitat, destroying local plant life, dis-
turbing wildlife, and impacting people and animals 
with noise and visual disruption. Hydropower plants 
disrupt water flow, change sedimentation patterns 
downstream, create obstacles for fish, and in some 
cases create lakes and flood large areas. Wind 
farms also impact the natural environment, both 
onshore and offshore. The main impacts of onshore 
wind farms include the prominence of wind turbines 
in the landscape, shadows, and noise. Offshore 
wind turbines are less prominent, especially if they 
are far from the shore, although they still disrupt the 
local ecosystem visually and with noise, in addition 
to disrupting the above water visual landscape. To 

protect sea life, there are also specific environmental 
impacts to address when constructing offshore wind 
farms.

Our approach
We aim to contribute to stopping the loss of, and 
even improving, biodiversity. An important part of this 
is ensuring that everyone at Cloudberry understands 
what biodiversity is and why it is important. This 
knowledge will allow biodiversity protection to be 
integrated into every aspect of Cloudberry’s work. 
To structure our work with biodiversity, we will look 
to frameworks such as the Taskforce on Nature-
related Financial Disclosures (TNFD) and the Science 
Based Target Network’s (SBTN) upcoming guidance 
for working with nature protection. The “mitigation 
hierarchy”, is a valuable tool that helps development 
projects prepare for impacts and aim to achieve no 
net loss of biodiversity. The first step in the hierarchy 
is to avoid impacting nature where possible. Where 
impacts are unavoidable, we try to minimize them. 
The next step is to restore the damaged nature after 
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construction, and the final step is to make compen-
sations for any remaining damage. Theoretically, 
a high enough level of compensation could lead 
to projects having a net-positive impact on nature 
(biodiversity net gain). 

Our activities
To understand and assess our impact on biodiver-
sity, Cloudberry will develop a strategy on how to 
track the effects of our impact in our future projects. 
It is essential that we collaborate with partners to 
develop measurement tools. Accordingly, in 2022 
Cloudberry participated in the project group for 
Changing Land use Impact on Biodiversity CLImB, a 
method and tool for measuring biodiversity impact 
and avoidance under development projects. 

Cloudberry always looks for solutions to minimize 
our impact on nature and biodiversity. During the 
construction phases in 2022 we:
	· Consulted with biologists on how to conduct  

early-stage mapping of potential compensation 
areas at the Munkhyttan wind farm development 
project

	· Minimized our nature footprint at the Hån wind 
farm by using just in time deliveries to avoid build-
ing curves for storage of wind turbine blade 

	· Established a fund to safeguard and protect biodi-
versity in and surrounding the river at the Åmotfoss 
hydropower plant 

	· For all early-stage development projects we have 
established a library of ideas and potential solu-
tions on biodiversity and how to minimize nature 
impact

The construction of the Hån wind farm in Sweden, 
at the boarder to Norway, began in August 2021 and 
was in operation in December 2022. With its five tur-
bines, Hån is expected to produce 74 GWh annually. 
The energy is transferred to the Norwegian grid due 
to a lack of capacity in the Swedish grid. Hån is the 
first wind farm in Cloudberry’s portfolio where we 
oversaw the entire process, and sustainability topics 
and assessments on environmental, social and 
governance aspects have been reported on during 
the development and construction phases.
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At Cloudberry we have initiated efforts regarding the 
mitigation hierarchy. As a first step, we work to avoid 
and minimize the impact on nature. What actions 
have you been taking at Hån? 

“We try to minimize the construction area and 
thereby the impact on nature, and we continuously 
learn what we can improve. At Hån we avoided 
building a blade storage area close to each turbine 
and focused on a logistics solution that minimized 
the land claimed. Instead, we built one common 
storage area for all the blades next to the E18 road, 
where nature was already strongly impacted by the 
road. When we add up the total constructed storage 
area, we reduced the impact on nature by 7,500 m2 
compared to constructing a storage area close to 
each turbine. When we planned the roads to each 
turbine, we reused the existing forest roads and tried 
to make the roads and their verges as narrow as 
possible according to laws and regulations. 

When we find new solutions to minimize impact 
on the nature, we share our experiences internally 
so that our knowledge bank grows and brings us 
forward in our journey to minimize our impact on 
nature around our wind parks. I am inspired by our 
examination of how we can restore and compensate 
the nature to support biodiversity in our upcoming 
projects.”

Our ambition at Cloudberry is to reduce our green-
house gas (GHG) emissions and to reach net-zero 
no later than 2040. How have you worked in that 
direction at Hån?  

“At Hån we used up to 70% less concrete by using 
rock-anchored foundations instead of gravity 
foundation depending on the ground conditions. 
It is our base line to always evaluate if we can use 
rock-anchored foundations.”

We are all in a learning process in our aim to be 
nature positive. What will you bring to the next pro-
ject to work even more with the mitigation hierarchy?

“The surfaces to be re-covered after the construc-
tion phase could be replanted with species that 
improve biodiversity and strengthen local resilience. 
All upcoming projects should strive to find oppor-
tunities to create better conditions for biodiversity. 
Which measures that could be relevant are highly 
project specific and should be evaluated in collabo-
ration with experts.”

Hån wind farm

Our project manager at  
Hån wind farm, Sebastian 
Prause, shares his view on 
nature impact and biodiversity 
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Way forward
A goal at Cloudberry is to have a net positive 
impact on both society and nature. This neces-
sitates protecting nature during the construction 
phase, and limiting our land use in order to do the 
least possible damage. We must preserve the 
natural areas near and around our power plants 
and contribute to biodiversity. 

We are still in an early phase, but nevertheless, 
having a net positive impact on nature is of high 
priority to us. Cloudberry will collaborate with 
partners, have policies for biodiversity and nature 
impact, and continue the development of more 
sustainability KPIs and targets related to nature 
impact on our sites. To successfully implement the 
mitigation hierarchy, we will look to collaboration 
opportunities with technical specialists, such as 
ecology experts.  

In each project we evaluate how we can minimize 
our impact on nature and biodiversity, and we 
have a concern for the unique circumstances at 
the site of the projects. E.g., at the Sundby wind 
farm project in Sweden, which will be constructed 
during 2023, we will use steel plates and wooden 
mats on the fields for temporary storage of turbine 
blades. This will reduce Cloudberry’s impact on 
nature.

Circular use of resources and materials
In recent years there has been increasing focus on 
the overuse of resources, their future availability, and 
the impact of heavy resource use on nature. The loss 
of biodiversity is also directly linked to the use of nat-
ural resources. These concerns have led to increas-
ing use of the circular economy concept, where the 
main goal is to keep as many materials as possible in 
the value-chain for as long as possible at as high a 
value as possible. As of today, the renewable energy 
industry is not very circular, and Cloudberry faces 
the same obstacles to circular resource use as other 
renewable energy companies.

Our approach and activities
Cloudberry’s complete material footprint is made 
up of the materials used in our renewable energy 
production, the materials used in our offices, and 
the materials used in the production of all these 
products. The extraction of raw materials and 
subsequent production of the essential components 
for building wind farms and hydropower plants have 

large, negative impacts on nature and produce 
significant amounts of greenhouse gases. At the 
same time, some components, such as wind turbine 
blades, are difficult to dispose of at end-of-life. 
Increasing circular resource use in this area could 
have an enormous impact, and significantly reduce 
Cloudberry’s impact on nature and Scope 3 GHG 
emissions. Additionally, circular resource use could 
reduce our exposure to supply chain disruption risks 
and human and workers’ rights violation risks. 

Unfortunately, our ability to act in this area is some-
what limited by technological maturity, scientific 
advancements, and practical limitations such as 
land leasing agreements. Nevertheless, we strive 
to improve our circular resource use going forward 
and adhere to branch standards. We are currently in 
the process of developing suitable KPIs to track our 
progress.

An important part of limiting our material use is 
ensuring that our assets last as long as possible. 
Through repair and reuse, we can give our assets 
longer lifecycles and reduce our need for new mate-
rials. We further limit our material use by selecting 
products which have a long lifecycle and can be 
repaired.

Åmotsfoss

At Åmotsfoss Kraft hydropower plant, 
Cloudberry has established a fund as an 
initiative to safeguard and protect biodiversity 
surrounding the river, particularly the habitat 
in the river. Cloudberry interacts with local 
communities, striving to establish reconciled 
solutions contributing to a sustainable envi-
ronment for the local inhabitants and society.
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Improving the circularity of our internal resource use 
is an area where we have more control and accord-
ingly have taken more concrete actions. Everything 
starts with how we consider our ESG goals in our 
daily decisions and work. In 2022 Cloudberry moved 
into new offices in Oslo, Norway and established 
an office in Eskilstuna, Sweden. All furniture in both 
offices is second hand and in the Oslo office we 
have reused most of the glass walls that split the 
internal departments. Recycled material and reuse in 
procurement is a way of increasing the circularity of 
our resource use.

Way forward
During spring 2022, Cloudberry acquired the 
long-begun project Sundby that was abandoned 
during construction, with the foundations unused. 
For a long time, the project was ignored due to the 
rapid development of technology, but the recent 
high electricity prices and strained electricity supply 
situation made it important to develop electricity 
capacity wherever possible. Cloudberry believes 
that it is possible to refine the project through 
climate-smart reuse or “making use of unused 

infrastructure”. At Sundby Vindpark, a significant part 
of the existing infrastructure such as foundations, 
roads and support structures will be reused. In 
collaboration with our supplier there will be specially 
designed turbine towers fitting onto the previously 
constructed foundations. This will reduce the GHG 
emissions compared to if the infrastructure had 
been dismantled. Even the existing underground 
cables within the wind farm will be reused, which 
will result in less need for new materials as well as 
a reduction in ground disturbance and impact on 
nature.

On a higher level, we plan to explore further oppor-
tunities for reducing our material use and increasing 
the circularity of the material use we can’t avoid. At 
the same time, we are working to establish a KPI, 
such as reused and recycled material in procure-
ment, which will allow us to monitor our circularity 
over time and ensure that we improve.
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Social

Sustainability ambitions

To act responsibly towards our employees and 
society, being a preferred employer and partner

Providing renewable energy enables society’s 
essential energy transition, and we seek to do this in 
a sustainable and responsible manner. Specifically, 
Cloudberry aims to act responsibly towards our 
employees and society at large and be a preferred 
employer and partner in the renewable energy 
industry. Our materiality assessment and strategy 
update process highlighted three social topics on 
which we will focus most of our efforts 1) engage-
ment, health and safety, 2) diversity and equal 
opportunity, and 3) local community impact.

Cloudberry has responsibility for community 
employee health and safety. This is an area where 
Cloudberry can have a significant impact, and 
good results can, in turn, have a positive impact on 
Cloudberry. Thus, health and safety is a key prior-
ity for us. Fostering diversity, equity and inclusion 
(DEI) in the organization is of high importance for 
Cloudberry. In the fourth quarter 2022 we conducted 
our first employee engagement survey focusing on 
HSE, compliance, work life balance and DEI in the 
workplace. Additionally, Cloudberry recognizes that 
the development of wind farms and hydropower 
plants have a non-desired impact on nature and 
affect local communities. We aim to minimize 
the impact on nature caused by our activities. 
Cloudberry is a responsible developer, we work 
with the communities where we operate, to ensure 

that we make a positive local contribution.  We 
recognize that minimizing damage to nature and 
having a positive relationship with local communities 
contribute to a positive public opinion on renewable 
energy. This may increase future renewable energy 
development, contribute to the energy transition and 
our own economic performance. 

We are in the process of developing further targets 
and KPIs in order to measure our social impact and 
aim to report more fully on this going forward. Our 
current social performance KPIs are presented in the 
table below 1.

Engagement, health, and safety
Ensuring the health, safety, and overall well-being, 
of our employees and others in our value chain 
is essential to Cloudberry’s larger goal to have a 
positive impact on society. Employers have an impor-
tant impact on their employees’ well-being, and 
maintaining high levels of employee engagement 
and establishing a culture of health and safety is of 
utmost importance to us.

Our approach
Cloudberry ensures that construction and operation 
partners maintain adequate safety policies and 
report on a variety of measures to safeguard the 
workplace during development, construction, and 

Key Performance Measures

Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Actual 2022 Target 2023 Target 2025

Social 1 Work injuries (incl. Sub-contractors) 0 0 0 0 0

Employee engagement index N/A N/A 5.2 ≥ 5.2 ≥ 5.3

Female employees % of total 20% 29% 29% 35% > 40%

Female managers % in mgmt. positions 20% 20% 33% 33% > 40%

Female BoD % in total BoD 40% 40% 43% > 40% > 40%

Equal opportunities index N/A N/A 5.2 ≥ 5.2 ≥ 5.3

1	 The reporting covers employees and companies where the Group has more than 50% proportionate ownership. Companies not included are  
Enestor AS, Broentech Solutions AS and Kraftanmelding AS. See note 28 in annual report. 



63Cloudberry Annual report 2022

Sustainability report

operation projects. We have a zero-incident target 
for injuries that cause absence from work, and we 
work steadily to arrive at a stage where there are 
no incidents causing harm to people`s health and 
safety, nor any serious material or environmental 
damages in the development, construction, or oper-
ations phases in our projects and daily operations. 

Cloudberry’s own employees are predominately 
office-based, thus our biggest health and safety 
risks are among our suppliers and contractors. 
Construction is an inherently high-risk activity, and 
we know that our operations have the potential 
to negatively impact the health and safety of our 
value-chain workers. We require that all our contrac-
tors follow Cloudberry’s standards but dependent 
on their own implementation of effective health and 
safety management systems. It is our responsibility 
to have good routines in place to follow up our 
contractors on sites.

Our activities
During 2022, no incidents causing harm to people`s 
health or serious material damage were recorded, 

although two near misses were reported. In one 
of the near misses, a rock rolled down a slope at 
a construction site, and in the other a truck slid off 
a construction road and into a shallow ditch. The 
causes of the incidents were thoroughly investi-
gated, and corrective measures were implemented 
to reduce the risk of similar incidents in the future. 
There were no injuries or material damages detected 
at the site of either incident.

At Øvre Kvemma, a Norwegian hydropower plant 
construction site, an unintended discharge of sludge 
was reported during summer 2022. An investigation 
commenced immediately. Shortly after the incident 
the County Governor (No: Statsforvalteren) concluded 
that no adverse impacts were caused on the envi-
ronment and the case was closed. Cloudberry will 
take over the Øvre Kvemma hydropower plant after 
commissioning in the first half of 2024. We are actively 
engaged with the current owner to ensure learning 
and reduced risk of similar incidents in the future.
 
Health and safety risks at Cloudberry’s construc-
tion and operational projects will increase as the 
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company grows. To address these risks, Cloudberry 
has safety and health guidelines for the work 
environment (“SHA-plans”) on every development 
project and is continuously improving our framework 
and reporting routines. We have weekly construc-
tion meetings for all our projects and have health 
and safety management on site as part of our 
regular supplier dialogue to ensure that routines are 
followed.

In 2022 the sick leave was 1.66% (1.06% in 2021) 
amongst the employees 1 in the Group.

Way forward
Cloudberry aims to continue to prevent incidents 
causing harm to people`s health and safety, and 
serious material or environmental damages. The 
largest health and safety risks are at our develop-
ment, construction and operational projects, and the 

likelihood of injuries caused by work-related acci-
dents will increase with the company’s growth.

We maintain a zero-incident target for injuries and 
have significant liability for health and safety. We 
have mitigation measures in place to avoid injuries 
and material damage. We continue to update our 
routines and reporting structures on health and 
safety policies, and we place high priority on moni-
toring contractor safety, and we perform regular risk 
assessments.

Health and safety are also addressed in our Supplier 
Code of Conduct (SCoC) to ensure a mutual com-
mitment between Cloudberry and our suppliers and 
contractors, and training and awareness is required 
in our agreements with contractors. We continue to 
encourage employee engagement and strengthen 
our focus on risk mitigation activities and preventive 

1	 The reporting covers employees and companies where the Group has more than 50% proportionate ownership. Companies not included are  
Enestor AS, Broentech Solutions AS and Kraftanmelding AS. See note 28 in annual report. 

https://www.cloudberry.no/assets/Supplier-Code-of-Conduct-Cloudberry_2023-03-21-142618_bpqy.pdf
https://www.cloudberry.no/assets/Supplier-Code-of-Conduct-Cloudberry_2023-03-21-142618_bpqy.pdf
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measures, such as providing relevant training to build 
the required competence.

Diversity, equity, and inclusion
Cloudberry’s business rests on a desire to have a 
positive impact on society. Strong, ethical approach 
to diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI) is an important 
part of this. We have a positive impact on overall DEI 
through our dedication to being an equal opportu-
nity employer and encouraging DEI in the workplace. 
This also gives positive impact on our business, as 
our employees are our greatest assets. Diversity 
brings new ideas and perspectives to the table, and 
fosters innovation, development, and growth in the 
company. Our commitment to diversity and inclusion 
is intersectional and encompasses all aspects of 
diversity, including gender identity and expression, 
sexual orientation, disability, ethnicity, age, personal 
beliefs and religion, family leave for childbirth and 
adoption, and care responsibilities. We embrace and 
celebrate differences and believe that a diversified 
workforce is vital for Cloudberry’s success.

Cloudberry experienced significant growth in 2022, 
both in terms of workforce due to the acquisition 
of Captiva Group, and in terms of our expanding 
locations. Cloudberry has 42 employees 1 represent-
ing various backgrounds and competencies from the 
renewable energy sector. Of these, 28 employees 
work out of the main office in Oslo, Norway, and 
five employees work out of the Karlstad office in 
Sweden. In 2022 we opened new offices in Sweden; 
Gothenburg with three employees and Eskilstuna 
with two employees. Additionally, through the 
acquisition of Captiva, Cloudberry has an office in 
Bern, Switzerland, with three employees. In total, the 
company employs 30 men and 12 women. 

Our approach
Our commitment to equal opportunities applies to all 
organizational processes, including but not limited 
to recruitment and hiring, training and development, 
compensation and benefits, and leave of absence. 
Developing a culture of openness, respect and 
support is fundamental for the health and wellbeing 
of our employees.

With a growing number of employees across sev-
eral locations, it is essential for Cloudberry to work 

actively, targeted and systematically to promote 
equality and prevent discrimination in the workplace. 
Following the merger with Captiva Group in 2022, we 
have strengthened our efforts in accordance with 
the expectations set out in the Norwegian Equality 
and Anti-Discrimination Act, more specifically the 
Activity duty. Cloudberry practices a data-driven 
approach to the work on DEI, identifying potential 
obstacles through data-collection, and using the 
insights to identify measures, establish goals, and 
measure progress. The findings and proposed 
measures have been discussed and approved by 
the ESG committee and by the Board of Cloudberry. 

Our activities
In 2022, Cloudberry conducted an employee 
engagement survey with DEI in the workplace as 
one of the focus areas, thus collecting insights rele-
vant for the organization’s work with the Equality Act. 
An equal opportunity index was calculated based on 
the result of five questions covering the employees’ 
perceived DEI, with a score of 5.2 (6 is maximum 
score) in 2022. Cloudberry will work systematically to 
sustain or improve the score in 2023.  

Our commitment to equal opportunities starts at the 
top through our board and management team. The 
results of the survey and suggested measures and 
targets were presented at board level. The compa-
ny’s Code of Conduct was updated and approved 
to reflect expectations from legislation, in addition to 
heightening the company’s ambitions related to DEI 
and the workplace environment.

As part of Cloudberry’s effort to utilize data to 
make informed decisions, the company measures 
and compares gender balance in the organization 
and sets gender balance targets. In 2022, 29 % of 
all employees in Cloudberry are female, and the 
company intends to increase that share to 35 % in 
2023 and a minimum of 40 % by 2025. Cloudberry 
acknowledges the importance external recruitment 
agencies play in creating a balanced workforce and 
aims to keep them accountable through requiring 
the best possible representation in the shortlisting 
of candidates, hence 40 percent female candidates 
in the first selection and female representation in 
following rounds. 

1	 The reporting covers employees and companies where the Group has more than 50% proportionate ownership. Companies not included are Enestor 
AS, Broentech Solutions AS and Kraftanmelding AS. See note 28 in annual report.
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Way forward
Numerous steps to strengthen Cloudberry’s efforts 
have been taken in 2022. With the hiring of a Chief 
Compliance and Organization Officer, we have 
increased our ambitions for the year to come. The 
results from the employee engagement survey 
have been presented to all employees and will be 
discussed in local teams. The teams will decide on 
improvement measures, and the progress will be 
measured through smaller pulse surveys and a new 
annual employee engagement survey in 2023. The 
organization will develop a DEI policy, showcasing 
our commitment to fostering a culture where every-
one can thrive and setting expectations towards all 
employees and partners. The employee handbook 
and guidelines for compensation and benefits will 
also be updated to enable coherency across the 
organization’s policies and guidelines. 

Cloudberry will further ensure knowledge and 
adherence to all company regulation and guidelines 
through the onboarding process of new employees. 
The company’s general meetings and management 
meetings will also set DEI on the agenda, contribut-
ing to raising awareness and sharing experiences. 

Local community impact
For society to achieve a just transition to clean, 
low-emission energy and successfully mitigate 
climate change, renewable energy companies must 
have a net-positive impact on the communities in 
which they operate. It is thus important to under-
stand and address landowners’ and residents’ 
concerns. As a local business partner, Cloudberry’s 

long-term growth strategy is based on creating 
value for all our stakeholders while developing 
essential renewable energy.

Our approach
At Cloudberry, we strive to have a positive impact on 
the communities in which we operate, despite both 
wind- and hydropower having a reputation for being 
unpopular and damaging the local environment. To 
us, responsible behavior towards local communities 
means communicating transparently as well as 
having local presence, providing regular information, 
and working with residents to find the best solutions 
for any issues that arise. The development team 
focuses on developing projects close to our offices, 
if possible, which allows for easy access to project 
facilities. Local presence makes it easier to cooper-
ate with local stakeholders such as municipalities, 
politicians, landowners, and local industry.

Investing in local stakeholders and establishing good 
relationships with the local communities is funda-
mental to Cloudberry’s business. We strive to ensure 
that local voices are heard and accommodated, 
from development through construction, and during 
operation.  

Our activities
We establish balanced contracts with landowners 
and engage with local partners and suppliers when 
possible in our projects. The local municipalities profit 
on the local taxes we pay. For the broader society 
we provide renewable energy and contribute to 
reducing GHG emissions from fossil fuels, thereby 
contributing to meeting the SDGs and the Paris 
Agreement.

Local community impact and value creation are 
important to Cloudberry. We work hard to identify 
local stakeholders’ needs and try to accommodate 
them.

In December 2022 Cloudberry made the final invest-
ment decision to construct the Sundby wind power 
plant (Kafjärden) in Eskilstuna. For the first time in 
Sweden, existing infrastructure will be reused. This 
will result in a lower climate footprint and a shorter 
construction time than usual. The nine wind turbines 
will start supplying renewable energy from late 
2023, with an annual production of 89 GWh, which is 
almost a doubling of current electricity production in 
the municipality.

The war in Ukraine has horrified us all, and is 
a heavy toll on children and families. As part 
of our social engagement at Cloudberry, 
we have supported the important work of 
Save the Children locally in Ukraine to try 
and improve the fundamental needs and 
security for Ukrainian Children. We continue 
to applause and support the vital and brave 
work that Save the Children do in Ukraine.
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How would you describe local value creation at our 
wind power project at Sundby?  

“When we develop and construct wind power plants, 
we affect those in the local area in different ways 
over a longer period of time, and so also when the 
turbines are operating and producing electricity. It is 
important to respect the people who lives in the area, 
and we want to take care of the local knowledge. We 
have a clear ambition to provide jobs for the locals 
where possible, both during the construction of the 
wind power plant and during its operation and main-
tenance. For example, we need service technicians, 
maintenance of the roads, accommodations, and 
meeting facilities.  

We have included a specific budget for environ-
mental and social work in the construction phase. 
In addition, a budget for the production period is 
in place for investment in local initiatives. This is an 
integral part of returning value to the communities in 
which Cloudberry operates.

Seen in a greater perspective, Eskilstuna municipality 
currently consumes almost ten times more electricity 

than what is produced. With the construction of 
Sundby Vindpark, in just a year, we generate almost 
89 GWh new renewable energy in the area, almost 
a doubling of current electricity production. This is 
extremely important to secure the electricity supply. 
For the municipality’s it means possibilities for further 
growth.”

How is it possible constructing a wind power plant  
in just a year?

“This project is very interesting in terms of climate and 
nature impact. The construction of the wind farm 
had already started. A lot of the infrastructure will be 
reused, so will also the foundations. We will use the 
existing support structures for the legs of the crane 
that will lift the turbines into place - not obvious at all, 
but by this we avoid emissions of 700 tCO

2e com-
pared to building new ones. To be able to reuse the 
existing foundations we have also invested in turbines 
with custom designed towers made in collaboration 
with our supplier Vestas. This allows the turbines to fit 
onto the existing foundations, which were originally 
designed for another turbine model.” 

Sundby wind farm

Our project manager at 
Sundby wind farm, Joachim 
Espvik, shares his thoughts on 
local value creation and impact 
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Under the construction phase at the Hån wind park 
in Sweden, Cloudberry engaged local and regional 
contractors. We also rented the temporary site 
offices from residents in the area. From late 2022 
when Hån was in operation, Cloudberry hired local 
service technicians and subcontractors for road 
maintenance.

A road along the cable route at Hån wind farm, 
originally built for landowners’ vehicles, has been 
adapted for bicycle use. This has led to frequent 
use by people in the area and the initiative reflects 
Cloudberry’s intention to understand and interact 
with the local communities and is an example of 
Cloudberry’s continuous efforts to make positive 
local contribution.

At Munkhyttan wind farm development project, 
Cloudberry is in dialogue with the municipality to 
assess the possibilities for cycling and will connect 
Munkhyttan biking trails to other nearby biking trails 
in the region.

At the Björnetjärnsberget wind development project 
Cloudberry is looking into finding synergies and solu-
tions with a local sawmill. Wind power development 
will ensure power supply to the sawmill and provides 
an opportunity to increase its production with 
sufficient access to electricity. The project is plans 
to hand in the permit application during 2023. More 
detailed work and dialogue with the municipality 
will continue once the project gets its environmental 
permit. Cloudberry will also rent local venues under 
the construction phase at the Björnetjärnsberget 
project.

Cloudberry interacts with local communities and 
strives to establish reconciled solutions and contrib-
ute to a sustainable environment for the local soci-
ety. As a part of the local stakeholder management, 
Cloudberry initiated a meeting with the landowners 
at the hydropower plant Åmotsfoss in Norway. 
Cloudberry has established a fund as an initiative to 
safeguard and protect biodiversity surrounding the 
river, particularly the habitat in the river. 

At the Åmotsfoss hydropower plant we have also 
built a canoe paddling trail to facilitate paddling next 
to the power plant. In 2023 we plan to invest in canoe 
trolleys at the hydro plant to make the passing easier 
for the canoes.

The construction of the Norwegian Odal wind power 
plant was completed at the end of 2022 and all 
turbines have been in operation since then. We have 
contributed to more job opportunities and increased 
revenue for local businesses both in Nord-Odal 
municipality and in neighboring municipalities. The 
construction phase also made significant local 
contributions through the purchasing of overnight 
accommodation and food service. In the years 
ahead, we will use local suppliers whenever possible 
for snow plowing, road maintenance, modifications, 
electro upgrades and more. Private landowners 
will receive compensation based on turnover. A 
ski resort will be established, and the roads and 
infrastructure will make the area more accessible 
for anyone who wants to go hiking or access the 
surrounding nature. The fund “Odal Vind-fondet” 
contributes to growth and well-being in the local 
community and annually supports local teams 
and associations in Nord-Odal, Eidsvoll and Nes 
municipalities.

Way forward
Acting responsibly towards our employees and 
society is firmly connected to our actions in the local 
communities in which we operate. We shall be a 
preferred employer and business partner, and our 
goal is to create value together and share the result 
of our efforts fairly.

In the years to come we aim to evaluate how our 
local value creation initiatives have succeeded and 
been perceived by local stakeholders over time. 
Therefore, one of our main activities going forward 
related to this material topic will be developing suit-
able KPIs to track and report on the value we create 
in local communities and our overall community 
impact. Additionally, we will continue to seek cooper-
ation opportunities with local communities and other 
stakeholders to ensure their needs are met and that 
value is created for them when we develop, con-
struct, and operate our assets. Cloudberry will strive 
to engage local stakeholders through meetings and 
site visits, with the aim of learning from every project.
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Governance

Sustainability ambitions

To ensure solid governance internally  
andin our value chain at all times

Responsible and good governance forms the 
basis for good business, and it is our ambition at 
Cloudberry to always ensure solid governance inter-
nally and in our value chain. Correspondingly, our 
materiality assessment has identified 1) responsible 
business conduct and 2) responsible value chain as 
material topics. 

Acting responsibly throughout the whole organiza-
tion and in our value chain is essential. Cloudberry 
sets high ethical behavior standards for everyone 
who acts on behalf of the company. We also aim to 
reduce business risk to safeguard the company’s 
reputation. We need to ensure that our operations 
do not violate any human or workers’ rights viola-
tions. Having a responsible value chain will benefit 
Cloudberry and limit our risk exposure to value 
chain disruption and our exposure to reputational 
risks. Cloudberry also focuses on responsible 
business conduct, which sets the basis for good 
business relationships and predictability. This makes 
Cloudberry a desirable business partner, securing 
future opportunities for the company.
 
Responsible business conduct
Conducting our business in a responsible way 
ensures our continued development and oper-
ation of renewable energy plants in the future. 
Well designed and implemented procedures and 
expectations for responsible business conduct 
also ensures fair decision-making processes as 
well as responsible consideration of important 

environmental and social impacts and financial risks. 
We can have a positive impact on overall business 
conduct by choosing to only work with suppliers and 
partners which live up to our standards. We minimize 
risk in this area by being as transparent as possible 
in all our activities.

Our approach and activities
Cloudberry`s commitment to sustainability starts 
at the top of the organization with the company`s 
Board of Directors and the management team. The 
company strengthened the management team 
and hired a Chief Compliance and Organization 
Officer (CCO). At the management level, the CEO 
and the CCO monitors the implementation of the 
sustainability strategy. They are responsible for 
ensuring that environmental, social and governance 
risks and climate-related risks and opportunities are 
integrated into the company’s long-term business 
strategy. The CEO oversees and reports to the 
Board of Directors on the management’s progress 
related to Cloudberry’s key strategic sustainability 
and climate-related topics. At the operational level, 
the Chief Sustainability Officer (CSO) is responsible 
for managing sustainability. The CCO and CSO 
meet once a week to discuss and ensure that the 
ESG strategy is implemented in daily operations in 
all business units. Furthermore, the CCO and CSO 
work together to prepare ESG topics for both the 
management and the Board of Directors, and they 
ensure progress on ESG initiatives and reporting. 

Key Performance Measures

Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Actual 2022 Target 2023 Target 2025

Governance Prescreening of suppliers N/A N/A 10% 50% 100%

Whistle-blowing incidents N/A 0 0 N/A N/A

Compliance training N/A 100% 36% 100% 100%
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Chief Executive 
Officer

ESG / Organization / 
Compliance

Finance

Development Production Operations (Captiva)

In 2022 Cloudberry has further developed its 
alignment with The Task Force on Climate-related 
Financial Disclosure (TCFD) framework. Please 
confer the Environment section for information 
regarding our work to improve our maturity on the 
TCFD recommendations. The TCFD report and the 
scenario analysis are also available on our website.

The Chief Compliance and Organization Officer 
(COO) is a new member of the Environmental, 
Social and Governance (ESG) Committee. The other 
members of the committee are the CSO and two 
Board members. During 2022 the committee held 
eight meetings, a doubling from 2021. The purpose 
of these meetings is to ensure alignment with the 
company`s sustainability strategy and to discuss 
and evaluate ESG topics relevant to Cloudberry. The 
committee is responsible for evaluating and follows 
up on the administration’s implementation of the 
ESG strategy in all business units. The committee 
will be holding a minimum of four meetings annu-
ally, in line with the quarterly reporting structure. 

However, more meetings are likely to be scheduled, 
to review relevant ESG initiatives, topics and KPIs, 
in line with the sustainability ambitions and targets. 
Incorporating sustainability focus in the day-to-day 
business is a continuous process in the organiza-
tion’s business units and its total  value chain.

In 2022 Cloudberry established an ESG project group 
with the intention of securing integration of environ-
mental, social and governance ambitions and topics 
in all business units in the company. The group con-
sists of employees representing different divisions of 
the company. In each workplace they actively work 
to improve methods and internal routines for ESG 
compliance. The team meets every second week to 
discuss important questions regarding sustainability 
within the company. In addition the group arranges 
a yearly ESG workshop with attendance from a 
broader representation of employees. Other work-
shops and events related to ESG are held to incorpo-
rate ESG tools in the whole organization. 

Board of Directors

General Meeting

ESG  
Committee

Audit 
Committee

Compensation 
Committee

Nomination 
Committee

https://www.cloudberry.no/assets/TCFD-Report-2022-Cloudberry.pdf
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In 2022 Cloudberry implemented a supplier declara-
tion form which is used as a basis for pre-screening 
of suppliers of products and services to Cloudberry. 
The declaration form is a prequalification and 
reflects regulatory requirements, quality, sustainabil-
ity topics and Health, Safety and Environment (HSE). 
Its use will be embedded in the overall assessment 
when choosing a supplier for a project. Cloudberry 
implemented the procedure in late 2022, and there-
fore the actual number of pre-screened suppliers in 
2022 is low. The declaration form will be incorporated 
in processes with suppliers of significance from 
2023, and we have set targets to pre-screen 50% of 
the suppliers in 2023 and 100% in 2025. 

Cloudberry`s Code of Conduct was updated and 
approved by the Board of Directors in December 
2022, with the requirements in the Norwegian 
Equality and Anti-Discrimination Act, and 
Cloudberry’s ambitions related to diversity, equity, 
and inclusion (DEI) and workplace environment. 

During 2022 all of Cloudberry’s employees adhered 
in writing to the Code of Conduct, as a part of an  
annual mandatory process. All employees in the 
Cloudberry Group including Captiva will be trained 
in and expected to comply with Code of Conduct 

during 2023. Follow-up on the company`s values and 
training in the Code are integrated in the onboarding 
of new employees. 

A whistleblowing channel is available on our website 
to all our employees, suppliers, partners, and other 
stakeholders. Our whistleblowing policy is also avail-
able on the company`s website. Cloudberry aims for 
zero whistleblowing incidents in the years to come 
(N/A), but we want to be made aware of all and any 
irregularities or concerns regarding the organization 
and our business. All notifications may be reported 
anonymously, and the whistleblowing channel is 
operated by an independent third party. There 
were no whistleblowing reports and no reported 
nor detected incidents of corruption or fraud during 
2022.

Compliance with all laws and regulations is of 
the highest importance to Cloudberry. In fall 2022 
the Norwegian Labor Inspection Authority (NO: 
Arbeidstilsynet) ordered one of Cloudberry’s sub-
sidiaries to address minor deviations in terms and 
conditions related to employment. The deviations 
were immediately corrected and the case was 
quickly closed by the authority. Cloudberry has taken 
measures to ensure that all employment conditions 

https://www.cloudberry.no/assets/Code-of-Conduct-Cloudberry_2023-03-21-142651_hbvt.pdf
https://cloudberry.integrity.complylog.com/
https://www.cloudberry.no/assets/Whistleblowing-Policy-Cloudberry.pdf
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meet the correct standards and to ensure proper 
learning from this incident.

During the construction phase on Hån Wind farm 
Cloudberry initiated a work environment audit. The 
purpose of such audit is to ensure that the execution 
by the project organization complies with all work 
environment laws and regulations. A third-party 
specialist from AFRY was assigned the task and 
performed the audit. The audit displayed that the 
construction of Hån Wind farm was complying with 
current laws and regulations (AML and AFS 1999:3). 
Cloudberry considers project audits to be an assur-
ance to safeguard quality during the construction 
phase. This suport support is welcomed as a neces-
sity for the team involved. 

Way forward
Cloudberry emphasizes responsible business con-
duct throughout the company. We will continue to 
strengthen our procedures and policies and their 
implementation going forward. We will conduct 
annual Code of Conduct and anti-corruption 
trainings and with the target to train 100 percent 
of our employees in 2023. In addition to the annual 
employee engagement survey first held in 2022, 
smaller surveys will be conducted and discussed in 
focus groups across the organization during 2023, as 
part of Cloudberry`s continuous improvement. With 
these measures, we hope to increase the positive 
impact we can have by ensuring that all our employ-
ees act responsibly and select business partners and 
suppliers acting with the same responsibility, and 
thus simultaneously minimize our own financial risk.

Cloudberry has a large network of business part-
ners, and we do our best to work with only transpar-
ent and responsible business associates. Building 
relationships and trust in the value chain allows us a 
greater influence on the work offered. At the same 
time, we are aware of the risk that our suppliers and 
business partners in the value chain may not always 
act responsibly, and will carry out audits and other 
control measures to mitigate the risk. 

Responsible value chain
Cloudberry is dependent on a large network of 
suppliers and has an elevated risk of human and 
labor rights issues in the value chain. Our materiality 
assessment reflected the importance of ensuring 
a responsible value chain including decent working 
conditions. We have, from inception, focused on min-
imizing value chain risk and selecting well reputed 
local or European suppliers where possible. To 

uncover supply chain risks and illegal practices, we 
currently focus control measures on suppliers when 
it comes to responsible value chain, including decent 
working conditions and human and workers’ rights.

Our approach
Cloudberry has developed guidelines to maintain 
decent working conditions and prevent violation of 
human rights, corruption, and environmental harm 
internally and in our value chain. These guidelines 
and procedures are evaluated on an annual basis. 
The standards Cloudberry adheres to in our own 
operations can be found in the organization’s Code 
of Conduct (CoC). We expect our business partners 
and suppliers to uphold the same ethical standards 
and have highlighted our standards in the Supplier 
Code of Conduct (SCoC).

Suppliers Code of Conduct
Adherence to the Supplier Code of Conduct (SCoC) 
is required of all suppliers and adherence is imple-
mented in procurement phases. We expect our 
suppliers and partners to uphold the standards in 
the SCoC and that their policies, statements, and 
commitments are enforced in their operations, and 
in their sub-suppliers. The SCoC is reviewed annually 
to ensure incorporation of relevant developments.

Human and Labor Rights 
Cloudberry is committed to operating in accord-
ance with responsible, ethical, and sound business 
practices. We have the duty to respect fundamental 
human- and labour rights, protect health and safety, 
to ensure environmental and nature management, 
prevent corruption, and care for local commu-
nities. Our commitments towards human- and 
labour rights are built on internationally recognized 
standards for responsible business conduct. The 
standards are understood at a minimum as the 
human rights expressed in the International Bill of 
Human Rights, as well as the principles set out in the 
International Labour Organizations (ILO) Declaration 
on Fundamental Principles and Rights at work. 
Cloudberry complies with high ethical standards, 
applicable laws, and regulations wherever we operate. 

Cloudberry has worked systematically with its social 
responsibility since the conception of the company. 
We work closely with our suppliers and business 
partners to enable sustainable and just value chains. 
Before financial investment decisions (FID) are made, 
ESG topics are considered in the due diligence 
process. Mitigation plans are implemented where 
needed. Both positive and negative impacts must 

https://www.cloudberry.no/assets/Code-of-Conduct-Cloudberry_2023-03-21-142651_hbvt.pdf
https://www.cloudberry.no/assets/Code-of-Conduct-Cloudberry_2023-03-21-142651_hbvt.pdf
https://www.cloudberry.no/assets/Supplier-Code-of-Conduct-Cloudberry_2023-03-21-142618_bpqy.pdf
https://www.cloudberry.no/assets/Supplier-Code-of-Conduct-Cloudberry_2023-03-21-142618_bpqy.pdf
https://www.cloudberry.no/assets/Supplier-Code-of-Conduct-Cloudberry_2023-03-21-142618_bpqy.pdf
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be assessed and documented before FID. In tender 
processes Cloudberry pre-screens new suppliers 
and partners with a pre-qualification related to 
material ESG topics. This ensures awareness and 
commitment to sustainability in the value chain. 
In accordance with the Norwegian Transparency 
Act, Cloudberry has incorporated human rights due 
diligence in accordance with the OECD guidelines 
for Multinational Enterprises and the United Nations 
Guiding Principles for Business and Human Rights.

Our activities
The act relating to enterprises’ transparency and 
work on fundamental human rights and decent 
working conditions (the Norwegian Transparency 
Act) came into force in 2022. The main purpose of 
the Act is to promote companies’ respect for funda-
mental human rights and decent working conditions 
in connection with the production of goods and 
provision of services.

As a company affected by the law, Cloudberry con-
ducted a risk assessment in accordance with OECD 
guidelines based on ISO31000 for managing risks, 
to address the requirements for due diligence in 
accordance with the legal framework. The process 
was conducted through several interviews and work-
shops with key personnel with insight into relevant 
value chains, including the top management.

Cloudberry’s suppliers are international, national, 
and local. In the due diligence assessment, we have 
primarily looked at the risk associated with players 
with direct supply to the entire business. In many 
contexts, Cloudberry uses large suppliers over which 
it has limited influence. The work around the due 
diligence assessment therefore focused on those 
suppliers and business associates where Cloudberry 
is a direct legal counterpart and has a real opportu-
nity to influence.

The due diligence assessment related to the 
Transparency Act is published on our website.  A list 
of concrete initiatives and measures was developed 
to reduce the likelihood of the identified threats 
and to strengthen Cloudberry’s ability to deal with 
them if they do occur. The measures mainly focus 
on reinforcingCloudberry’s inquiries into the status of 
human rights and decent working conditions related 
to suppliers. This involves, among other things, 
increased supplier dialogue on these topics as well 
as clarifying internal routines and responsibilities 
to employees authorized to make procurements 

(project managers, business unit leaders etc). This 
increases their awareness of the content, and 
adherence to, the Transparency Act.

Way forward 
In accordance with these findings and the identi-
fied improvement measures, Cloudberry currently 
develops the necessary guidelines, internal systems, 
and routines for conducting due diligence assess-
ments and complying with other obligations of the 
Transparency Act. The company will publish a report 
on the due diligence assessment in accordance with 
the expectations of the Transparency Act by 30 June 
2023. The report will be made publicly available on 
Cloudberry’s website.  

Cloudberry acknowledges that due diligence 
assessment is a dynamic and continuous process as 
circumstances in the organization’s operating envi-
ronment are constantly changing. We will develop 
routines and systems to work preventively to miti-
gate potential negative impacts of our operations. 
Accordingly, the company will establish risk-based 
audits in the supply chain to secure the best risk 
management and practice on environmental, social 
and governance topics within the supply chain.

We believe that securing responsible business 
conduct and good governance, internally and in 
our value chain, contribute to a long-term positive 
reputation making Cloudberry a desirable employer 
and business partner.

Cloudberry adheres to good governance stand-
ards and always seeks to live up to the Norwegian 
Code of Practice for Corporate Governance (the 
“Corporate Governance Code”), last revised on 
14 October 2021. The Code is available at the 
Norwegian Corporate Governance Board’s NUES 
website. Our adherence includes disclosure and 
transparency throughout our business to provide 
shareholders and stakeholders with accurate and up 
to date information about Cloudberry.

For more detailed information on Corporate 
Governance Code please confer Cloudberry`s 
Corporate Governance Report 2022, also available  
in the Annual Report 2022.

Contact person for this sustainability report:
Suna F. Alkan, Chief Sustainability Officer
sa@cloudberry.no

https://www.nues.no
https://www.nues.no
https://www.cloudberry.no/assets/Corporate-Governance-Report-2022.pdf
mailto:sa%40cloudberry.no?subject=
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GRI index

Disclosure Location Comment

General Disclosures

1. The organization and its reporting practices

2-1	 Organizational details  Executive Management

2-2	 Entities included in the organization’s 
sustainability reporting 

About the report

2-3 	 Reporting period, frequency and contact point  About the report

2-4 	 Restatements of information  Overview and highlights, Sustainability 
Report: Introduction, Environment, 
Social, Governance

New structure from 
WEF to ESG, inspired 
by GRI

2-5 External assurance  - No external assurance 
of the report

2. Activities and workers

2-6	 Activities, value chain and other business relationships  Annual report: overview and highlights

2-7	 Employees  Sustainability Report: Social: Diversity 
Equity and Inclusion

2-8	 Workers who are not employees  - Information 
unavailable, new topic 
from reporting 2022

3. Governance

2-9	 Governance structure and composition  Corporate Governance Report

2-10	 Nomination and selection of the 
highest governance body 

Corporate Governance Report

2-11	 Chair of the highest governance body  Corporate Governance Report

2-12	 Role of the highest governance body in 
overseeing the management of impacts 

Corporate Governance Report

2-13	 Delegation of responsibility for managing impacts  Corporate Governance Report

2-14	 Role of the highest governance body 
in sustainability reporting 

Corporate Governance Report

2-15	 Conflicts of interest  Corporate Governance Report

2-16	 Communication of critical concerns  Sustainability Report: Governance: 
Responisble Business Conduct

2-17	 Collective knowledge of the highest governance body  Board of Directors

2-18	 Evaluation of the performance of the 
highest governance body 

Corporate Governance Report

2-19	 Remuneration policies  Financial Statements

2-20	 Process to determine remuneration  Financial Statements

2-21	 Annual total compensation ratio  Financial Statements
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4. Strategy, policies and practices

2-22	 Statement on sustainable development strategy  Sustainability Report: Introduction

2-23	 Policy commitments  Sustainability Report: Governance: 
Responisble Business Conduct, Human 
and Labor Rights

2-24	 Embedding policy commitments  Sustainability Report: Governance: 
Responisble Business Conduct, Human 
and Labor Rights

2-25	 Processes to remediate negative impacts  Sustainability Report: Environment, 
Social, Governance

2-26	 Mechanisms for seeking advice and raising concerns  Sustainability Report: Governance: 
Responsible Business Conduct

2-27	 Compliance with laws and regulations  Sustainability Report: Governance: 
Responsible Business Conduct

2-28	 Membership associations  - Not applicable

5. Stakeholder Engagement

2-29	 Approach to stakeholder engagement  Sustainabiltiy Report: Introduction: 
Stakeholder dialogue and managing 
stakeholder expectations

2-30	 Collective bargaining agreements  - Not applicable

GRI 3: Material Topics

3-1	 Process to determine material topics  Sustainabilty Report: Introduction: 
Double materiality assessment and 
adjusted material topics

3-2	 List of material topics  Sustainabilty Report: Introduction: 
Double materiality assessment and 
adjusted material topics

3-3	 Management of material topics  Sustainabilty Report: Introduction: 
Double materiality assessment and 
adjusted material topics

GRI 201: Economic Performance

201-1	 Direct economic value generated and distributed  Financial Statements

201-2	 Financial implications and other risks and 
opportunities due to climate change 

TCFD Report

201-3	 Defined benefit plan obligations 
and other retirement plans 

Financial Statements

201-4	 Financial assistance received from government  - Not applicable
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Disclosure Location Comment

GRI 205: Anti-Corruption

205-1	 Operations assessed for risks related to corruption  Sustainability Report: Governance: 
Responsible Business Conduct

205-2	 Communication and training about anti-
corruption policies and procedures 

Sustainability Report: Governance: 
Responsible Business Conduct

205-3	 Confirmed incidents of corruption and actions taken  Sustainability Report: Governance: 
Responsible Business Conduct

GRI 304: Biodiveristy

304-1	 Operational sites owned, leased, managed in, or 
adjacent to, protected areas and areas of high 
biodiversity value outside protected areas

- Information 
unavailable, new topic 
from reporting 2022

304-2	 Significant impacts of activities, products, 
and services on biodiversity 

Sustainability Report: Environment: 
Nature impact & biodiversity

304-3	 Habitats protected or restored  - Information 
unavailable, new topic 
from reporting 2022

GRI 305: Emissions

305-1	 Direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions Sustainability Report: Environment: 
Climate change and energy transition

305-2	 Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions  Sustainability Report: Environment: 
Climate change and energy transition

305-3	 Other indirect (Scope 3) GHG emissions  Sustainability Report: Environment: 
Climate change and energy transition

305-4	 GHG emissions intensity  Sustainability Report: Environment: 
Climate change and energy transition

305-5	 Reduction of GHG emissions  Sustainability Report: Environment: 
Climate change and enery transition

305-6	 Emissions of ozone-depleting substances (ODS)  - Not applicable

305-7	 Nitrogen oxides (NOx), sulfur oxides (SOx), 
and other significant air emissions 

- Not applicable
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GRI 306: Effluents and Waste

306-1	 Waste generation and significant 
waste-related impacts 

Sustainability Report: Environment: 
Nature impact & biodiversity

306-2	 Management of significant waste-related impacts  Sustainability Report: Environment: 
Nature impact & biodiversity

306-3	 Waste generated  - Information 
unavailable, new topic 
from reporting 2022

306-4	 Waste diverted from disposal  - Information 
unavailable, new topic 
from reporting 2022

306-5	 Waste directed to disposal  - Information 
unavailable, new topic 
from reporting 2022

GRI 401: Employment

401-1	 New employee hires and employee turnover  Sustainability Report: Social: Diversity 
Equity and Inclusion

401-2	 Benefits provided to full-time employees that are 
not provided to temporary or part-time employees 

- Not applicable

401-3	 Parental leave  Sustainability Report: Social: Diversity 
Equity and Inclusion

GRI 403: Occupational health and safety

403-1	 Ocupational health and safety management system  Sustainability Report: Social: 
Engagement, health and safety

403-2	 Hazard identification, risk assessment, 
and incident investigation  

- Information 
unavailable, new topic 
from reporting 2022

403-3	 Occupational health services   - Information 
unavailable, new topic 
from reporting 2022

403-4	 Worker participation, consultation, and 
communication on occupational health and safety 

- Information 
unavailable, new topic 
from reporting 2022

403-5	 Worker training on occupational health and safety   - Information 
unavailable, new topic 
from reporting 2022
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Disclosure Location Comment

GRI 405: Diversity and Equal Opportunity

405-1	 Diversity of governance bodies and employees  Board of Directors, Sustainability 
Report: Social, Corporate Governance 
Report

405-2	 Ratio of basic salary and remuneration 
of women to men 

- Information 
unavailable, new topic 
from reporting 2022

GRI 413: Local Communities

413-1	 Operations with local community engagement, 
impact assessments, and development programs 

Sustainability Report: Social: Local 
community impact

413-2	 Operations with significant actual and potential 
negative impacts on local communities 

Sustainability Report: Social: Local 
community impact

GRI 414: Supplier Social Assessment

414-1	 New suppliers that were screened using social criteria  Sustainability Report: Governance: 
Human and Labor Rights

414-2	 Negative social impacts in the supply 
chain and actions taken 

Sustainability Report: Governance: 
Responsible value chain, Human and 
Labor Rights
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Appendix

Scope 3 breakdown 

Category 1 (purchased goods and services): For 2022 
Cloudberry reported a total of 6 tCO2e in Category 1. 
These emissions include the transportation between 
service providers’ location and the locations of 
hydro plants and wind farms that received service. 
This was a total of 31,425 km. Cloudberry’s reporting 
system aims to include irregular emissions, such 
as those from the production and replacement of 
major parts and onsite work. For example, four days 
of work with an excavator at the hydropower plant 
Finnesetbekken has been included under Category 
1.  For the years in which we have construction using 
concrete, steel, copper, the associated emissions, 
and other construction related emissions, these will 
be reported under Category 1.

Category 2 (capital goods): This report includes 
the emissions from the production, transportation, 
and installation of wind turbines purchased by 
Cloudberry. In 2022, this amounted to 10,693 tCO2e 
and included the wind turbines at the Odal and 
Hån wind farms. This was the most significant 
component of Cloudberry’s scope 3 emissions, 
accounting for 99.7% of the total GHG emissions 
(Scope 1, Scope 2 and Scope 3). Our calculations 
are based on LCA numbers provided by the turbine 
manufacturer, adapted to fit site specific numbers 
such as hub height and wind conditions. Going 
forward, Cloudberry will report these emissions in 
line with payments made to the turbine manufac-
turer. I.e., when 20% of the payments are made, 
20% of the emissions are reported. Cloudberry has 
adopted this approach as the payments follow the 
construction progress and the production under 
the turbine supply agreement. The exception is the 
initial payment under the supplier agreements, as 
the carbon emissions will occur at a later stage in 

the production cycle of the machinery. The number 
reported for 2022 includes 17% and 60% of the total 
Category 2 emissions for the construction of the 
wind farms Odal and Hån respectively. 

Category 3 (Fuel-and-energy related activities): In 
accordance with the GHG protocol, Cloudberry 
reports the well-to-tank and transmission & distribu-
tion emissions related to the electricity use at the 
powerplants and offices. Since the power plants and 
offices are in the Nordics, this accounted for only a 
minor portion of the total emissions.

Category 5 (waste management): Cloudberry 
reports on waste management from our offices, 
projects under construction, and power plants 
under operation. Waste from Cloudberry’s offices 
in Oslo, Karlstad, Eskilstuna and Särö accounted 
for 5,932 kilograms. The waste from Hån wind farm 
during construction in 2022 totaled 28,910 kilograms. 
Combined, all of Cloudberry’s waste management 
contributed to 11 tCO2e.

Category 6 (business travel): Cloudberry reports 
emission from air travel, rental cars and milage 
allowance, which in total accounted for 11 tCO2e.

Category 15 (investments): Cloudberry reports the 
electricity used in the hydropower plants in Forte 
Energy Norway AS, where the company has 34% 
ownership.

The total registered emissions from Scope 3 were 
10,723 tCO2e in 2022. Cloudberry will continue to eval-
uate and include more aspects of emissions from its 
value chain activities going forward.
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1. Implementation and reporting 
on corporate governance 
This report has been prepared by the Board 
of Directors of Cloudberry Clean Energy ASA 
(“Cloudberry” or the “Company”) and presents the 
corporate governance of the Company. Cloudberry 
is incorporated and registered in Norway and is 
subject to Norwegian law. The Company is listed on 
Oslo Stock Exchange. Cloudberry considers good 
corporate governance to be the foundation for value 
creation and trustworthiness, and it is integrated in 
our approach to sustainability where we focus on 
environmental, social and governance topics (ESG).

As a public limited liability company listed on Oslo 
Stock Exchange, the Company must comply with the 
Norwegian Securities Trading Act and Regulation, 
the Issuer Rules for Companies Listed on Oslo Stock 
Exchange, the Norwegian Public Limited Liability 
Companies Act, and all other applicable laws and 
regulations.

Further, Cloudberry endorses the Norwegian 
Code of Practice for Corporate Governance (the 
“Corporate Governance Code”), last revised on 14 
October 2021, which is available at the web site of 
the Norwegian Corporate Governance Board

Corporate Governance report

Chief Executive 
Officer

Chief Value 
Officer

Chief Compliance & 
Organisation Officer

The Company’s corporate 
governance structure can be 
illustrated as follows:

Chief Operating 
Officer

Chief Development 
Officer

Chief Technology 
Officer

Board of Directors

General Meeting

ESG  
Committee

Audit 
Committee

Compensation 
Committee

Nomination 
Committee
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www.nues.no. Deviations from the Corporate 
Governance Code must be justified and explained. 
In this report, deviations are discussed under the 
relevant sections. As a general rule, the Board will 
only approve deviations the Board believes are in the 
best interest of the Company and its stakeholders. 
 
To secure strong and sustainable corporate gov-
ernance, it is essential that Cloudberry practices 
a transparent and healthy business with reliable 
financial reporting compliant with legislation and 
regulations. Governing structures and guidelines 
help Cloudberry to ensure that the Company is 
operating in a manner that is justifiable and profita-
ble for the employees, shareholders, partners, other 
stakeholders and the society. References to specific 
policies are included in this corporate governance 
report where relevant. Cloudberry’s corporate gov-
ernance is based on openness, trustful communica-
tion and cooperation between the Company and all 
its stakeholders, and the principle of equal treatment 
of shareholders. 

The report also outlines the Company’s policies and 
practices for corporate governance, in accordance 
with Section 3-3b of the Norwegian Accounting Act.

The Company’s executive management team con-
sists of six members: Chief Executive Officer, Chief 
Value Officer, Chief Compliance & Organisation 
Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Development 
Officer and Chief Technology Officer and together 
the team covers the value chain’s processes. 

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer oversees the 
daily conduct of business, including the effectuation, 
implementation and follow-up of the objectives 
and strategies set by the Board of Directors. Chief 
Executive Officer supervises that Cloudberry’s 
accounts are in accordance with laws and regula-
tions and provides the Board of Directors with the 
necessary information to carry out its administration 
and supervision tasks in a proper manner. 

2. Business 
Cloudberry is a Nordic renewable energy company 
owning, developing and operating renewable energy 
assets such as hydropower plants and wind farms 
in Norway and Sweden. The Company has also 
acquired a portfolio of up to 51 wind turbines mainly 
in Denmark, which will be implemented in the organi-
sation during 2023.

Cloudberry’s operations comply with the objective 
defined in Section 3 of the Company’s articles of 
association (“Articles of Association”) which states 
that “the company’s purpose as the parent com-
pany of a group is to engage in investment activities 
in the energy sector, including developing and 
operating the production of renewable energy and 
activities naturally connected with this”.

Cloudberry’s purpose is “to provide clean renewable 
energy for future generations, developing a sustain-
able society for the long term and creating value for 
stakeholders”. The Company’s corporate strategy is 
to deliver on this purpose, with targets to align strat-
egy execution across the group for the long term.

Cloudberry’s success factor is its continuous ability 
to grow and mature an in-house development 
portfolio and scanning for attractive and strate-
gic acquisitions and growth opportunities. The 
Company has a solid development track record and 
a large production portfolio with both hydro and 
wind assets. 

Cloudberry’s integrated business model is based 
on a partnering model for construction, operations 
and maintenance to ensure risk-sharing, quality, 
cost and capital efficiency across the value chain. A 
sustainable and local approach is distinctive for our 
ownership, development and operations and going 
hand in hand with a commitment to long-term value 
creation for all stakeholders. Power produced and 
transferred to the transmission and distribution net-
work equals our sales volume. Cloudberry’s revenue 
streams are predominantly determined by power 
sales volume and actual power price achieved in the 
spot market (Nord Pool). Over time, Cloudberry seeks 
a balanced mix between spot pricing and long-term 
fixed purchase price agreements (PPAs). Cloudberry 
cultivates our portfolio to ensure a diversification 
and balance of risk, returns, asset- and geographical 
mix. 

Cloudberry considers ESG related factors relevant 
and important  when making business decisions, 
and the Board of Directors identifies and assesses 
which aspects of sustainability are relevant to the 
Company. Cloudberry builds robustness through a 
diversified and balanced portfolio and uses compet-
itive financing to deliver sustainable, profitable and 
long-term growth. 
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Cloudberry has defined its purpose, and the values 
and commitments define the Company’s way of 
working. In combination with the Company’s culture, 
this forms the fundamental structure on which the 
Board and the Management believe Cloudberry 
should be managed. Cloudberry’s value-based 
culture is the key premise for the behaviour of the 
Company and the Company’s employees. The 
core values are: Be Supportive, Be Committed, Be 
Excellent, and Be Bold. Cloudberry aims to always 
maintain high ethical standards, and the employees 
must comply to its guidelines for ethics and corpo-
rate social responsibility describing the principles 
for business practices and personal behaviour 
within Cloudberry. The employees must comply with 
Cloudberry’s principles on issues such as human 
and labour rights, health and safety, business ethics, 
legal compliance, insider trading, whistleblowing 
and other relevant issues related to the Company’s 
operations and adhere to the Company’s Code of 
Conduct.  

Sustainability is a rapidly developing field, and ensur-
ing sustainable business operations is an ongoing 
process. Cloudberry follows the developments and 
changes in reporting standards closely, in addition 
to new demands due to growth and changes in the 
Company. In line with this, Cloudberry decided in 
2022 to look to the European Sustainability Reporting 
Standards (ESRS) requirements, set by the Corporate 
Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD), rather 
than the World Economic Forum (WEF) Stakeholder 
Capitalism reporting framework. The ESRS stand-
ards are based on the Environment, Social, and 
Governance (ESG) structure. 

Cloudberry has described its approach, activities 
taken place in 2022, ambitions and way forward 
related to the identified sustainability topics for the 
Company in the Sustainability report for 2022.

Deviations from Section 2 of the Corporate 
Governance Code: None

3. Equity and dividends 
Capital adequacy 
The Company’s management and Board of Directors 
monitor the Company’s capital structure on a contin-
uous basis, including equity and liquidity, to ensure 
that the level of equity and liquidity, are appropriate 
for the Company’s objectives, strategy and risk 

profile. As of 31 December 2022, Cloudberry’s equity 
amounted to NOK 3 794 million, equivalent to 82% of 
the company’s total assets. The debt ratio was 18%. 

Cash equivalents and current financial investments 
amounted to NOK 1 538 million. 

Dividend policy
The Company has adopted a dividend policy which 
mandates that the Company in the short to medium 
term intends to use its profit for both organic growth 
and acquisitions and consequently will not make 
payment of dividend. 

The Company’s long-term objective is to pay share-
holders consistent and growing cash dividends. 
Over time, the intention is to pay its Shareholders 
dividends representing 30 – 50% of free cash distrib-
uted from the producing power plant companies. 
However, there can be no assurance that in any 
given year a dividend will be proposed or declared, 
or if proposed or declared, that the dividend will be 
as contemplated by the policy.

Any future dividend proposed by the Board will be 
presented to the general meeting for approval. The 
Company does not hold any authorisation to resolve 
dividend distributions. 

Authorisations to the Board of Directors to purchase 
treasury shares and increase the share capital 
The Company’s annual General Meeting held 28 April 
2022, granted the Board of Directors the following 
authorisations to increase the Company’s share 
capital: 

	· Authorisation to increase the company’s share 
capital by up to NOK 14,920,524.94 by issuance of 
up to 59,682,171 new shares each with a nominal 
value of NOK 0.25. The purpose with the authori-
sation was to ensure flexibility to finance potential 
acquisitions and otherwise strengthen the compa-
ny’s equity. NOK 13,136,980.75 of the authorisation 
has been utilised.

	· Authorisation to increase the company’s share 
capital by NOK 100,000.00 by issuance of up to 
400,000 new shares each with a nominal value 
of NOK 0.25. The authorisation is reserved to the 
share purchase programme for the members of 
the Board of Directors. NOK 5,823.75 has been 
utilised.
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As the Company is in a growth phase, the Board 
of Directors will generally propose that the General 
Meeting grants the Board of Directors an authori-
zation to increase the share capital with up to 25% 
of the share capital. Such authorisations will be 
reserved for use in relation to financing of strategic 
growth opportunities and will only be valid until the 
earliest of (i) the next annual General Meeting or (ii) 
30 June the next year. 

The Board of Directors currently holds no authorisa-
tion to purchase treasury shares.

Deviations from Section 3 of the Corporate 
Governance Code: None

4. Equal treatment of shareholders 
Cloudberry has one share class and each share in 
the Company carries one vote at the Company’s 
general meeting. All shares carry equal rights, includ-
ing the right to participate in general meetings. 

The Company’s shareholders have pre-emption 
rights in share offerings according to the Public 
Limited Liability Companies Act. Such pre-emption 
rights may however be set aside, either by the 
General Meeting or by the Board of Directors if the 
General Meeting has granted a Board authorisation 
which allows this.

Any resolution proposed by the Board to set aside 
pre-emption rights will be objectively justifiable 
taking into consideration the common interests of 
the Company and its shareholders, and the basis for 
such deviation will be publicly disclosed through a 
stock exchange notice from the Company. 

Deviations from Section 4 of the Corporate 
Governance Code: None

5. Shares and negotiability 
The Company’s shares are listed on Oslo Stock 
Exchange and are freely transferable. The 
Company’s Articles of Association do not place any 
restrictions on owning, trading or voting for shares in 
the Company. 

Deviations from Section 5 of the Corporate 
Governance Code: None

6. General Meetings 
Notices convening the Company’s General Meetings 
are submitted and announced in accordance with 
applicable law and stock exchange regulations. 
Comprehensive documentation relating to the items 
on the agenda is prepared and made available on 
the Company’s website no later than 21 days prior to 
the General Meeting.

Shareholders who wish to participate in the General 
Meeting must notify the Company within the dead-
line specified in the notice. The deadline is set as 
close to the date of the General Meeting as possible, 
but not earlier than 5 days before the date of the 
General Meeting. In accordance with new regula-
tions in the Public Limited Liability Companies Act 
which enter into force from 1 July 2023, the Company 
will amend its Articles of Association so the deadline 
for notifying the Company cannot be earlier than 
2 business days prior to the date of the General 
Meeting.

In accordance with the rules of the Public Limited 
Liability Companies Act, Cloudberry will facilitate 
for electronic participation in General Meetings, 
unless the Board have a justifiable cause to resolve 
otherwise.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, the 
Board of Directors may resolve that shareholder may 
cast their votes in writing prior to the company’s 
General Meetings. Such votes can also be cast by 
use of electronic communication. The permission to 
cast an advance vote requires the presence of an 
adequate method for authenticating the sender. The 
Board of Directors determines whether an adequate 
method is present prior to each General Meeting. 
The Board of Directors may adopt more detailed 
guidelines for advance voting. It will be stated in the 
notice of each General Meeting whether advance 
voting is permitted and which guidelines, if any, are 
resolved for such voting. 

Shareholders who are unable to attend general 
meetings may vote by proxy. A dual language proxy 
form covering each individual matter on the agenda 
is included in the notice convening the general 
meeting. The Company offers shareholder who are 
not able to attend the general meeting the possi-
bility of issuing a proxy to the chairperson who will 
then represent and vote for the shareholder at the 
general meeting.
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According to the Corporate Governance Code, the 
Board should ensure that the general meeting may 
elect an independent person to chair the meeting. 
Cloudberry will facilitate for this for future general 
meetings.

Cloudberry intends to have representatives of 
the Board of Directors present at the Company’s 
General Meetings. However, the Company will 
normally not have the entire Board of Directors 
participate as this is considered unnecessary. 
This represents a deviation from the Corporate 
Governance Code which states that arrangements 
shall be made to ensure participation by all directors. 
The chairperson of the nomination committee will be 
present at the Company’s General Meetings where 
matters prepared by the nomination committee will 
be dealt with.

Cloudberry facilitates that shareholders may cast 
votes for each individual matter on the agenda, 
including each individual candidate nominated for 
election.

Deviations from Section 6 of the Corporate 
Governance Code: The Corporate Governance 
Code recommend that all members of the Board 
attend the general meetings of the Company. Not 
all board members are present at every general 
meeting of the Company.

7. Nomination committee 
Section 8 of the Articles of Association prescribes 
that the Company shall have a nomination com-
mittee. The nomination committee is elected by the 
General Meeting for a period of two years unless 
the General Meeting decides on a shorter period. 
The members of the nomination committee may be 
re-elected. 

The current members of the nomination committee 
are: 

	· Morten S. Bergesen (chairperson)
	· Joakim Gjersøe
	· Henrik Lund

The composition of the nomination committee 
shall reflect the interests of all shareholders and 
ensure independence from the Board of Directors 
and the executive management. Pursuant to the 
Corporate Governance Code adopted 14 October 
2021, the nomination committee shall not include any 

executive personnel or member of the Company’s 
Board of Directors. No executive personnel or 
members of the Board of Directors in Cloudberry are 
members of the Company’s nomination committee.

The remuneration of the nomination committee is 
determined by the General Meeting.

The nomination committee shall submit its rec-
ommendations to the General Meeting regarding 
election of the chairperson and shareholder elected 
members to the Board of Directors, as well as remu-
neration to the members of the Board of Directors. 
The nomination committee’s recommendations 
shall address how each of the recommended 
candidates will attend to the Company’s interests, 
including with respect to qualifications, capacity and 
independence.

The objectives, responsibilities and functions of 
the committee are further described in the “The 
Nomination Committee Policy”, which was adopted 
by the general meeting on 17 June 2020. The policy is 
available on the Company’s website. 

Information about the composition of the nomina-
tion committee and the deadline for shareholders to 
propose candidates for election, is communicated to 
the Company’s shareholders at www.cloudberry.no.

Deviations from Section 7 of the Corporate 
Governance Code: None

8. Board of directors:  
Composition and independence 
Pursuant to Section 5 of the Articles of Association, 
the Company’s Board of Directors shall consist of 
between three and eight shareholder elected mem-
bers. The current Board of Directors of Cloudberry 
has seven members, consisting of three women and 
four men. 

All members are elected for a term of one year and 
may be re-elected. The chairperson is elected by the 
General Meeting.

Cloudberry encourages the Board members to 
hold shares of the Company and has established a 
separate share purchase program for this purpose. 
According to the program the Board members use 
30% of the fixed gross remuneration (prior to tax) per 
year to acquire shares in the Company. 
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The shareholdings of members of the Board as of 31 
December 2022 are set out in note 27 of Cloudberry’s 
consolidated financial statements (“Financial 
Statements”).

Further, the composition of the Board of Directors, 
and information about the Board members’ back-
ground and qualifications are detailed in the section 
“Board of Directors” of the annual report for 2022. 
The composition of the Board of Directors ensures 
that it can attend to the common interest of all 
shareholders and meets the Company’s need for 
expertise, capacity and diversity. The Board of 
Directors evaluates its own work on an annual basis 
to ensure that it functions efficiently. Detailed infor-
mation regarding meeting attendance, see section 9 
(The work of the Board of Directors) in this report.

All shareholder elected members are considered 
independent of executive management and mate-
rial business contacts. Further, 6 of 7 members of 
the Board are independent of the Company’s main 
shareholders. Nicolai Nordstrand is the general 
manager of Havfonn AS, which as of 31 December 
2022 controlled 8.5% of the shares and votes of 
Cloudberry. At the same time, Havfonn AS, jointly 
with its parent company Snefonn AS, controlled 
14.06% of the share and votes of Cloudberry.

None of the members of the Board of Directors are 
part of Cloudberry’s executive management team, 
but the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Value Officer 
and Chief Compliance & Organisation Officer regu-
larly attends the Board of Directors’meetings. 

Deviations from Section 8 of the Corporate 
Governance Code: None

9. The work of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors emphasises maintaining 
a high standard of corporate governance. The 
Board of Directors is responsible for the over-all 
management of the Company and supervises the 
Company’s day-to-day management and overall 
activities of the Company. 

The Board of Directors has implemented a sepa-
rate “Instructions for the Board of Directors” and 
“Instructions for the CEO”. These instructions provide 
detailed and clear allocation of the responsibilities 
and duties of the Board of Directors and the Chief 
Executive Officer. 

The meetings of the Board of Directors have empha-
sised the Company’s activities, position, financial 
and operational developments, and objectives of 
the Company with its strategy and implementation. 
The Board of Directors has established an annual 
meeting schedule based on quarterly milestones 
and duties. The Board of Directors also prepares 
for general meetings. The Board of Directors had 16 
meetings during 2022. To secure an independent 
discussion and valuation without related parties on 
Board issues, there were two incidents where mem-
bers of the Board of Directors were excused from the 
board meeting.

The Board of Directors’ performance is evaluated 
annually, and the evaluation is made available to the 
nomination committee. 

Transactions with close associates 
The Board of Directors shall ensure that all transac-
tions between the Company and close associates 
are approved by the Board and are in compliance 
with Sections 3-8 and 3-9 of the Public Limited 
Liability Companies Act. Any such agreements must 
be balanced and not give concern for potential 
conflicts of interests with the Company. 

If the Company enters into any agreement exceed-
ing a fair market value of NOK 100,000 with a share-
holder, a shareholder’s parent company, members 
of the Board of Directors, executive personnel, or any 
of their close associates an independent third-party 
valuation shall be obtained. 

Any transactions with close associates shall be 
described in the director’s annual report. 

The audit committee
The Company’s audit committee is governed by the 
Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act 
and a separate instruction adopted by the Board 
of Directors. The members of the audit committee 
are appointed by and among the members of the 
Board of Directors. The majority of the members of 
the audit committee are independent. The com-
mittee performs tasks related to financial reporting, 
the annual accounts and internal control. The audit 
committee has contact with the Company’s auditor, 
which in 2022 attended all meetings. It will be held 
minimum five audit committee meetings per year.
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The compensation committee
The compensation committee is appointed by and 
among the members of the Board of Directors. In 
2022 there were made changes to the members 
of the committee. All its members are independent 
of the Company’s executive management. The 
compensation committee recommends, oversees, 
and approves compensation and remuneration of 
the Company’s executive management, and other 
matters concerning the management.  

The Environmental, Social and Governance 
Committee (ESG) committee
The Company has an ESG committee consisting of 
two Board members. The committee’s purpose is to 
guide and support the Company’s work, anchor its 
commitment, and ensure high standards on both 
strategic and operational levels within environmen-
tal, social and governance aspects.

Code of Conduct
Cloudberry’s Code of Conduct is the basis for the 
Company’s ethical culture. Its purpose is to ensure 
that the Company’s business and investments are 
conducted in a highly ethical manner. 

The Code of Conduct is revised and audited by the 
Board of Directors annually. The Code of Conduct 
applies to all employees in the Cloudberry group, the 
Board of Directors, and other representatives of the 
Company. Every employee of Cloudberry shall act 
in compliance with the Code of Conduct. The Code 
of Conduct shall inter alia ensure that the Board 
members and the executive personnel make the 
Company aware of any material interest they may 
have in matters to be considered by the Board.

Cloudberry is committed to achieving a sustain-
able development in our operations in all general 
terms. Business opportunities aimed at promoting 
a sustainable future shall be a part of Cloudberry’s 
strategic assessments, and we will leverage our 
competence and expertise towards contributing to 
developing a sustainable future. 

Deviations from Section 9 of the Corporate 
Governance Code: None

10. Risk management and internal control 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the 
Company’s risk management and internal control 
systems that are appropriate in relation to the extent 
and nature of the Company’s activities. Both the 

Board of Directors and the management of the 
Company focus on risk management and internal 
controls. 

In 2022, Cloudberry updated the policy and proce-
dures regarding risk management internal control. 
The aim was to heighten the knowledge and aware-
ness of risk, to standardize the process and ensure 
a common framework and definition throughout 
the Group and our different risk processes. The 
Company considers threats and opportunities within 
four main areas; strategic risks, financial risk, market/
external risk and operational risk. 

Risk assessments shall be updated on a quarterly 
basis, unless there are major events influencing the 
risk review of the Group. Then the Company updates 
immediately. The highests risks, calculated by 
considering probability and consequence, and the 
mitigating actions are discissed in the management 
team in Cloudberry, with the audit committee and 
annually with the Board of Directors. 

Prior to every Board meeting and otherwise when 
needed, the CEO reports in writing to the Board of 
Directors on the Company’s position, financial status 
and performance. Through the CEO, the Board of 
Directors is ensuring risk and corporate manage-
ment and that Cloudberry complies with the Public 
Limited Liability Companies Act and other applicable 
laws and regulations in the regions Cloudberry oper-
ates, according to sound ethical principles in terms 
of administrative, technical, business and personnel 
matters.
 
Cloudberry manages the risk through close follow-up 
and monitoring of operating assets and developing 
projects. Procedures and guidelines for the business 
are implemented and reviewed regularly.  

In the annual reporting, the Board of Directors 
reviews the Company’s risk areas. The annual review 
pays attention to inter alia:

	· 	Financial risks, including liquidity, interest and 
foregin exchange rate, inflation and cost control

	· 	Political risk and changes in laws and regulations
	· 	Volatile energy prices and revenue exposure 
	· 	IT/digital risk, including IT fraud and hacker attacs 
	· 	Climate and nature impact risks 

Deviations from Section 10 of the Corporate 
Governance Code: None
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11. Remuneration of the Board of Directors
Cloudberry has established guidelines for salary and 
other remuneration for executive personnel, which 
also covers guidelines for remuneration to the Board 
of Directors. The guidelines have been prepared in 
accordance with Section 6-16a of the Public Limited 
Liability Companies Act.

The remuneration of the Board of Directors is 
resolved by the Company’s General Meeting and 
should reflect the Board of Directors’ responsibly, 
experience, time spent and the complexity of the 
Company’s activities. The Board of Directors’ remu-
neration is not linked to the performance and the 
Board of Directors hold no options in the Company.

The Board of Directors members who participate in 
the audit committee, the compensation committee 
and the ESG committee receive separate compen-
sation for these appointments, which are approved 
separately by the Company’s General Meeting. 

Detailed information on the remuneration of the 
Board of Directors can be found in the Financial 
Statements, note 27. 

As a main rule, the members of the Board of 
Directors shall not have any specific assignments 
for the Company in addition to their appointment as 
members of the Board of Directors.

Deviations from Section 11 of the Corporate 
Governance Code: None.

12. Salary and other remuneration 
for executive personnel
Cloudberry has established guidelines for salary 
and other remuneration for executive personnel. 
The guidelines have been prepared in accordance 
with Section 6-16a of the Public Limited Liability 
Companies Act, with applicable regulations on 
guidelines and reporting of remuneration for leading 
personnel. The main purpose of the guidelines is 
to allow shareholders to influence the parameters 
determining salary and other kinds of remuneration 
to executive personnel and to create a culture for 
remuneration that promotes the Company’s long-
term interests, strategy and the Company’s financial 
sustainability, while at the same time ensuring the 
shareholders’ influence.

By remuneration means all consideration received 
by an individual, including fixed salary, perfor-
mance-based pay and other benefits. The remuner-
ation for leading personnel is based on attracting 
and retaining relevant expertise to further develop 
the Company. The guideline sets out an absolute 
limit for performance-related remuneration.

More detailed information about the individual remu-
neration of the CEO and other leading personnel is 
provided in the Company’s annual report note 12. 
Employee benefits and share based payments and 
the Company’s guidelines on the salary and other 
remuneration for executive personnel will be pub-
lished after the annual General Meeting in 2023.   

Deviations from Section 12 of the Corporate 
Governance Code: None

13. Information and communications
The Board of Directors adopted an investor relations 
policy with a description of the Company’s investor 
information and investor relations policy. The policy 
clarifies roles and responsibilities related to financial 
reporting and contact with the shareholders and the 
investor market. This is to ensure transparency and 
equal treatment of the stakeholders. 

Cloudberry publishes its financial calendar annually 
with a list of dates for important events such as 
annual General Meetings and financial reports. The 
Company practices a silent period of two weeks 
ahead of publication of financial statements.

Cloudberry provides all stock exchange announce-
ments, financial reports and presentations, and other 
IR information at the Company’s web site  
www.cloudberry.no and the information is also posted 
at Oslo Stock Exchanges’ official news channel www.
newsweb.oslobors.no. Cloudberry gives presentations 
in connection with the financial reporting, and these 
presentations are broadcasted digitally.

Deviations from Section 13 of the Corporate 
Governance Code: None

http://www.cloudberry.no
http://www.newsweb.oslobors.no
http://www.newsweb.oslobors.no
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14. Take-overs
The instructions of the Board of Directors of 
Cloudberry contain guidelines on how the Board of 
Directors shall act in the event of a take-over bid.

In such case, the Board of Directors shall ensure 
that the shareholders’ interests are safeguarded 
and that all shareholders are treated equally, and 
that the Company’s activities are not unnecessarily 
interrupted. The Board of Directors shall further 
ensure that all shareholders receive sufficient 
information and are given sufficient time to assess 
the relevant offer. The Board of Directors is respon-
sible of ensuring that the shareholders are informed 
in time to assess the offer. The Board of Directors 
shall not prevent or oppose any takeover bids for 
the Company’s activities or shares but will make a 
recommendation as to whether the shareholders 
should accept the bid. 

Deviations from Section 14 of the Corporate 
Governance Code: None

15. Auditor
The Company’s external auditor is Ernst & Young AS. 

The Board of Directors require the Company’s 
auditor to annually present to the audit committee 
the main features of the plan for the audit of the 
Company. 

The auditor participates in meetings of the Board 
of Directors and the audit committee that deal with 
the annual accounts. At these meetings the auditor 
report on any material changes in the Company’s 
accounting principles and key aspects of the audit, 
comment on any material estimated accounting 
figures and report all material matters on which 
there has been disagreement between the auditor 
and the Company’s executive management.

Further, the Board of Directors has an annual review 
of the Company’s internal control procedures with 
the auditor, including identified weaknesses and 
proposals for improvement. 

The Board of Directors has established guidelines 
in respect of the use of the auditor by the executive 
management for services other than audit. 

The remuneration to the auditor is subject to 
approval by the annual General Meeting. The Board 
of Directors will report to the General Meeting 
details of fees for audit work and any fees for other 
assignments. 

Deviations from Section 15 of the Corporate 
Governance Code: None
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss
1 January - 31 December

NOK million Note 2022 2021

Sales revenue 11 208 35

Other income 11 9 6

Total revenue 217 41

Cost of goods sold (14) (5)

Salary and personnel expenses 12 (91) (28)

Other operating expenses 13 (81) (55)

Operating expenses (186) (89)

Net income/(loss) from associated companies and JV 4, 20 120 16

EBITDA 151 (32)

Depreciation and amortizations 16,17 (35) (10)

Operating profit (EBIT) 116 (41)

Financial income 9,14 67 6

Financial expenses 9,14 (61) (29)

Profit/(loss) before tax 122 (64)

Income tax expense 15 - 1

Profit/(loss) after tax 122 (63)

Profit/(loss) attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent  118 (63)

Non-controlling interests 3 -

Earnings per share (NOK):

Continued operation

 - Basic 26 0.47 (0.40)

 - Diluted 26 0.47 (0.40)
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
1 January - 31 December

NOK million Note 2022 2021

Profit for the year 122 (63)

Other comprehensive income

Items which will not be reclassified over profit and loss - -

Items which may be reclassified over profit and loss in subsequent periods

Net movement of cash flow hedges 10 91 3

Income tax effect 10 (20) (1)

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 30 (9)

Net other comprehensive income 101 (7)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 223 (70)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent company 219 (70)

Non-controlling interests 3 -
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Consolidated statement of financial position 

NOK million Note 31.12.2022 31.12.2021

ASSETS

Non-current assets 

Property, plant and equipment 16 1 597 1 009

Intangible assets 17 86 -

Goodwill 17 143 38

Investment in associated companies and JVs 20 890 677

Financial assets and other assets 9 105 10

Total non-current assets 2 821 1 735

Current assets 

Inventory 18 106 154

Accounts receivables 52 12

Other assets 86 103

Cash and cash equivalents 21 1 538 1 115

Total current assets 1 782 1 383

TOTAL ASSETS 4 603 3 118
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Consolidated statement of financial position

NOK million Note 31.12.2022 31.12.2021

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity 

Share capital 22 73 59

Share premium 22 3 495 2 676

Total paid in capital 3 568 2 735

Other equity 146 (99)

Non-controlling interests 80 -

Total equity 3 794 2 636

Non-current liabilities   

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 10, 23 327 294

Lease liabilities 25 36 3

Provisions 24 36 11

Deferred tax liabilities 15 127 83

Total non-current liabilities 526 391

Current liabilities 

Interest-bearing financial liabilities 23 12 10

Lease liabilities 25 7 1

Accounts payables and other liabilities 135 38

Provisions 24 129 41

Total current liabilities 283 91

Total liabilities 808 482

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 4 603 3 118

Oslo, 23 March 2023

The Board of Directors of Cloudberry Clean Energy ASA

Frank J. Berg 
Chair of the Board

Petter W. Borg 
Board member

Benedicte Fossum 
Board member

Liv Lønnum 
Board member

Henrik Joelsson 
Board member

Nicolai Nordstrand 
Board member

Stefanie Witte 
Board member

Anders J. Lenborg 
CEO
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

NOK million Note 1.1.-31.12.2022 1.1.-31.12.2021

Cash flow from operating activities

Profit/(loss) before tax 122 (64)

Net gain from sale of PPE and project inventory (9) -

Depreciations, amortizations and impairment losses 16,17 35 10

Write down, project inventory 18 - 3

Net income from associated companies and JV's 20 (120) (16)

Share based payment - non cash to equity 26 4

Net interest paid/received 12 9

Unrealized effect from derivatives not designated for hedgning - -

Unrealised foreign exchange (gain)/loss 1 -

Change in accounts payable 88 12

Change in accounts receivabe (25) (9)

Change in other current assets and liabilities (88) (11)

Net cash flow from operating activities 43 (61)

Cash flow from investing activities

Interest received 14 10 1

Investment and capitalization projects (44) (9)

Investments in PPE and intangible assets 16,17 (304) (180)

Proceeds from sale of PPE and project inventory 60 -

Acquisition of shares in subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (70) (318)

Investments in associated companies and JV's 20 (31) (332)

Loans to associated companies and JV's (33) -

Distributions from associated companies and JV's 20 31 -

Net cash flow from (used in) investing activities (379) (838)

Cash flow from financing activities

Payment to escrow account (14) (85)

Transfer from escrow account 82 152

Proceeds from new term loans 23 116 226

Repayment of term loan 23 (151) (283)

Repayment of current interest-bearing liabilities (13) (237)

Interest paid other than lease 14 (22) (9)

Payment on lease liabilities - interest 25 (1) -

Repayment on lease liabilities 25 (3) (1)

Share capital increase 22 767 1 647

Net cash flow from financing activities 760 1 411

Total change in cash and cash equivalents 424 512

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (1) (2)

Cash and cash equivalents at start of period 1 115 605

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 1 538 1 115
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Attributable to parent company equity holders

Paid in capital Other Equity

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Share 
based 

payment

Cash 
flow 

hedge 
reserves

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Total 
other 

equity Total

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity

Equity as at 01.01 2021: 26 1 062 1 1 (3) (33) (33) 1 055 - 1 055

Profit/Loss for the period - - - - - (63) (63) (63) - (63)

Other comprehensive 
income

- - - 2 (9) - (7) (7) - (7)

Total comprehensive income - - - 2 (9) (63) (70) (70) - (70)

Sharecapital increase 33 1 614 - - - - - 1 647 - 1 647

Share based payments in 
the year

- - 4 - - - 4 4 - 4

Transaction with non-
controlling intrest 

- - - - - - - - - -

Transfer to other equity - - - - - - - - - -

Equity as at 31.12 2021 59 2 676 6 3 (12) (96) (99) 2 636 - 2 636

Equity as at 01.01 2022: 59 2 676 6 3 (12) (96) (99) 2 636 - 2 636

Profit/Loss for the period - - - - - 118 118 118 3 122

Other comprehensive income - - - 71 30 - 101 101 - 101

Total comprehensive income - - - 71 30 118 219 219 3 223

Sharecapital increase 14 819 - - - - - 833 77 910

Share based payments in 
the year

- - 26 - - - 26 26 - 26

Transaction with non-
controlling intrest 

- - - - - - - - - -

Transfer to other equity - - - - - - - - - -

Equity as at 31.12 2022 73 3 495 31 74 18 22 146 3 714 80 3 794
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Notes to the Consolidated  
financial statements Group

General

Note 1  General information

Corporate information
Cloudberry Clean Energy ASA (“the Company”), its 
subsidiaries and investments in associated compa-
nies and joint ventures (“the Group” or “Cloudberry”) 
is a Nordic renewable power producer, operator and 
developer. The Company has an integrated business 
model across the life cycle of hydro- and wind power 
plants including project development, financing, 
construction (normally outsourced), ownership, 
management and operations.

Cloudberry Clean Energy ASA is incorporated and 
domiciled in Norway. The address of its registered 
office is Frøyas gate 15, NO-0273 Oslo, Norway. 
Cloudberry Clean Energy ASA was established on 10 
November 2017. The Company is listed on Oslo Stock 
Exchange main list (ticker: CLOUD).

Note 2  General accounting policies and principles

Basis for preparation
The Group’s consolidated financial statements  
have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
and interpretations from International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) as 
adopted by the EU.

Presentation and classification of items in the finan-
cial statements is consistent for the periods pre-
sented. Application of the accounting policies by the 
subsidiaries has been changed where necessary to 
ensure consistency with Group accounting policies. 

The Group’s consolidated financial statement is 
prepared on a going concern basis. When assessing 
this assumption, management has assessed all 
available information about the future. This com-
prises information about net cash flows from existing 
operations, debt service and obligations. After mak-
ing this assessment, management has a reasonable 
expectation that the Group has adequate resources 
to continue its operational existence for the foresee-
able future. 

These consolidated financial statements for the full 
year 2022 have been approved for issuance by the 
Board of Directors on 23 March 2023 and are subject 
to approval by the Annual General Meeting on 27 
April 2023.

Basis for measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for cer-
tain financial instruments and derivatives, that are 
recognised at fair value. Historical cost is generally 
based on the fair value of the consideration given 
when acquiring assets and services. 

Classification as current/non-current
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the state-
ment of financial position based on current/non-cur-
rent classification. An asset is current when it is:
	· 	Held primarily for the purpose of trading
	· 	Expected to be realised within twelve months after 

the reporting period, or
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	· 	Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from 
being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at 
least twelve months after the reporting period

All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is current when:
	· 	It is expected to be settled in normal operating 

cycle
	· 	It is held primarily for trading
	· 	It is due to be settled within twelve months after 

the reporting period, or
	· 	There is no unconditional right to defer the settle-

ment of the liability for at least twelve months after 
the reporting period

The Group classifies all other liabilities as 
non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as 
non-current.  

Basis and principles for consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise 
the financial statements of the parent company 
Cloudberry Clean Energy ASA and its subsidiaries, 
see note 28.

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured enti-
ties) over which the Group has control. The Group 
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or 
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement 
with the entity and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power to direct the activities of 
the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the 
date on which control is transferred to the Group. 
Subsidiaries are no longer consolidated from the 
date when control ceases. The financial statements 
of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same 
reporting periods as the parent company. Consistent 
accounting policies are applied.

Profits and losses resulting from intercompany trans-
actions have been eliminated, as well as unrealised 
gains on transactions between group companies. 
Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the trans-
action provides evidence of an impairment of the 
transferred assets.

Upon purchase of projects, the management assess 
whether the purchase constitute purchase of an asset 
or purchase of a business in accordance with IFRS 3.

Transactions with non-controlling interests 
Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are pre-
sented within equity separately from the equity 
attributable to the owners of the parent. Non-
controlling interests consist of fair value of those 
interests at the date of the business combination, 
and the non-controlling interests’ share of changes 
in equity since the date of the business combina-
tion.  When acquiring shares from a non-controlling 
interest the difference between the consideration 
and the shares proportionate value of recognized 
net assets in the subsidiary as correction of equity in 
the parent company owners. 

A change in ownership interest of a subsidiary, 
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an 
equity transaction. Consideration in excess of, or 
lower than, the carrying amount of non-controlling 
interests is recognised against the equity attribut-
able to the owners of the parent. If the Group loses 
control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets, 
liabilities and non-controlling interest, and reclassi-
fies to profit or loss, or transfers directly to retained 
earnings as appropriate, the amounts recognised 
in other comprehensive income in relation to the 
subsidiary. Any investment retained at the date 
when control is lost is measured at fair value and a 
gain/loss is recognised.

Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency
The functional currency of the companies in the Group 
is determined based on the nature of the primary 
economic environment in which the company oper-
ates. The functional currency of the parent company 
Cloudberry Clean Energy ASA and the presentation 
currency of the Group is Norwegian kroner (NOK).  

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially 
recorded by the Group’s entities at their respective 
functional currency spot rates at the date the trans-
action first qualifies for recognition.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated at the functional 
currency spot rates of exchange at the reporting 
date. Differences arising on settlement or translation 
of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial 
transactions.
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The Group has foreign entities with functional cur-
rency other than NOK. At the reporting date, assets 
and liabilities of foreign entities with functional 
currencies other than NOK, are translated into NOK 
at the rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting 
date and their income statements are translated 
at annual average exchange rates. The exchange 
differences arising on translation for consolidation 
are recognised in other comprehensive income. 
On disposal of a foreign operation, the component 
of other comprehensive income relating to that 
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or 
loss.

Principles of cash flow statement
The cash flow statement has been prepared using 
the indirect method.

Operating activities: changes in working capital 
comprise of current interest-free receivables and 
current interest-free liabilities. Effects related to 
capital expenditures, inventory investments, unreal-
ised changes or reclassifications are not included in 
changes in working capital.

Investing activities: acquisition/divestment of shares 
includes cash and cash equivalents in the investee 
that are recognised/divested at the transaction 
date. Hence, this is presented net together with the 
cash consideration paid or received. Capitalized 
costs related to project inventory is presented 
together with project investments. 

Financing activities: interest payments from interest 
rate derivatives, which are used to manage the 
Group’s debt portfolio, are presented as a part of 
interests paid. 

Note 3  Key accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conform-
ity with IFRS requires the use of certain accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise 
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s 
accounting policies and reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities, income and expenses.

The Group management base its estimates on 
historical experience, current trends and other 
various assumptions that are believed to be relevant 
at the time the consolidated financial statements 
are prepared.

Significant estimates - long term 
price forecast for power 
One of the critical assumptions used by manage-
ment in making business decisions is the long-term 
price forecast for power and the related market 
developments. The assumption is also critical input 
for management related to financial statement 
processes such as: 
	· 	Allocation of fair value in business combination	

note 5
	· Impairment testing				  

note 19

Management use Volue, and their base case for 
long term power price forecasts. Volue is an external 
source of information which ensures an unbiased 
estimate. Management review and update the fore-
cast continuously, based on market development. 

Significant judgement 
Due to the Group’s business activities, management 
must apply judgement in determining the appropri-
ate accounting policies in many areas, and for some 
the application of the Groups accounting may have 
a material impact on the accounting treatment in 
the financial statements. Significant judgement 
includes areas such as:
	· 	Assessment of business combination or  

asset acquisition  
note 5 and 16

	· 	Assessments related to share-based payments	
note 12

	· 	Classification of developing projects 		
note 16 and 18

	· 	Assessment of impairment indicators		
note 19
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Note 4  Business segments

Accounting principle 
An operating segment is a component of an entity 
that engages in business activities from which it may 
earn revenues and incur expenses. The Company 
has defined that the Board of Directors is the chief 
operating decision maker. 

Business segments are reported in a manner 
consistent with how the Group internally follows 
up the business. The Group’s segment financials 
are reported on a proportionate basis. This is con-
sistent with how the internal financial reporting to 
the Group’s chief operating decision maker is. The 
business segments are determined based on the 
differences in the nature of their operations.

Management provides this because these measures 
are used internally for key performance measures 
(KPIs) and financial risk assessments. These meas-
ures represent the most important KPI’s to support 
decision making for achieving the Group’s strategic 
goals. The main performance indicator for segment 
reporting is EBITDA. 

The key differences between the proportionate and 
the consolidated IFRS financials are that all entities 
are included with the respective ownership share in 
each accounting line by the Group. Associated com-
panies and joint ventures are included in the finan-
cial accounting lines, the profit or loss statement and 
share of assets and net debt, using the respective 
proportionate ownership share. While in the consol-
idated financials associated companies and joint 
ventures are consolidated with the equity method. 
Subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests are in 
the proportionate reporting presented with only the 
Group’s ownership share, while in the consolidated 
financials they are included with 100%. 

The Group reports its operations in four business 
segments; Production, an active owner of renewable 
power assets in the Nordics; Development, a green-
field developer both onshore and off-shore with a 
long history of organic, in-house developments of 
wind and hydropower assets in Norway and Sweden; 
Operations, an asset manager and operator of 
renewable power assets, that also delivers industrial 
digital solutions, and a cost efficient Corporate seg-
ment ensure management tasks for the Group like 

financing, marketing, reporting and other corporate 
activities.

Proportionate financials are further defined and 
described in the APM section of this report. 

Production
The Production segment owns long-term yield hydro 
and wind assets in Norway and Sweden. Revenues 
come mostly from power production sold on a 
continuous basis through bilateral agreements or 
through the spot market, Nordpool. 

Production is also the local manager and delivers 
management services to the portfolio of power 
plants owned by Forte Energy Norway AS, see note 
20, Investments in associated companies and joint 
ventures.   

Development
The Development segment has a significant onshore 
and offshore development portfolio with renewable 
assets in Sweden and Norway. 

Development is responsible for development of 
hydro and wind power assets from early stage 
until the projects receive construction permits. 
Cloudberry has ongoing dialogue with landowners, 
municipalities and grid companies to clarify oppor-
tunities for new wind power projects. 

Operations (Captiva) 
The Operations segment includes the activities 
organized in the Captiva Group. Captiva is an asset 
manager and operator of wind and hydro assets 
in the Nordics with more than 15 years of history. 
Cloudberry is currently a 60% owner of Captiva with 
the option to purchase 100% of the business by 2025 
(the remaining 40% is owned by the previous sellers). 
Captiva has organized its business into manage-
ment services and digital solutions.

Corporate
Corporate consists of the activities of corporate 
services, management, and group finance. The 
corporate management aims to remain a cost-ef-
fective, agile and dynamic team. By year end, there 
were seven employees in the corporate segment.
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Proportionate financials
The table shows the segment reporting for 2022 (with reconciliation to reported Group consolidated IFRS) 
and with comparable figures for 2021 in lower table:  

FY 2022

NOK million Production
Develop-

ment Operations Corporate

Total 
Proportio-

nate 

Group 
elimi-

nations

Elimination 
of equity 

accounted 
entities

Residual 
ownership 

consoli-
dated 

entities

Total 
Consoli-

dated

Total revenue 402 207 38 - 646 (218) (254) 43 217

Operating expenses (139) (30) (33) (63) (265) 25 94 (40) (186)

Net income/(loss) from 
associated companies and JV’s

- - - - - - 120 - 120

EBITDA 262 177 4 (63) 381 (193) (40) 3 151

Depreciation and amortisation (38) - (6) (3) (48) - 18 (5) (35)

Operating profit (EBIT) 224 177 (2) (66) 333 (193) (22) (2) 116

Net financial items (19) (9) - 43 15 - (10) 2 6

Profit/(loss) before tax 204 168 (2) (22) 348 (193) (33) - 122

Total assets 3 132 381 179 2 178 5 870 (695) (595) 23 4 603

Interest bearing debt 865 55 6 - 926 - (591) 4 339

Cash (131) (21) 34 1 704 1 587 - (122) 73 1 538

Net interest bearing debt (NIBD) 996 76 (28) (1 704) (661) - (469) (69) (1 200)

FY 2021

NOK million Production
Develop-

ment Operations Corporate

Total 
Proportio-

nate 

Group 
elimi-

nations

Elimination 
of equity 

accounted 
entities

Residual 
ownership 

consoli-
dated 

entities

Total 
Consoli-

dated

Total revenue 77 6 - - 83 - (42) - 41

Operating expenses (34) (35) - (38) (107) - 18 - (89)

Net income/(loss) from 
associated companies and JV’s

- - - - - - 16 - 16

EBITDA 43 (30) - (38) (25) - (7) - (32)

Depreciation and amortisation (18) - - (1) (19) - 10 - (10)

Operating profit (EBIT) 25 (30) - (39) (44) - 3 - (41)

Net financial items (8) (3) - (3) (14) - (8) - (22)

Profit/(loss) before tax 17 (33) - (42) (58) - (5) - (64)

Total assets 2 065 308 - 1 443 3 815 (110) (587) - 3 118

Interest bearing debt 826 - - - 826 - (522) - 304

Cash 11 (59) - 1 330 1 282 - (167) - 1 115

Net interest bearing debt (NIBD) 816 59 - (1 330) (456) - (355) - (811)

Please refer to note 11 sales revenues and other income for information about external sales revenue per 
product and services and information about geographical area. 

Please refer to the section Alternative Performance Measure for definitions and further details about  
reconciliations between the Group IFRS reported figures and proportionate segment reporting. 
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Note 5  Business combinations

Accounting principle 
Business combinations are accounted for using the 
acquisition method. The acquisition cost is meas-
ured at fair value of the consideration transferred 
at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any 
non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an 
acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or 
at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share 
of the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets. 

The acquisition date is the date when control is 
transferred to the Group, acquired businesses are 
included in the financial statements from the trans-
action date. Comparable figures are not adjusted for 
acquired, sold, or liquidated businesses. 

When the Group acquires a business, a purchase 
price allocation is carried out, and assets and 
liabilities are valued at fair value at the time of the 
acquisition. If the acquisition cost (including any 
non-controlling interests) exceeds the fair value of 
identifiable net assets acquired, this is recognised 
as goodwill. If the business combination is achieved 
in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of 
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the 
acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acqui-
sition date. Any gains or losses arising from such 
remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.

In accordance with IFRS 3, the estimation of fair 
value and goodwill may be adjusted up to 12 months 
after the takeover date if new information has 
emerged about the facts and circumstances that 
existed at the time of takeover. 

Acquisition related costs, except costs related to 
issue of debt or equity securities, are booked to 
operating expenses. 

Estimates and judgements 
Significant management judgement is required in 
the assessment of a business combination. This 
includes determining if an acquisition is a business 
combination or an asset acquisition, determining an 
acquiring part and determining the allocation of fair 
value of assets and liabilities acquired. 

A specific assessment is made for each acquisition 
to decide weather it is a business combination or an 

asset acquisition. If regarded as a business combi-
nation IFRS 3 Business combinations will be applied, 
while if an asset, it will be either IAS 2 inventory, IAS 
38 Intangible assets or IAS 16 Property plant and 
equipment that will be applied. The latter relates to 
the type of assets being acquired.

For acquisitions that consist of a single development 
project, single power plant ready to construct or 
assets that do not have any clearly defined input or 
output, the acquisition will often be accounted for as 
an asset acquisition. Acquisitions that consist of pro-
ducing assets, projects organized with key employ-
ees, business processes in place and defined inputs 
and outputs from the processes, the acquisition will 
often be accounted for as business combination. 
However, the specific assessment will be needed to 
conclude on the treatment for each acquisition.

The purchase price allocation is by nature judge-
mental as it includes allocation of the purchase 
price to the underlying assets and liabilities on their 
underlying estimated fair value. Significant manage-
ment judgement is applied about valuation method, 
estimates and assumptions. There is an inherent 
uncertainty related to managements estimates of 
significant assumptions such as discount rate, cash 
flow estimates and useful life which impact the split 
of the allocated fair value of the estimates. 

Business combinations in 2022
Acquisition Operations
Acquisition of 60% of Captiva Digital 
Services AS “The Captiva Group”
On 7 January 2022 Cloudberry Clean Energy ASA 
entered a share purchase agreement for the acqui-
sition of 60% of the shares in Captiva Digital Services 
AS from Captiva Capital Partner AS.

Captiva Digital Services AS with subsidiaries “The 
Captiva Group” is a data-driven operator, manager 
and developer of renewable energy in the Nordics. 
The Captiva Group comprise of the following busi-
ness areas with respective subsidiaries and associ-
ated companies:

Captiva Asset Management AS with subsidiaries, 
delivers management services within operations 
and maintenance, development and construction, 
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technical and commercial, and finance and 
accounting services to renewable energy projects in 
the Nordics. 

Captiva Digital Solutions AS with subsidiaries, deliv-
ers digital services to renewable energy projects with 
operational intelligence, visualization, compliance 
and reporting solutions. Kraftanmelding AS, operates 
as a power trade agent and delivers services related 
to power trade on behalf of power producers. 

Captiva Energi AS with subsidiaries, delivers devel-
opment projects within renewable hydro energy. 
Captiva Energi has realized 11 hydro projects over the 
past 5 years. 

The Captiva Group represented a new business 
segment for the Group, “Operations”, established in 
2022. 

The agreed enterprise value was NOK 160 million 
on a cash and debt free basis, taken into account 
normalized working capital (100% basis). 

At completion the Company has paid a preliminary 
purchase price of NOK 101m. 50% of the prelimi-
nary purchase price was settled with Cloudberry 
shares, this was 3.484.041 shares of par value NOK 
0.25 and a fair value of NOK 14.50 per share (share 
capital increase with NOK 0.87m). The remaining 
50% was settled by cash payment of NOK 50.5m. 
The purchase price was subject to adjustments 
after audited completion accounts, the settlement 
amounted to NOK 0 million.    

Net acquired assets is in the completion accounts NOK 
37.3 million (based on 100%, including non-controlling 
interests). The transaction is accounted as a business 
combination and the Captiva Group was consolidated 
in the Group accounts from 7 January 2022. 

Cloudberry is currently a 60% owner of Captiva with 
a call option to purchase the remaining share up 
to 100% of the business by 2025 at fixed terms (the 
remaining 40% is owned by the previous sellers).

Acquisition of 26% of Enestor AS 
On June 1 Captiva Asset Management AS called an 
option to acquire further 26% of the shares in Enestor 
AS bringing the ownership to a total of 51%. 

The acquisition price was fixed at NOK 4.6m and 
paid in cash. The transaction is accounted as a 
business combination and Enestor was consolidated 
in the Group accounts from 1 June 2022.  

Acquisition Production 
Acquisition of 100% of Tinnkraft AS
On 1 February 2022 Cloudberry Production AS 
completed the acquisition of 100% of the shares in 
Tinnkraft AS, “Tinnkraft”. Tinnkraft is a producing 
hydro power plant located in Tinn municipality, in 
the attractive NO 2 price area. The annual average 
power production is 6.3 GWh. 

The total purchase price was NOK 27.7m and was 
paid with cash settlement. The transaction is 
accounted as a business combination as Tinnkraft 
is a producing powerplant and established business. 
Tinnkraft was consolidated in the Group accounts 
from 1 February 2022. 

Acquisition of 100% of Bøen Kraft AS
On 9 June 2022, Cloudberry Production AS com-
pleted the acquisition of 100% of the shares of Bøen 
Kraft AS “Bøen Kraft”. Bøen Kraft consists of two 
hydro power plants “Bøen 1” and “Bøen 2”, which 
both are producing hydro power plants located in 
Hjelmeland Municipality in Rogaland County and 
have an expected annual production (normalized) of 
total 17 GWh. The plants are in NO2 price area. 

In addition to the operating plants, a third license 
application is under prepararation, “Bøen 3” will if 
approved be built with a dam adding also flexibility 
to “Bøen 1” and “Bøen 2”. “Bøen 3” is planned with 
expected annual production of 5 GWh. 

The total purchase price was NOK 102m, of which 
NOK 85m was paid in cash and NOK 16m was settled 
with Cloudberry shares, this was 935.020 shares of 
par value NOK 0.25 and a fair value of NOK 17.32 per 
share (share capital increase with NOK 0.234m).

The acquisition is accounted as a business com-
bination as Bøen Kraft consists of two producing 
power plants and is an established business. Bøen 
Kraft was consolidated in the Group accounts from 
9 June 2022.
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Purchase price allocation for the acquisitions in 2022 

NOK million
Captiva 

Group Tinnkraft AS Bøen Kraft AS Enestor AS 1 Total

Acquisition date 07.01.2022 01.02.2022 09.06.2022 01.06.2022

Voting rights/shareholding acquired through the 
acquisition

60% 100% 100% 26%

Total voting rights after the acqusition 60% 100% 100% 51%

Non-controlling interests 40% - - 49%

Consideration

Cash 51 28 85 5 168

Shares 51 - 16 - 67

Total acquisition cost 101 28 102 5 235

Book value of net assets (se table below) 37 5 (11) 4 35

Identification of excess value. attributable to:

Intangible assets 47 - - - 47

Property, plant and equipment 1 30 144 - 174

Inventory - - - - -

Other 2 - - - 2

Gross excess value 50 30 144 - 224

Deferred tax on excess value (11) (7) (32) - (49)

Net excess value 39 23 112 - 175

Fair value of net acquired assets excluding goodwill 77 28 102 4 210

Of which 

Non controlling interest 33 - - 3 35

Controlling interests 44 28 102 1 174

Total acquisition cost (controlling interest) 101 28 102 5 235

Fair value of net aquired assets ex goodwill 
(controlling interest) 

44 28 102 1 174

Goodwill (controlling interest) 57 - - 4 62

Goodwill (non controlling interest) 38 - - 3 41

Goodwill (100%) 95 - - 7 103

Total non controlling interest 71 - - 6 77

 1	 Ownership through Captiva Group
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Book value of net acquired assets

NOK million
Captiva 

Group Tinnkraft AS Bøen Kraft AS Enestor AS 1 Total 

Intangible assets 27 - - - 27

Property, plants and equipment 16 13 32 - 63

Goodwill 2 - - - 2

Other non-current assets 1 - - - 1

Financial non-current assets 6 - 2 - 7

Inventory - - - - -

Other current assets 33 - 3 3 39

Cash and cash equivalents 161 2 11 3 177

Acquired assets 246 15 48 6 316

Interest bearing debt, long term 20 10 33 - 63

Other non current liabilities - - 23 - 23

Current liabilities 185 1 8 - 193

Deferred tax liability 3 - (5) - (1)

Other liabilities - - - 3 3

Net asset value aquired assets 37 5 (11) 4 35

Total acquisition cost 101 28 102 5 235

Non cash consideration 51 - 16 - 67

Cash consideration 51 28 85 5 168

Cash in acquired company (161) (2) (11) (3) (177)

Net cash outflow at acquisition (110) 26 74 1 (9)

 1	 Ownership through Captiva Group

The purchase price allocation of Captiva has been finalized as at 31 December 2022. 

Other financial figures 
The acquired subsidiaries are consolidated in the Group accounts from the acquisition date. The table below 
show the total revenue and total profit or loss that is included in the Group accounts for 2022:  

NOK million
Captiva 

Group Tinnkraft AS Bøen Kraft AS Enestor AS 1 Total 

Acquisition date 07.01.2022 01.02.2022 09.06.2022 01.06.2022

Gross revenue from aqusition date untill 31.12.22 60 7 4 9 80

Pofit or loss total from aqusition date untill 31.12.22 3 5 (4) - 3

1	 Ownership through Captiva

The table below show the pro forma revenues and net profit or loss if the acquired companies had been 
consolidated from 1 January 2022. 

Pro forma Group figures 2022

NOK million

Cloudberry  
Group 

reported
Captiva 

Group Tinnkraft AS Bøen Kraft AS Enestor AS 1

Pro-forma 
Group figures 

Total revenues 217 1 - 9 6 233

Total profit or loss 122 - - 4 1 126
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Key risks and financial instruments
Through its business activities, the Group is exposed 
to various risks and has engaged in various financial 
instruments. This section outlines the key risks and 
management activities undertaken to manage the 
Group’s exposure to financial and other risks.

The Group focuses on the following risk categories: 
stratgic risk, market/external risk, operational risks, 
financial and ESG risks.   

Guidelines for risk management and strategy for 
handling and using financial instruments as a part of 
the business activities and handling risks have been 
approved by the Board of Directors. The Group’s 
overall risk management programme seeks to mini-
mize the potential for adverse effects on the Groups 
performance. The Group uses derivative financial 
instruments to hedge certain risk exposures. For full 
disclosure of the Group’s ESG risk reporting see also 
the Groups sustainability report for 2022.  

Note 6  Market related risks

Political and regulatory risk
The power industry is a highly regulated 
sector and thus subject to political risk
The power industry is publicly regulated, and regu-
lations may change over time. Thus, there is political 
risk of investments in the renewable and infrastruc-
ture industries in the Nordic countries. 

The guarantee of origin scheme 
is subject to political risk
In accordance with EU legislation, power plants in 
the EEA may get approval for guarantees of origin 
for five years at a time. Energy suppliers may buy 
such guarantees of origin from the power producer 
in order to guarantee its customers that the deliv-
ered energy is produced from renewable sources.

The relevance of the latest revision of the current 
European Renewable Energy Directive is currently 
being assessed by the EEA/EFTA. The revision 
seems to extend the guarantee of origin scheme, 
although no decision has been made. The future of 
the scheme is thus subject to political risk.

The renewable sector is still under development
Unexpected success in other areas of renewable 
energy may reduce the pressure on the author-
ities to allow for development of wind parks and 
hydropower plants. This may affect the Group’s 
future investment opportunities and reduce the 
second-hand value of its power plants. The same 
may also hold true for non-renewable or currently 
unknown energy technologies. The uncertainties 

associated with the development of the renewable 
sector, as well as the emergence of other technol-
ogies, are factors which could adversely affect the 
Group’s business and growth opportunities.

Risks related to new sustainability regulations
All industries must expect stricter laws and regula-
tions related to sustainability in the years to come. 
This is based on the fact that financial markets, 
creditors and investors need consistent, compara-
ble and high-quality information on the impacts of 
environment and climate change on businesses. The 
Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosure 
(TCFD) developed recommendations to improve and 
standardize the reporting of climate-related finan-
cial information and to enhance market transpar-
ency and stability. Further, mandatory, or voluntary 
reporting requirements are likely to continue to come 
as this is a field in fast change. 

Price risk
The profitability of the Group’s producing power 
plants depends on the volume and relevant price of 
the electricity produced. The majority of the Group’s 
sale will be exposed to price risk related to electricity 
sold at spot rates. The Group’s production volume 
sold in the spot market is consequently exposed to 
fluctuations in the market prices for electricity, unless 
new fixed terms agreements are entered into.

Electricity prices are inter alia dependent on  
substitute or adjacent commodity prices such as 
e.g. oil, gas and coal prices, but also dependent 
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 on meteorological conditions, CO2 pricing and other 
supply and demand factors going into the clearing 
of the market price of electricity. 

Further, massive climate goal subsidy schemes may 
put downward pressure on revenues (i.e. electricity 
prices) of non-subsidized existing assets. The Group 
considers subsidized offshore wind power as the 
most likely threat.

As sale of electricity constitutes a material share 
of the Group’s revenues, the price risks related to 
electricity prices could result in reduced revenue and 
profitability for the Group and also reduce the fair 
market value of the Group’s assets.

Electricity price risks are mainly hedged by entering 
into exchange traded electricity derivatives con-
tracts (NordPool/Nasdaq OMX Commodities), as well 
as derivative contracts directly with industry coun-
terparties (bilateral contracts). The Group’s hedging 
strategies are continuously evaluated as electricity 
market prices, the hydrological balance and other 
relevant parameters change. For further information 
on hedging and outstanding derivative contracts 
see details under note 10 Hedge accounting.

Sensitivity analysis
The table below is calculated based on the Group’s 
electricity position (i.e. derivatives) as of 31 December 
and illustrates the potential impact on the income 
statement and equity. The sensitivity analysis includes 
only the market risks arising from derivatives i.e. the 
underlying physical electricity sales and purchases 
are not included. The analysis is based on the 
assumption that the forward price quotations of 
electricity would change +/-10%, flat in the time period 
that the Group is exposed with PPA’s, with all other 
variables held constant. The sensitivity is what man-
agement assumes may be a reasonable change:

+10% change in electricity  
forward price quatations 2022 2021

Effect on profit before income tax (2) -

Effect on equity (5) -

-10% change in electricity  
forward price quatations 2022 2021

Effect on profit before income tax 2 -

Effect on equity 5 -

Inflation risk does not have a direct impact on the 
Groups financial position, but inflation and related 
price risk may have an adverse impact on Group’s 
projects under development, accounted as inven-
tory. The Group’s development projects are capital 
intensive and increasing commodity prices will 
result in higher capital expenditures to develop and 
construct the projects (i.e. due to higher construction 
costs and turbine costs). High inflation may carve 
out the value of the expected cash flows from the 
Group’s development projects relative to the up-front 
investments. Further, high inflation is expected to 
lead to higher short and long-term interest rates, 
affecting the financial costs for the Group’s develop-
ment projects. These factors and uncertainties may 
result in lower expected profitability from projects 
under development and ultimately that projects 
under development are postponed or abandoned 
leading to an impairment loss. On the opposite high 
inflation may be caused by higher energy prices, 
and thus power prices which can act as a counter-
weight to the risk. 

War in Ukraine
On 24 of February 2022 Russia attacked Ukraine 
thereby started a war that has been lasting for more 
than a year. The invasion has resulted in severe 
implications on global trade, global markets, energy 
prices and commodity prices. 
During 2022, Europe, and the Nordics, saw record 
high power prices, primarily driven by soaring gas 
prices after European gas imports from Russia 
ended. The intermediate danger of a European gas 
shortage has since been reduced, and power prices 
has dropped significantly, albeit to still historically 
high levels. As the Group primarily sells its electricity 
in the spot market, the war’s effect on energy prices 
have, and will continue to have, a significant impact 
on the Group’s revenues. Further, there may be 
implications on the global trade, and transportation 
costs and/or higher commodity prices may increase 
the cost of the Group’s construction projects.  
It is still highly uncertain how the conflict will evolve 
and how it will continue to have an impact on the 
global economy going forward. The Group continues 
to assess the risk related to the volatility on the 
energy prices, and implications caused by the war in 
detail going forward.
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Note 7  Commercial and operational risks

Risks related to changes in 
laws and regulations
Changes in laws and regulations may affect the 
Group’s operations, increase the Group’s operating 
costs, and reduce demand for its services. It could 
also increase compliance costs, mandate significant 
and costly changes to the way the Group imple-
ments its services and solutions and threaten the 
Group’s ability to continue to serve certain markets.

For some small-scale power plants and large-scale 
power plants, license fees and concessionary power 
must be paid or transferred to the municipality, 
county, or state. Often, such power plants must 
deliver 10-15% of their power production as conces-
sionary power. The power plant must in such cases 
sell the concession power at the expected “cost 
price”. These are changes in regulations that would 
affect the Group’s profitability.
 
Changes in tax laws of any jurisdiction in which 
the Group operates, or any failure to comply with 
applicable tax legislation, may have a material 
adverse effect for the Group. The Group is subject 
to prevailing tax legislation, treaties and regulations 
in the jurisdictions in which it is operating, and the 
interpretation and enforcement thereof. The Group’s 
income tax expenses are based upon its interpre-
tation of the tax laws in effect at the time that the 
expense is incurred. If applicable laws, treaties or 
regulations change, or if the Group’s interpretation of 
the tax laws is at variance with the interpretation of 
the same tax laws by tax authorities, this could have 
a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, 
results of operations or financial condition. 

In September 2022, the Norwegian government 
proposed several tax changes, which are not yet 
finally voted in Parliament. The tax changes may 
have effect of the Groups assets, the details of the 
proposals and the effects are described further 
under note 19 Impairment. 

Operational risks 
Power plants are highly technical
Investments in power generation and energy-related 
infrastructure involve technical and operational 
risks. The Group will seek to invest in power plants 
of expected good technical standard to reduce 

the technical risk of the investment. The Group will 
prioritize technical solutions that are well-proven 
and delivered by reputable suppliers, so that any 
repairs can be made within reasonable timeframes 
and at reasonable cost, and to achieve attractive 
insurance terms. Despite the aim of choosing sound 
solutions, technical problems may occur meaning 
possible stops in production or costly reinvestments 
that reduce the Group’s profitability and/or financial 
position.

Risks related to costs of transmission and distribution
Increases in charges relating to the connection to 
and use of the electricity transmission and distribu-
tion networks and relating to balancing of electricity 
supply and demand, and/or restrictions on the 
capacity in such networks available for use by the 
Group’s power plants, may result in higher operating 
costs, lower revenues and fewer opportunities for 
growth.

Risks related to development projects
For the development projects, there are project 
related risks with regards to reaching final invest-
ment decision. The Group must inter alia negotiate 
and conclude agreements related to construction, 
maintenance and operations of the plants, obtain 
financing and secure the necessary grid capacity 
and permits. If the Group fails to realize all or some 
of the development projects, the Group may have to 
write off the investments made into the project(s).

Risks related to construction projects 
For projects under construction, both current and 
future, the construction phase is linked to risk of 
overruns and delays. The construction of power 
plants differs from project to project, and several 
aspects may cause delays or budget overruns. 

During construction of wind farms, challenges 
related to foundations or roads may lead to delays, 
or heavy winds may delay the installations of the 
turbines. Distress in the global supply chain may 
delay certain components and increase cost.  
Drilling of waterways for hydro power plants may 
cause delays if the bedrock proves more challenging 
than expected, and delay of critical components 
may cause delays to the project, and subsequently 
cost overruns.
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Environmental risks
Climate change related risks
Climate change itself is a risk for the Group, 
although society’s climate change mitigation efforts 
create business opportunities for us. Climate change 
can alter the precipitation patterns we are used to, 
which makes hydropower a less dependable source 
for energy production than in the past. Additionally, 
climate change is increasing the frequency and 
severity of extreme weather events, which pose 
threats to the Group’s assets. 
The risk assessment and management related to 
climate risk, is both a specific process in the Group 
and integrated in the general risk management 
activities. The Group assesses its risks and opportu-
nities from a short-, medium-, and long-term strate-
gic and financial perspective, and have set threshold 
values for financial impact. The company identifies 
the potential financial impact from the risks and 
opportunities and their significance for the Group. 
The financial impact is defined by assessing both 
the actual cost of the impact as well as a consider-
ation of frequency, with the intervals structured as 
below. 

Financial Impact Low Medium High

MNOK <25 25–100 >100

Frequency <0-1 years 1-5 years >5 years

Risk related to changing weather patterns
The meteorological conditions (rain and wind) at the 
particular sites at which the Group’s power plants 
are located can vary materially from season to 
season and from year to year. 

Changes in average temperatures will impact the 
meteorological conditions. Overall warmer climates 
can lead to increased rainfall, increased wind, and 
longer periods of drought. Potential consequences 
include flooding at hydro plants resulting in less 
production, severe winds exceeding a wind turbine`s 
capacity leading to production stops, and droughts 
leading to low water levels and forcing the company 
to reduce or even fully stop the electricity production. 

Also, if a site proves to have lower resources than 
anticipated in the Group’s business model or suffers 
a sustained decline in meteorological conditions, 
such power plants are likely to generate lower 
electricity volumes and lower revenue than antici-
pated, which could have a material adverse effect 
on the Group’s business. For more information about 
climate related risk, see the Group’s separate TCFD-
report and Sustainability report 2022. 



115Cloudberry Annual report 2022

Financial statements

Note 8  Financial risks

The Group’s overall financial risk management 
focuses primarily on maintaining a financial risk 
profile that provides flexibility as well as optimising 
return on assets. Financial risk management is 
centralised, guidelines for risk management and 
strategy for handling and using financial instruments 
as a part of the business activities and handling risks 
have been approved by the Board of Directors.

The Group uses derivatives, such as interest rate 
swaps, power purchase agreements and currency 
forward swaps to manage its exposure to certain 
risks as described in this section. To reduce volatility 
in the statement of profit or loss the Group applies 
hedge accounting. Refer to Note 10 Hedge account-
ing for further information.

Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows, 
or fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. The 
Group is exposed to interest rate risks through 
funding and cash management activities. 

The Group’s underlying assets will normally be 
loan-financed with long term debt obligations 
with floating rates, which is exposed to the risk of 

changes in market interest rates. An increase in 
interest rates will lead to higher financing costs 
and interest payments, which reduces the Group’s 
profitability. Changes in interest rates also expose 
the Group to changes in the fair value of interest rate 
derivatives (fair value risk). 

Management seeks to minimize the interest rate risk 
together with borrowing costs. The Group manages 
the borrowing cost and interest risk by either using 
long-term financing at fixed rates or using floating to 
fixed interest swaps. 

All long-term debt is at fixed rates. The profit or loss 
statement and future cash flows related to existing 
debt are therefore limitedly sensitive to changes in 
interest rates.  

Sensitivity analysis
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a 
reasonably possible change in interest rates on that 
portion of financial assets and liabilities affected, 
after the impact of hedge accounting. With all 
other variables held constant, the Group’s profit and 
equity before tax is affected through the impact on 
floating rate borrowings, as follows:

1%-point increase in floating interest rate 2022 2021

Effect on profit before income tax - -

Effect on equity 27 12

1%-point decrease in floating interest rate 2022 2021

Effect on profit before income tax - -

Effect on equity (25) (12)
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Currency risk 
The Group presents its financial statements in NOK. 
However, Norwegian power companies sell the 
power through Nord Pool where EUR is the official 
trading currency. Electricity Certificates are traded 
in SEK. Several of the Groups development projects 
in Sweden also have costs which are denominated 
in SEK. Further, the Group’s investment in Odal Vind 
AS and Forte Energy Norway AS is exposed to EUR 
in its entirety. Consequently, the Group is exposed 
to currency risk. Any fluctuations in exchange rates 
between NOK, SEK and EUR could materially and 
adversely affect the Group’s business, results of 
operations, cash flows, financial condition and/or 
prospects.  

The Group is also exposed to currency risk by having 
employees and operations in Sweden. Any fluctu-
ations in exchange rates between NOK and SEK 
could materially and adversely affect the Group’s 
business, results of operations, cash flows, financial 
condition and/or prospects. The Group may want to 
do business in other countries in the future, exposing 
the Group to additional currency risk, as shown in 
the signed share purchase agreement with the 
Odin portfolio as described in note 29 Subsequent 
events. Should it choose to do so, any fluctuations 
in exchange rates between NOK and the relevant 
foreign currency could materially and adversely 
affect the Group’s business, results of operations, 
cash flows, financial condition and/or prospects.

The Group has significant contractual cash flow 
obligations in other currencies, especially related to 
investments or capital expenditures on power plants 
under construction, these are either in EUR (turbine 
suppliers) or in the local currency where the invest-
ment or construction project is located. The Group 
seeks to minimize the risk related to these cash flows 
by entering currency forward contracts that match 
the contractual cash out flows or buying/swapping 
the necessary amount to the relevant currency 
so that the risk of change in FX rate have limited 
impacts of the investment/project profitability. 

The Group holds deposits in local currency (NOK, 
SEK and EUR) in order to match future obligations 
and has entered future currency swap contracts 
for the larger obligations to limit the exposure to 
future exchange rate fluctuations. The Group has 
not currently applied hedge accounting for these 
arrangements.   

Sensitivity analysis
Currency gains and losses on monetary items in 
foreign currency are recognised in the income 
statement of the Group. The table below shows the 
sensitivity to a reasonable change in SEK and EUR 
exchange rate to the Groups consolidated financial 
assets and liabilities: (only significant exposures are 
included in the table): 

NOK million 2022 2021

Change in SEK (5%) (5%)

Effect on cash and cash equivalents (4) -

Effect on group receivables and liabilities (14) (2)

Change in EUR (5%) (5%)

Effect on cash and cash equivalents (1) (8)

Effect on group receivables and liabilities - (5)
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Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able 
to meet its financial obligations when due. 

The Group manages liquidity risk through, on a 
regular basis, to review future commitments and the 
liquidity reserves which consist of cash (see note 21) 
and borrowing facilities (see note 23). Management 
prepares minimum quarterly cash flow forecasts 
that look a minimum of 24 months ahead to handle 
the liquidity risk. When taking business decisions 
and entering into contracts the Group evaluates the 
liquidity needs and makes sure the liquidity needed 
is in place before entering into contracts. 

As of 31 December 2022, the Group has a total 
of approximately NOK 550 million in contractual 
commitments, in addition to the current payables 
which are recognised in the Groups balance 
sheet. The obligation does not include regular 
employee expenses or other day-to-day costs. See 
note 16 Property, plant and equipment and note 
24 Provisions, guarantees and other contractual 
obligations. 

The following table shows the maturity for nominal 
cash outflow for the contractual obligations as per 
31 December 2022:

NOK million 
Carrying 
amount

Less than 
a year 2024 2025 2026 2027+ Total 

Bank loan (incl. interest payments) 338 37 26 26 230 75 394

Lease liabilities 43 7 7 8 7 24 53

Accounts payable 135 135 - - - - 135

Total non-derivatives 516 179 34 33 237 99 582

Net-settled derivatives 25 17 8 - - - 25

Total financial liabilities and derivatives 540 196 41 33 237 99 607

Per 31 December 2021:

NOK million 
Carrying 
amount

Less than 
a year 2024 2025 2026 2027+ Total 

Bank loan (incl. interest payments) 304 20 21 21 21 313 396

Lease liabilities 5 1 1 1 - 2 6

Accounts payable 38 38 - - - - 38

Total non-derivatives 347 59 22 22 21 315 440

Net-settled derivatives 3 - - - - 1 3

Total financial liabilities and derivatives 350 60 23 23 22 316 443

Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that the Group’s customers or 
counterparties will cause financial loss by failing to 
honour their obligations. The Group is exposed to 
third party credit risk in several instances including 
off-take partners who have committed to buy 
electricity produced by or on behalf of the Group, 
banks providing financing and guarantees of the 
obligations of other parties, insurance companies 
providing coverage against various risks applicable 
to the Group’s assets, and other third parties who 
may have obligations towards the Group includ-
ing warranties provided under share purchase 
agreements. 

The Group’s main credit risks arise from credit 
exposures with deposits with financial institutions 
and other short-term receivables. Counterparties 
in derivative contracts and financial deposits 
are limited to financial institutions with high 
creditworthiness. 

The Group’s account receivables have low credit 
risk and all receivables over the past several years 
have been collected in full and on time. At year end 
Management has evaluated the account receiva-
bles credit risk to be insignificant and the account 
receivables are therefore recognised in the financial 
statements at face value.
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Note 9  Financial instruments

Accounting principle 
Financial assets
The group classifies its financial assets in the follow-
ing measurement categories:
	· 	those to be measured at amortised cost,
	· 	those to be measured subsequently at fair value 

(either through OCI or profit or loss)

The classification depends on the entity’s business 
model for managing the financial assets and the 
contractual terms of the cash flows. 

Financial assets that are held to collect contractual 
cash flows and where those cash flows represent 
solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) are 
measured at amortised cost. Interest income from 
these financial assets is included in finance income 
using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or 
loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in 
profit or loss and presented in other gains/ (losses) 
together with foreign exchange gains and losses. 
Impairment losses are presented as separate line 
item in the statement of profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at fair value, gains 
and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or 
other comprehensive income. 

Financial assets recognised at fair value through 
profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, 
and transaction costs are expensed in the income 
statement. Gains or losses arising from changes 
in the fair value of the financial instruments at fair 
value through profit or loss, including interest and 
dividends, are recognised in the income statement 
as other gain or loss. 

Derivatives are always measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. The accounting for subse-
quent changes in fair value depends on whether the 
derivative is designated as a hedging instrument 
and, if so, the nature of the item being hedged (see 
note 10 Hedge accounting for further details).

For investments in equity instruments that are not 
held for trading, this will depend on whether the 
Group has made an irrevocable election at the 
time of initial recognition to account for the equity 
investment at fair value through other comprehen-
sive income.

For Impairment losses on accounts receivables the 
group applies the simplified approach as it follows 
from IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses 
to be recognised from initial recognition of the 
receivables. An allowance is made on the balance 
sheet for the expected future credit losses and 
remains on the balance sheet until it is written off as 
a credit loss or reversed.

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are 
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the 
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights 
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the Group has 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership.

Financial liabilities 
The group classifies its financial liabilities at initial 
recognition in the following categories 
	· 	Loans and borrowings including bank overdrafts 
	· 	Payables
	· 	Derivatives (designated as hedging instruments in 

an effective hedge or fair value recognised in profit 
or loss)

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair 
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and 
payables, net of directly attributable transaction 
costs. In subsequent periods, all financial liabilities, 
except derivatives are measured at amortised cost.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obli-
gation under the liability is discharged or cancelled 
or expires. When an existing financial liability is 
replaced by another from the same lender on sub-
stantially different terms, or the terms of an existing 
liability are substantially modified, such an exchange 
or modification is treated as the derecognition of the 
original liability and the recognition of a new liability. 
The difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

Power Purchase Agreements (PPA)
The Group has in some cases entered into PPA for 
the sale of electric power and related products 
(el-certificates of guarantees of origin) at a fixed 
price. A characteristic to these agreements is that 
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they can be accounted for as a financial instrument 
or as a contract with customer, depending on the 
terms and conditions. 

“Own use” contracts: Energy contracts that are 
entered into and continue to be held for the purpose 
of the receipt or delivery of the power in accordance 
with Cloudberry’s expected purchase, sale or usage 
requirements are accounted for as own use con-
tracts. These contracts do not qualify for recognition 
in the statement of financial position in accordance 
with IFRS 9 but are accounted for as contracts with 
customers after IFRS 15 and energy purchase. “Own 
use” contracts will typically have a stable customer 
base e.g. bilateral industry contracts, and are settled 
by physical delivery. 

As per 31 December the Group has two PPA con-
tracts, one with applied hedge accounting, see note 
10, and one recognised at fair value over the profit or 
loss statement. 

The Group has no PPA classified as “own use” 
contract. 

Financial instruments
The table below shows the Groups financial instru-
ments with their carrying amounts recognised in 
the consolidated financial position on 31 December 
2022. The carrying amount for assets and liabili-
ties measured at amortised cost is believed to be 
approximate to fair value. 

FY 2022

NOK million
Financial assts 

at amortised cost
Liabilities at 

amortised cost

Financial 
assets 

- fair value

Financial 
liabilities  

- fair value Total 

Financial investments 57 - - - 57

Derivative financial instrument - - 39 - 39

Other non-current asset 9 - - - 9

Total non-current financial assets 66 - 39 - 105

Trade and other receivables 137 - - - 137

Cash and cash equivalents 1 538 - - - 1 538

Total current Financial assets 1 676 - - - 1 676

Lease liability - (7) - - (7)

Current borrowings - (12) - - (12)

Total current financial liabilities - (19) - - (19)

Lease liability - (36) - - (36)

Financial liability for PPA termination - (5) - - (5)

Long term borrowings - (327) - - (327)

Derivatives - - - (25) (25)

Total non current financial liabilities - (368) - (25) (393)

Net financial assets (liabilities) 1 742 (387) 39 (25) 1 369
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FY 2021

NOK million
Fianancial assts 

at amortised cost
Liabilities at 

amortised cost

Financial 
assets 

- fair value

Financial 
liabilities  

- fair value Total 

Derivative financial instrument - - 7 - 7

Other non-current asset 4 - - - 4

Total non-current financial assets 4 - 7 - 10

Trade and other current receivables 85 - - - 85

Cash and cash equivalents 1 115 - - - 1 115

Total current Financial assets 1 200 - - - 1 200

Lease liability - (1) - - (1)

Current borrowings - (10) - - (10)

Total current financial liabilities - (11) - - (11)

Lease liability - (3) - - (3)

Financial liability for PPA termination - (5) - - (5)

Long term borrowings - (291) - - (291)

Derivatives - - - (3) (3)

Total non current financial liabilities - (299) - (3) (302)

Net financial assets (liabilities) 1 204 (311) 7 (3) 897

Fair value measurement
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly trans-
action between market participants at the measurement date.
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are catego-
rised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to 
the fair value measurement as a whole:
	· 	Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
	· 	Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measure-

ment is observable, directly or indirectly, in a non-active market
	· 	Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measure-

ment is unobservable and make use of best estimate

The fair value of the interest rate swaps derivatives is calculated as the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows based on observable yield curves (level 2). Changes in fair value relate to daily changes in market 
prices of the derivative contracts and the volume of contracts. The fair value of the Groups derivative finan-
cial instruments has been determined by external banks. 
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The fair value hierarchy for assets and liabilities measured at fair value are presented in the following table: 
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

31.12.2022 31.12.2021 31.12.2022 31.12.2021 31.12.2022 31.12.2021

Derivative assets

– Interest rate derivatives - - 36 7 - -

– Commodity derivatives (power) - - 2 - - -

Derivative liabilities

– Interest rate derivatives - - (1) (3) - -

– Interest rate derivatives - - - - - -

– Commodity derivatives (power) - - (24) - - -

Fair value - - 14 4 - -

*	 Note 1: fair value of the interest rate derivative in Forte is included in the carrying amount of the equity accounted company, the fair value per 31 
December 2022 is NOK 57m and is measured at level 2 in the hierarchy).

The contracts at level 2 as of 31 December are the Groups interest rate derivatives, PPA agreements and  
EUR forward swap. 

The fair value of the derivatives is determined by discounting expected future cash flows to present value 
through the use of observed market rates. The Group’s interest rate derivatives and a PPA agreement are 
held for hedging purposes, reference to note 10 Hedge accounting. 

Note 10  Hedge accounting

Accounting principle 
Derivatives are measured at fair value. The resulting gain or loss on re-measurement is recognised immediately 
in the statement of profit or loss, unless the derivative is designated into an effective hedge relationship as a 
hedging instrument. The Group designates currently only derivatives as cash flow hedges (where the derivative 
is used to manage the variability in cash flows relating to recognised liabilities or forecast transactions). Please 
refer to Note 9 under Fair value measurement for information on how fair value is determined.

Cash flow hedges
If a financial instrument is designated as a cash flow hedging instrument the effective portion of the changes 
in the fair value of the derivative are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a sep-
arate reserve in equity (cash flow hedge reserve). Subsequently the cumulative amount is transferred to the 
statement of profit or loss when the underlying transactions are recognised. 

The ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the hedging instruments are recognised immediately.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires, is terminated, is exercised, or no 
longer qualifies for hedge accounting. The cumulative gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income 
remains in the hedge reserve until the forecast transaction occurs, or it is immediately recognised in the state-
ment of profit or loss if the transaction is no longer expected to occur.

The Group applies hedge accounting to the borrowings and the associated interest rate swaps, for move-
ments in benchmark interest rates (i.e. excluding any margin component). The secured debt and the interest 
rate swap agreement has critical terms that match and are expected to be highly effective. Critical terms 
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are defined as currencies, nominal amounts and maturity. All interest rate swaps are designated as hedging 
instruments. Hedge ineffectiveness can arise from changes in counterparty credit risk. 

As per December 2022 the Group has entered into interest rate swaps, swapping from floating to fixed interest 
rate, for all long-term debt related to power plants, see note 23 Long-term debt.

The Group also applies hedge accounting to highly probable future sales of power where there is an economic 
relationship between the hedged item (usually set at a low % of the total exposure) and the hedging instrument. 
The terms of the derivative (PPA) match the terms of the expected highly probable forecast transactions (i.e. % 
notional and payment date).

Hedge accounting 
Hedging instruments designates in a hedge accounting relationship 
Information about hedging instruments that the Group has designated in a hedge accounting relationship is 
presented in the following table.

Carrying amount of the 
hedging instruments

Risk and hedging instruments
Maturity 

(months)

Weighted 
average  

rate/price1

Nominal 
amount2 Assets Liabilities

Cash flow hedges

Interest rate risk - borrowings

Interest rate swap (IRS) - NOK 37-172 1.815% 369 278 36 (1)

Commodity price risk – Forecast transactions

Fixed price PPA 60 133 21 2 -

1	 The weighted average prices for commodity hedges are presented as the price per megawatt hour for electricity (EUR/MWh)
2	 Nominal amount is the nominal value converted into NOK using the exchange rate at year end.

The carrying amount of the Forte interest swap is NOK 57m per 31 December recognised in other compre-
hensive income, with tax effect of NOK -13m. 

Hedge accounting impact to reserves in other comprehensive income:

NOK million
As at 

31.12.2022
As at 

31.12.2021

Opening balance 3 1

Net change in value of effective derivative hedging instruments 91 2

Interest rate swap (IRS) - NOK 32 2

Fixed price PPA 2 0

Interest rate swap (IRS) - NOK Forte 57 0

Deferred tax/tax credit -20 -1

Total movement 71 2

Closing balance 74 3

 
Impact from derivatives not designated in a hedge relationship
In addition to derivatives that are designated and qualify for hedge accounting, the Group also has two 
derivatives as economic hedges of foreign currency and price exposure. This is a PPA related to Bøen Kraft 
and a EUR swap related to future capex in EUR at Sundby Vindpark. 

The change in fair value of these derivatives have had limited impact on the profit or loss statement in 2022.  



123Cloudberry Annual report 2022

Financial statements

Statement of profit or loss  
and comprehensive income

Note 11  Sales revenues and other operating income

Accounting principle 
Revenue recognition 
The Group accounts for revenue in accordance with 
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and 
applies the five-step method to all revenue streams. 

The Group’s sales revenues are divided into the 
following categories:

1.	 	Sale of hydro and wind generated electricity 
delivered to the grid, el-certificates and  
guarantees of origin.

2.	 	Sale of management services for hydro and  
wind power assets.

3.	 Sale of management services for development  
of hydro and wind assets

4.	 	Digital services 

5.	 	Consultancy services within accounting and  
IT management.

6.	 	Agency fee power sales

Revenue from power production or related products 
bear the characteristic of delivering power, el-cer-
tificates and guarantees of origin, at a certain price. 
The performance obligation is to deliver a series of 
distinct goods (power or related products) and the 
transaction price is the consideration the Group 
expects to receive, at either spot price, regulated 
price or contract price. The performance obligation 
is satisfied over time which entails that revenue 
should be recognized for each unit delivered at the 
transaction price. The Group applies a practical 
expedient under IFRS 15 whereby the revenue from 
power for most of the contracts is recognized at the 
amount of which the entity has a right to invoice. 
The right to invoice power arises when power is 
produced and delivered, and the right to invoice the 

consideration will normally correspond directly with 
the value to the customer. The right to invoice for 
el-certificates and guarantees of origin arise when 
the certificates are delivered. 

Revenue from management and consultancy ser-
vices is recognized when the service is performed, 
and the Group has an unconditional right to the 
consideration settlement. When the performance 
obligation is fulfilled and the Group has an uncon-
ditional right to the consideration, this is presented 
separately in the balance sheet as a receivable.

Agency fee from power sales are services related to 
power trade on behalf of power producers. Agency 
fee revenues are presented net and represent only 
the agency fee. This is because the Group acts on 
behalf of the power producer and does not trade 
at its own risk. A smaller part of the trade portfolio 
includes risk related to unbalance, but this risk is 
actively reduced as much as possible.

When determining the transaction price for each 
element in the contract, the Group adjusts for the 
time value of money if the timing of payment agreed 
to by the parties provides the customer with a 
significant benefit of financing. The Group applies 
a practical approach, and the consideration is not 
adjusted for a financing component if the period 
between the transfer for the goods or service and 
the payment is less than a year.

Other income 
Sale of ready to build development projects is 
assessed as not part of the ordinary course of daily 
business, as each transaction is unique. The sales of 
ready-to-build development projects is accounted 
net of inventory costs and presented as other 
income in accordance with IFRS 10. The projects are 
often organized in single-purpose-vehicles (SPV) and 
the net gain and net loss is recognized when control 
of the project SPV is transferred to the acquirer. Net 
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gain or loss from sale of fixed assets (producing 
power plants) is classified and presented as other 
income.

Government grants  
Government grants are conditional to own gen-
eration of power from certain technologies. This 
includes el-certificates and guarantees of origin 
(GoO). The right to receive the grants are obtained at 

the time of generation. When the el-certificates and 
GoO are granted, they are measured at cost and 
classified as other income and inventory. Cost of 
government grants is zero. Upon subsequent sales, 
the sales price is recognized within sales revenues. 

Total revenue 
The consolidated revenues are presented in the 
table below.

NOK million 2022 2021

Power related products 152 33

Asset Management 28 3

Project development services 4 -

Consultancy services 12 -

Digital Services 2 -

Agency fee power trade 11 -

Other revenue 1 -

Sales revenues 208 35

Net gain sale of PPE and project inventory 8 -

Public grants - El certificates and guarantees of origin - -

Other  - 6

Other income 9 6

Total revenue 217 41

99% of all external revenue is generated in Norway, the remaining is generated in Sweden and Switzerland. 
For information about the revenue split between business segments, see note 4.

Note 12  Employee benefits and share based payments

Accounting principle 
Employee benefits are accrued in the period in which the associated services are rendered by the employ-
ees of the Company.

Share-based compensation
The Group has an equity incentive plan for top management and key employees. The programme includes 
the issue of warrants for shares in the Company. 

The Group applies the Black-Scholes model based on the market price to determine the fair value at the 
grant date. The grant date is determined by the Board of Directors. The fair value of the warrants is recog-
nised as a personnel expense over the vesting period, at the same time a corresponding increase in paid 
in equity is recognised. The vesting period is the period over which all the specified vesting conditions are 
to be satisfied. On each balance date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of warrants that are 
expected to be exercisable.  Any adjustments will be recognised in the income statement and corresponding 
adjustment to equity. Social security tax is recognised in the profit and loss statement and a provision is 
recognised in the balance sheet.
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Significant estimates and judgement
Share based payment
The fair value of management warrant programme makes use of an estimation model, Black-Scholes for 
calculation the call option value at grant date and at the balance sheet day. This model makes use of man-
agement estimates for expected life of option, volatility, interest rate and expected dividend yield. 

Employee benefits
The table below shows the employee benefits accrued in the period and the capitalized costs relate to 
development projects.

NOK million 2022 2021

Salaries 67 22

Social security tax 9 5

Pension costs 3 1

Share based payment 26 4

Other benefits 2 -

Gross personnel expenses 106 33

- Capitalized development costs (project inventory) (15) (5)

Total personnel expenses 91 28

Average number of full-time equivalents (FTEs) 55 12

Number of full-time equivalents  as 31.12 (FTEs) 62 14

Included in salaries are remuneration to board members, see note 27 transactions with related parties. 

Pension
The Group has an established pension scheme that is classified as a defined contribution plan. The pension 
scheme is in line with the requirements of the law. Contributions to the defined contribution schemes are 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which the contribution amounts are 
earned by the employees. The defined contribution plan does not commit the Group beyond the amounts 
contributed.

Remuneration of Executive Group management 
The remuneration of the Executive Group Management is based on a fixed salary, including personal benefits 
such as free telephone and health insurance, a variable group performance bonus scheme, pension bene-
fits, and a long-term share-based incentive program. 
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The table below shows the remuneration in 2022

NOK million

Anders  
Lenborg 

(CEO) 

Christian 
Helland 

(CVO) 

Jon Gunnar 
Solli  

(COO) 

Charlotte 
Bergqvist 

(CDO) 

Stig J. 
Østebrøt 

(CTO) 

Ingrid 
Bjørdal 1 
(CCOO) Total

Salary 3 3 2 1 3 1 12

Bonus 2 1 1 - - - 4

Pension costs - - - - - - 1

Share based payment 6 5 2 1 - - 14

Total reportable benefits paid 2022 11 8 5 3 3 1 31

1	 Ingrid Bjørdal was hired 1.9.2022, the salary represent 4 months. 

 
The table below shows the remuneration in 2021

NOK million

Anders  
Lenborg 

(CEO)

Christian 
Helland 

(CVO)

Suna 
Alkan 
(CSO)

Jon Gunnar 
Solli 

(COO)

Tor Arne 
Pedersen 

(CDO) Total

Salary 3 2 2 2 2 10

Bonus 1 1 - 1 - 3

Pension costs - - - - - -

Share based payment 2 1 - 1 - 4

Total reportable benefits paid 2021 6 4 2 3 2 18

Total remuneration, warrants and shares for top management per year end:

FY 2022

NOK million Holding Company 
Shares 

pr 31.12.22

Total 
remun-
aration

Warrants 
grantet 

2022
Warrants 

pr 01.01.22

Warrants 
grantet 

total 
pr 31.12.22

Warrants 
exercised

Anders  Lenborg (CEO) Lenco AS 1 363 546 11 700 000 2 695 000 3 395 000 -

Christian Helland (CVO) Amandus Invest AS 452 758 8 550 000 2 000 000 2 550 000 -

Jon Gunnar Solli  (COO) Lotmar Invest AS 613 723 5 250 000 900 000 1 150 000 -

Charlotte Bergqvist (CDO) - 3 600 000 - 600 000 -

Stig J. Østebrøt (CTO) 25 000 3 - - - -

Ingrid Bjørdal  (CCOO) 40 000 1 - - - -

19 1 400 000 2 900 000 4 300 000 -

FY 2021

NOK million Holding Company 
Shares 

pr 31.12.21

Total 
remun-
aration

Warrants 
grantet 

2021
Warrants 
pr 01.01.21

Warrants 
grantet 

total 
pr 31.12.21

Warrants 
exercised

Anders  Lenborg (CEO) Lenco AS 1 323 546 6 1 900 000 795 000 2 695 000 -

Christian Helland (CVO) Amandus Invest AS 452 758 4 1 500 000 500 000 2 000 000 -

Suna Alkan (CSO) Cappadocia Invest AS 233 448 2 300 000 225 000 525 000 -

Jon Gunnar Solli  (COO) Lotmar Invest AS 600 498 3 600 000 300 000 900 000 -

Tor Arne Pedersen (CDO) Viva North AS 139 128 2 300 000 300 000 600 000 -

18 4 600 000 2 120 000 6 720 000 -
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Share based payments and long-term incentive program 
In accordance with the terms adopted by the General Meeting of the Company on 21 March 2020, the Board 
of Directors has established a share incentive scheme for the executive managers and key employees of the 
Group. The key conditions are as follows:

The equity incentive plan may cover up to 5% of the issued shares in the Company from time to time. 
Allocations are proposed by the Board and subject to shareholder approval. The exercise price for the war-
rants is determined by the Board in its reasonable discretion based on fair market value of the Shares on the 
date of the Board of Directors proposed allocation of warrants under the program. The determined exercise 
price is subject to approval by the general meeting in relation with issuance of warrants.  The duration of the 
warrants from grant date is 5 years. The vesting period is normally 3 years from the grant date. 

The value of the warrants in the accounts are calculated at the grant date given a fair value using the Black-
Scholes model. The key assumptions applied for the grants in 2022 are 40% volatility (based on listed peer 
with 3 years historical data and updated with historic volatility for the Company from listing on the Main List 
Oslo Børs to the grant date in June 2022), 2.8% interest rate and approx. 1% dividend yield. Other inputs to the 
model are current stock price, exercise price and expected life of option (vesting period + one year). 

The table shows the outstanding warrants as of 1 January and 31 December and movements in the year:

FY 2022

Outstanding warrants 01.01. 7 700 000

Granted in 2022 3 000 000

Exercised in 2022 -

Expired in 2022 (200 000)

Outstanding warrants 31.12. 10 500 000

Vested 31.12.2022 3 299 995

Charged to profit and loss statement 2022 (NOK million ) 25

Charged to equity 2022 (NOK million ) 26

FY 2021

Outstanding warrants 01.01.2021 2 200 000

Granted in 2021 5 500 000

Exercised in 2021 -

Expired in 2021 -

Outstanding warrants 31.12.2021 7 700 000

Vested 31.12.2021 2 200 000

Charged to profit and loss statement 2021 (NOK million ) 5

Charged to equity 2021 (NOK million ) 4
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As of the date of the annual report the following warrants have been issued:   

FY 2022

NOK million # Warrants Grant date Expiry date

Weighted 
Average 

remaining 
contractual 

life

Weighted 
Average 

Strike Price

Vested 
instruments 

31.12.2022

Weighted 
Average 

Strike Price

Share 
Price  

(grant 
date) 

Warrant package #1 775 000 20.03.2020 20.03.2025 2.2 11.1 516 665 11.1 11.1

Warrant package #2 1 425 000 25.09.2020 25.09.2025 2.7 12.2 949 998 12.2 13.1

Warrant package #3 5 500 000 17.06.2021 17.06.2026 3.5 12.5 1 833 332 12.5 14.7

Warrant package #4 3 000 000 15.06.2022 28.04.2027 4.3 17.4 - - 16.0

10 700 000

Per 31 December 2022, the equity incentive plan covers 3.7% of the issued shares in the Company.

Note 13  Other operating expenses

The table shows the breakdown of other operating expenses in FY 2022 and FY 2021. 

NOK million 2022 2021

Lease short-term and variable 28 7

External accounting and auditing fees 8 5

Legal and other fees 22 16

Operating and maintenance power plants 2 4

Project costs 4 22

Other 16 1

Total other operating expenses 81 55

For information about other lease expenses and lease agreements see note 25 Lease agreements.  

Expenses related to statutory audit and other auditor services is presented below:

NOK million 2022 2021

Statutory audit 3 3

Tax counselling - -

Other assuranse services 1 -

Total auditor costs 4 3
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Note 14  Financial items

The table shows the breakdown of financial income and financial expense in FY 2022 and FY 2021.

Financial income

NOK million 2022 2021

Interest income 11 1

Other financial income 13 2

Exchange differences 44 4

Total financial income 67 6

Financial expense

NOK million 2022 2021

Interest expense (22) (9)

Guarantees and commitment fees (1) (6)

Other financial expense (5) (5)

Exchange differences (45) (12)

Capitalized interest 12 4

Total financial expense (62) (29)

Other financial income comprises of income from placements in money market funds. 

The cash effect of interest payments and commitment fee related to long-term borrowing facility was 
NOK 20m in 2022 (NOK 8m in FY2021). Other interest expenses relate to lease liabilities and asset retirement 
obligation. 

For further information about interest sensitivities and payments, please see note 8 Financial risks, note 10 
Hedge accounting, note 25 Lease agreements, note 23 Long term debt, and note 24 Provisions, guarantees 
and other contractual obligations. 

Net foreign exchange differences related to Group internal loans are NOK -1m, while net foreign exchange 
difference related to external parties are NOK 0m. 
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Note 15  Income tax expense

Accounting principle 
Income tax is calculated in accordance with ordinary tax rules and by applying the adopted tax rate. The 
tax expense in the statement of comprehensive income comprises taxes payable and changes in deferred 
tax liabilities and deferred tax assets. Taxes payable are calculated on the basis of the taxable income for 
the year. Deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets are calculated on the basis of temporary differences 
between the accounting and tax values and the tax effect of losses carried forward.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Deferred tax 
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that they will be utilised. Tax related to items recog-
nised in other comprehensive income is also recognised in other comprehensive income, while tax related to 
equity transactions is recognised in equity.

Tax expense and deferred tax
The table below show the tax expense in the income statement  

NOK million 2022 2021

Tax expense in the income statement

Income tax payable 1 -

Change in deferred income tax (1) 1

Tax expense in the income statement - 1

Reconsiliation of nominal tax rate and effective tax rate

Profit before income tax 122 (64)

Nominal tax rate 22% 22%

Expected tax expense (27) 14

Effect on taxes of:

Permanent differences 34 (2)

Not regognized tax asset related to tax losses carried forward (7) (12)

Changes related to deferred tax on excess values (3) 1

Changes related to other deferred tax 2 -

Tax expense in the income statement - 1

The appropriate tax rate in Norway and Sweden is 22% and 20,6% respectively. 
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The table shows the deferred tax asset and liability in the balance sheet. 

NOK million 2022 2021

Temporarily differences deferred tax asset:

Property, plant and equipment (22) -

Derivatives 24 -

Other receivables (3) -

Tax loss carried forward 326 322

Subtotal 325 323

Of which not recognised as tax asset (192) (247)

Basis for deferred tax asset 133 76

Deferred tax asset 29 17

Temporarily differences deferred tax liability:

Inventory valuation (83) (47)

Property, plant and equipment (542) (402)

Intangible assets (53) -

Derivatives (38) (4)

Other 4 0

Basis for deferred tax liability (711) (453)

Deferred tax liability (156) (100)

Reconsiliation to the statement of financial position 

Deferred tax asset 29 17

Deferred tax liability (156) (100)

Net deferred tax liabilities in the statement of financial position (127) (83)

 
As per 31 December 2022 the Group has recorded a valuation allowance of NOK 192m (247m) related to 
tax losses carried forward, which is not included as a recognised deferred tax asset. It will be made a new 
assessment of tax asset recognition after the final outcome of the new tax proposal during 2023. 

The table below show the movement in the deferred tax liability in the statement of financial position from  
1 January to 31 December 

NOK million 2022 2021

Net deferred tax libility at 01.01 (83) (14)

Change in deferred tax (in profit or loss statement) 1 1

Change in deferred tax (recognised in other comprehensive income) (8) (1)

Acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries (41) (69)

Other and currency translation differences 3

Net deferred tax libility at 31.12 (127) (83)
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Statement of financial position

Note 16  Property, plant and equipment

Accounting principle 
Property, plant, and equipment (PPE) is measured 
at historical cost less accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses. Land is not 
depreciated. 

The initial cost of a PPE asset comprises its pur-
chase price or construction cost, any costs directly 
attributable to bringing the asset into operation, the 
initial estimate of asset retirement obligation if any, 
and for qualifying assets, borrowing costs incurred 
in the construction period. Subsequent costs are 
included in the asset’s carrying amount or recog-
nised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when 
it is probable that future economic benefits associ-
ated with the item will flow to the group and the cost 
of the item can be measured reliably. 

All repairs and maintenance are charged to profit 
or loss during the reporting period in which they are 
incurred. If a separate component is damaged and 
replaced, the component is derecognised and the 
carrying amount is charged to the profit and loss 
statement as an impairment loss in the period. The 
replacement component is capitalized as a new 
item of PPE. 

Each component of a PPE item with a cost that is 
significant in relation to the total cost of the item is 
depreciated separately. Depreciation is calculated 
using the straight-line method to allocate costs over 
their estimated useful lives. Depreciation of hydro 
and wind power plants commences when the plant 
is ready for managements intended use, normally at 
the date of the grid connection and commissioning. 
The depreciation period is adapted to the duration 
of the landowner contract period.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are 
reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate. Gains 
and losses on disposals are determined by compar-
ing actual proceeds with the carrying amount. Gains 
and losses on disposals are included in profit or loss.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs 
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of a qualify-
ing asset is included as a part of cost. Other borrow-
ing costs are recognised as an expense. 

Asset retirement obligation (ARO)
Provisions for asset retirement costs are recognised 
when the Group has an obligation to dismantle and 
remove a power plant and must restore the site 
on which it is located. The asset retirement cost is 
capitalised as a part of the carrying value of the 
power plant and depreciated over the useful life of 
the plants. 

Estimated useful life of power plants
The estimated useful life of power plants is based 
on assumptions on expected usage of the plant, 
expected wear and tear, technical or commercial 
obsolescence, legal or other regulatory limitations or 
lease expiry.   

The power plants in current operations have 
expected useful life between 20-60 years. 

Significant estimates and judgement
Assessment of asset acquisition 
or business combination
Significant management judgement is required in 
the assessment if an acquired project or power plant 
is a business combination or an asset acquisition. It 
is made a specific assessment for each acquisition.. 
If the acquisition is regarded as a business combi-
nation IFRS 3 Business Combinations will be applied, 
while if an asset, it will be either IAS 2 inventory or IAS 
16 Property plant and equipment that will be applied. 

For acquisitions that consist of a single power plant 
ready to construct, the acquisition will in most cases 
be regarded as an asset transaction, while acquisi-
tions including producing assets are mainly business 
combinations. However, to conclude on accounting 
treatment, a separate assessment is performed for 
each acquisition. 
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Impairment 
Producing power plants and power plants under 
construction are tested for impairment to the extent 
that indicators of impairment exist, please refer to 
Note 19 Impairment for details.

Property, plant and equipment
The table below shows the split of PPE into produc-
ing power plants, assets under construction, other 
equipment and right-to-use lease assets. 

FY 2022

NOK million

Producing 
power 
plants

Power 
plant under 

construction Equipment

Right to 
use - lease 

asset Total 

Accumulated cost 1.1.2022 819 255 2 6 1 082

Additions from bus.comb. and acqusitions during the year 303 - 1 24 328

Additions during the year 6 278 1 21 306

Transfer between groups 427 (427) - - -

Transfer from inventory - 16 - - 16

Cost of disposed assets (16) - - (5) (22)

Effects of movement in foreign exchange 3 (4) - - (1)

Accumulated cost at 31.12.2022 1 542 118 4 46 1 710

Accumulated depreciations and impairment losses at 1.1.2022 70 - 1 2 73

Accumulated depreciations acquired assets during the year 13 - 1 - 14

Depreciations for the year 22 - 1 5 28

Impairment losses - - - - -

Accomulated depreciations and impairment losses disposed 
assets

- - - (2) (2)

Effects of movements in foreigs exchange - - - - -

Accumulated depreciations and impairment losses at 
31.12.2022

106 - 2 5 113

Carrying amount at 31.12.2022 1 437 118 2 40 1 597

Carrying amount beginning of period 749 255 1 4 1 009

Estimated useful life (years) 25-60 5-10 5-10
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FY 2021

NOK million

Producing 
power 
plants

Power 
plant under 

construction Equipment

Right to 
use - lease 

asset Total 

Accumulated cost 1.1.2021 58 6 2 5 72

Additions from business combinations during the year 746 47 - - 794

Additions during the year 2 176 1 1 180

Transfer between groups 12 (15) - - (3)

Transfer from inventory - 44 - - 44

Cost of disposed assets - - (1) - (1)

Effects of movement in foreign exchange - (4) - - (4)

Accumulated cost at 31.12.2021 819 255 2 6 1 082

Accumulated depreciations and impairment losses at 1.1.2021 11 - 2 1 13

Accumulated depreciations acquired assets during the year 51 - - - 51

Depreciations for the year 8 - - 1 10

Impairment losses - - - - -

Accomulated depreciations and impairment losses disposed 
assets

- - (1) - (1)

Effects of movements in foreigs exchange - - - - -

Accumulated depreciations and impairment losses at 
31.12.2021

70 - 1 2 73

Carrying amount at end of period 749 255 1 4 1 009

Carrying amount beginning of period 48 6 1 4 58

Estimated useful life (years) 25-50 5-10 5-50

During 2022 the Group has expanded the portfolio 
of producing power plants with acquisitions of 
Ramsliåna, Tinnkraft, and Bøen Kraft, which are 
all producing power plants. The latter two were 
assessed as business combinations, see note 5 for 
further information. 

Two projects under construction, Hån Vindpark and 
Skåråna were completed during 2022 and have been 
transferred between asset classes and are now 
classified as producing power plants.  

Power plant assets are pledged as security for long 
term debt, see note 23 Long term debt. 

The development project Sundby Vindpark 
(Kafjärden) was transferred from inventory to power 
plant under construction (PPE) when final investment 
decision (FID) was made in December 2022. Sundby 
is the only power plant under construction as per 
year end.

Right to use lease assets include office lease 
and fixed amount fall lease on power plants. For 
further details about lease, please see 25 Lease 
agreements. 

The total contractual obligations related to the pro-
ject Sundby amounts to EUR 50m, of which EUR 12m 
is already invested and reflected in the table above. 

The obligation related to Øvre Kvemma is total 
investment of NOK 124m (enterprise value). The 
investment is expected to be financed with 50% 
debt. See note 24 Provisions, guarantees and con-
tractual obligations.
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Note 17  Intangible assets and goodwill 

Accounting principle 
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost, while the cost of intangible 
assets acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the date of the acquisition. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisations and accumulated 
impairment losses. 

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life, such as goodwill are not amortised on a regular basis, but 
instead tested annually for impairment or more frequently if there are circumstances indicating that the 
carrying value may be impaired. The Group’s goodwill derives from business combinations, the Group has no 
other intangible assets with indefinite useful life than goodwill as of 31 December 2022. 

Intangible assets with a finite lifetime are amortised over the useful life of the assets and assessed for impair-
ment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. 

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net 
identifiable assets of the acquired business at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is carried at cost less accu-
mulated impairment losses. 

Intangible assets and goodwill

NOK million Goodwill 
Intangible 

assets

Accumulated cost 1.1.2022 38 -

Additions from business combinations and acqusitions during the year 105 76

Additions during the year - 19

Accumulated cost at 31.12.2022 143 95

Accumulated amortizations and impairment losses at 1.1.2022 - -

Accumulated amortizations acquired assets during the year - 1

Amortizations for the year - 8

Impairment losses - -

Accumulated amortizations and impairment losses at 31.12.2022 - 9

Carrying amount at end of period 143 86

Estimated useful life (years) N/A 5-10

There are no comparable figures for 2021.

Intangible assets are related to inhouse developed software systems in Captiva (Operations). The main 
software systems are Captiva’s digital platform, “The Portal”, and Tyde hydro analytics system.  

Goodwill additions of NOK 105m from business combinations in 2022 is related to the Operations segment 
and the acquisition of Captiva (NOK 98m) and further investment in Enestor AS (NOK 7m) which was an 
associated company in the Captiva acquisition, but is now a subsidiary. 

In the acquisition of Captiva, goodwill was determined to be related to development know-how within hydro 
projects, a record of accomplishments, operational intelligence business systems integrated in the Captiva 
Group of other companies to benefit from each other, and the competence and experience of consultants 
within the industry. 
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Note 18  Inventory

Accounting principle
Inventories consist of development projects and government grants of el-certificates and guarantees of ori-
gin (GoO). Inventories are accounted for in accordance with IAS 2 Inventories. According to IAS 2 inventories 
are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Government grants of el-certificates and GoO 
are at granting measured and recognised at cost to inventory. Cost of government grants is zero. 

Development projects
Expenses related to research activities (project opportunities) are recognised in the statement of profit or 
loss as they incur. Expenses related to development activities are capitalised to the extent that the project 
qualifies for asset recognition, the Group is technically and commercially viable and has sufficient resources 
to complete the development work. 

Asset recognition of project inventory is done when the Group has the right to explore the developing project 
and is in the process to enter a concession application.  Before asset recognition, the projects are assessed 
if they meet the major key success prerequisites and must also meet the criteria for expected future eco-
nomic benefits, either from a project sale or from an in-house owned power producing power plant. 

Capitalized development costs consists of external development costs, capitalized salaries for internal 
employees and capitalized interest costs related to project funding. 

The development projects are part of the Development business segment and are mainly held for trading. 
A project can be reclassified to held for own use if it is selected to be kept as a long-term producing asset. 
When a project is ready to build, and the Group makes the final investment decision (FID), the projects will be 
reclassified to property, plant and equipment and accounted according to IAS 16.  

Inventory per year end

NOK million 31.12.2022 31.12.2021

Projects 106 154

Government grants - -

Total 106 154

The table below shows the split of project inventory in projects with construction permit and project backlog. 

FY 2022

NOK million
Projects - with 

construction permit
Projects - 

Backlog Total

Project inventory 01.01. 118 35 154

Acqusitions during the year 29 4 33

Capitalization (salary, borrowing cost, other expenses) 41 2 42

Realized (104) - (104)

Transfer to PPE (16) - (16)

Write down current year - - -

Effects of movements in foreign exchange (2) - (3)

Project inventory 31.12. 66 41 106
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FY 2021

NOK million
Projects - with 

construction permit
Projects - 

Backlog Total

Project inventory 01.01.21 163 33 196

Acqusitions during the year - - -

Capitalization (salary, borrowing cost, other expenses) 9 2 11

Realized - - -

Transfer to PPE (47) - (47)

Write down current year (3) - (3)

Effects of movements in foreign exchange (3) - (3)

Project inventory 31.12.21 118 35 154

Projects with construction permit comprise of the wind project Duvhällen and Munkhyttan (acquired in first 
quarter 2022). Both are located in SE3 Sweden. 

The development project Sundby Vindpark (Kafjärden, also acquired in first quarter 2022) was transferred 
from inventory to power plant under construction (PPE), when final investment decision was made in 
December 2022. 

Stenkalles, a shallow water project was in September disposed 50% with Hafslund joining as a new partner 
The project is now owned 50% and classified as a joint venture and equity accounted. 

Included in the carrying amount is capitalized external costs related to the projects, salary to the employees 
working with project development and borrowing costs. 

Capitalized costs in 2022 consists of NOK 4m (NOK 2m) in borrowing costs, NOK 5m (NOK 3m) in salaries and 
NOK 33m (NOK 7m) in external fees. The capitalisation rate applied for borrowing costs is 4%.

Note 19  Impairment

Accounting principle 
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
with a definite useful life are tested for impairment to 
the extent that indicators of impairment exist. 

When there are indicators that future earnings 
cannot justify the carrying value, the recoverable 
amount is calculated to consider whether an allow-
ance for impairment must be made. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less 
costs of disposal and its value in use. 

Previously impaired non-financial assets, except 
goodwill, are reviewed for possible reversal of the 
impairment at each reporting date. 

For the purposes of assessing impairment losses, 
assets are grouped at the lowest level for which 

there are separately identifiable cash flows 
(cash-generating units (CGUs)). The Group has 
identified the following CGUs:

Property plant and equipment 
(power producing assets)
	· 	Hydropower: Power plants sharing the same water 

flow and/or being subject to the same infrastruc-
ture limitation are managed together to optimise 
power generation.

	· 	Wind farms: The individual wind farm.

Inventory of projects
	· The individual project with construction permit 
	· 	Groups of similar projects that are in concession 

process and are connected in progress
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Equity accounted companies
	· The individual associated company or joint venture

Intangible assets
	· Captiva portal and related digital services
	· Tyde system with related digital services
	· Krasys system with related power trade agent 

services

Goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite 
useful life are not depreciated but are considered 
for impairment testing once every year and when 
there are circumstances or indicators implying an 
impairment test should be performed. Impairment is 
determined for goodwill by assessing the recovera-
ble amount for each cash-generating unit (CGU) to 
which the goodwill relates. Impairment losses relat-
ing to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods. 

Significant estimates and judgement
Management have applied significant judgement 
to decide on and assess relevant impairment 
indicators. Factors that trigger impairment testing 
include, but is not limited to, changes in long power 
price estimates, political changes, underperforming 
power plants in terms of production, changes in the 
Groups strategy or macroeconomic fluctuations.  

For intangible assets impairment indicators may be 
underperforming sales or negative development in 
market conditions. 

Value in use calculation is based on a discounted 
cash flow model. The future cash flows in the model 
are based on a number of significant estimates 
and assumptions such as future market conditions, 
discount rates and estimated useful life and market 
price for development projects with construction 
permit, or sales volume for services. The estimates 
are based on the Group’s budgets and long-term 
outlooks approved by management. 

The Group monitors changes in government leg-
islations and regulations on a continuous basis, 
changes may impact key assumptions in the value in 
use calculations in future periods. 

Impairment test of Goodwill 
Goodwill 
For impairment testing of goodwill, the relevant level 
for impairment testing is the cash generating unit 
(CGU), this has been identified and defined as the 
following: 

NOK million Total

Development 37

Production 1

Operations 105

Total  143

The recoverable amount for these assets has been 
determined estimating the value in use of the assets 
and comparing against the carrying value of the 
CGU’s. 

Goodwill related to Operations origins from the 
acquisition of Captiva in January 2022. The goodwill 
was determined to be related to a long record of 
accomplishments, business know-how, reputation 
and established business related to development 
within hydro projects, advisory within asset manage-
ment and financial services, IT-support and general 
operational intelligence business systems integrated 
in the Captiva Group of other companies to benefit 
from each other, and the competence and experi-
ence of consultants within the industry. The goodwill 
amount was in the purchase price allocation allo-
cated to the operation CGU and segment. 

The Group applies discounted cash flow model for 
impairment testing of goodwill and intangible assets. 

The impairment test is sensitive to the following key 
assumptions and estimates:
	· Captiva is currently in a ramp-up phase and a dis-

count rate of 15% on the cash flows has been applied 
to adjust for the ramp-up risk

	· Future cash flows estimated for the period FY 
2023 – FY 2032. The business plan estimates a ramp 
up period of three years from Captiva’s business 
plan, then normal business with 3% annual growth 
in the scenario. Plans for ramp up years have been 
assessed and approved by management and the 
Board.  

SaaS and ARR multiples are used as impairment 
indicators and as a valuation method. 
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The Group is of the view that no reasonable possible 
change in the key assumptions listed above would 
cause the carrying value to materially exceed the 
recoverable amount for the CGU. 

No impairment loss was recognised as the recovera-
ble amounts exceed the carrying amount. 

Goodwill related to Development origins from the 
acquisition of Scanergy AS in February 2020. The 
goodwill was determined to be related to the large 
pipeline of project prospects within wind on land and 
shallow water, the know-how and business connec-
tions (employees), the record of accomplishments 
over the past 10 years for the company acquired, as 
well as synergies. 

The model for impairment testing of goodwill related 
to the Development segment is based om the same 
model as for impairment testing projects, which is 
value in use based on a discounted cash flow model. 

The impairment test is sensitive to the following key 
assumptions: 
	· 	future cash flows with price per MW/GWh for 

development projects
	· 	Timing of project development and concession 

grant, 
	· 	Applied discount rate of 12%

The Group is of the view that no reasonable possible 
change in the key assumptions listed above would 
cause the carrying value to materially exceed the 
recoverable amount for the CGU.

No impairment loss was recognised as the recovera-
ble amounts exceed the carrying amount. 

The goodwill related to Production origins from the 
acquisition of Selselva Kraft AS in January 2021. The 
goodwill was determined to be related to a potential 
expansion of the power plant. 

The model for impairment testing of goodwill related 
to the Production segment is based on the same 
model for value in use and a discounted cash flow 
model. 

The impairment test did not result in any impairment 
losses and the Group’s value in use was significantly 
higher than the carrying amount.

Impairment test of other assets
Property plant and equipment (producing 
and under construction power plants)
The Group uses an internal valuation model based 
on external input as the impairment indicator for 
PPE. This model makes use and combines the most 
relevant internal and external input factors, such as 
long-term power price estimates, interest rate level, 
tax and regulatory changes and asset performance. 

For the majority of the producing power plants 
there was no impairment indicator observed and 
no further impairment testing to calculate recov-
erable amount for the remaining power plants was 
performed. The impairment indicator applied was 
based on updated long-term power prices, the new 
tax proposal that was announced in September 
2022 and increased interest rate levels.

When taking the new tax proposal into consideration  
(see section below), the only asset that would need 
further impairment testing was Røyrmyra wind farm. 
An external valuation was nevertheless not pre-
formed because the crucial factor was the new tax 
proposal. Since this is not finally voted on, the Group 
awaits the final outcome (expected during summer 
2023) before a new assessment and impairment test 
is performed. 

For one other producing power plant asset, the 
assessment of observed impairment indicator was 
sensitive to changes in estimates and assumptions 
and close to having an impairment indicator. If future 
interest rate increase or long-term power price 
decrease the asset must be tested for impairment 

New Norwegian tax proposal
In September 2022 the Norwegian government 
proposed several new tax proposals for the power 
producing industry. With respect to land-based wind 
farms (both existing and new) which are subject to 
license requirement and hydropower plants with an 
installed effect of minimum 1 MW, the Norwegian 
government proposed to introduce a high price 
contribution tax  levied on energy sold at a price 
above NOK 0.70/kWh at a rate of 23%, with effect 
from 1 January 2023. The high price contribution tax 
is not expected to be deductible in the calculation 
of corporate income tax or resource rent tax and 
expected only to be in effect until the end of 2024. 
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Further, the Norwegian government has informed 
that they plan to introduce a resource rent tax with 
an effective tax rate of 40%, and natural resource tax 
for land-based wind farms (both existing and new) 
which are subject to license requirement, with effect 
from 1 January 2023. The high price contribution 
and the ground rent resource tax is in effect from 01. 
January 2023, but has not been passed as legisla-
tion by the Parliament. The Norwegian government 
has published a consultation paper in Q4 2022, and 
official hearings ended 15 of March 2023.  A final vote 
in the Parliament is expected in the summer 2023. If 
passed it is expected to be in effect from 01.01.2023.

Investments in associated companies 
and joint ventures 
With application of the equity method, the Group 
determines whether it is necessary to recognise an 
impairment loss on its investment in its associated 
companies. At each reporting date, the Group 
determines whether there is an impairment indicator 
observed which indicates the need for impairment 
testing. If so, the Group calculates the amount of 
impairment as the difference between the recovera-
ble amount of the associate and the carrying value, 
and then recognises the loss as “net income/loss” 
from associated companies and joint ventures in 
the statement of profit or loss. The same method as 
for recoverable amount and value in use is used as 
for producing/ under construction power plants or 
project inventory is applied. 

For the investments related to producing power plants, 
there was no relevant impairment indicator observed, 
and no further impairment testing was performed. 

Intangible assets
The Groups intangible assets are related to IT 
systems and customer portfolio. The IT systems are 
related to the Captiva portal, TYDE science and soft-
ware developed in Kraftanmelding AS. 

The valuation model applied for these software 
systems are SaaS and ARR multiples with future 
sales estimates and discounted cash flow mod-
els. Relevant impairment indicators which would 
trigger impairment testing include significant fall in 
observed market multiples, underperformance in 
sales compared with forecasts, IT system develop-
ment delays. 

During the 2022 the mentioned multiples have fallen, 
and the Group has tested the assets for impairment. 

The model for impairment testing is based on a 
multiple valuation for SAAS and ARR.  

The impairment test is sensitive to the following key 
assumptions and estimates:
	· SaaS and ARR multiples are used as impairment 

indicators and as a valuation method. The 
multiples are based on a peer of comparable 
companies. 

	· Applied future sales forecast for 3 years, and the 
multiple valuations is based on the second year. 

The Group is of the view that no reasonable possible 
change in the key assumptions listed above would 
cause the carrying value to materially exceed the 
recoverable amount for the CGUs. 

No impairment loss was recognised as the recovera-
ble amounts exceed the carrying amount. 

Inventory (development projects)
For project inventory impairment is performed if 
net sales value is less than the carrying value of 
the asset. The Group has a quarterly routine to go 
through all projects to secure satisfying progress 
and attention. If a project does not qualify for 
internally prioritization, but the projects is put on hold 
or discontinued, the book value is impairment tested 
and a sales value is assessed. If the sales value, less 
cost of disposal is less than book value, an impair-
ment loss classified as a write down is recognized 
over the profit or loss statement. 

Net realizable amount for projects with construction 
permit is set to an estimated market price per MW or 
per GWh that is reasonable to expect if the projects 
was to be sold. The price is compared with recent 
observable market transactions. 

As per 31 December the Group has an impairment 
loss of less the NOK 0.5m related to a minor develop-
ment project due to the prospects of profitability in 
the project. The impairment loss is classified as cost 
of goods sold.   

Projects are reported in the Development segment.
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Note 20  Investments in associated companies and joint ventures 

Accounting principle 
Investments in associated companies
An associated company is an entity over which 
the Group has significant influence and that is not 
a subsidiary or a joint arrangement. Significant 
influence is the power to participate in the financial 
and operating policy decisions of the investee but 
without the ability to have control over those policies. 
Significant influence normally exists when the Group 
has 20% to 50% voting power through ownership or 
agreements. Investments in associated companies 
are accounted for using the equity method. 

Joint arrangements  
A joint arrangement is a contractual arrangement 
whereby the Group and other parties undertake 
an economic activity that is subject to joint control. 
That is when the strategic financial and operating 
policy decisions relating to the activities of the 
joint arrangement require the unanimous consent 
of the parties sharing control. If the parties to the 
joint arrangement have rights to the net assets of 
the arrangement, the arrangement is classified 
as a joint venture. If the parties have rights to the 
assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to 
the arrangement, the arrangement is classified as 
a joint operation. Currently the company has only a 
joint venture. 

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using 
the equity method.

Equity method
Under the equity method of accounting, the invest-
ments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted 
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the 
post-acquisition profit or loss. Dividends received or 
receivable from associated companies, are recog-
nised as a reduction of the carrying amount of the 
investment. 

Unrealised gains or transactions between the Group 
and the associated companies are eliminated to 
the extent of the Groups interest in the entities. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the 
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of 
the assets transferred. Accounting policies of equity 
accounted investees have been changed were 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group. 

Equity accounted investments are reviewed each 
period to determine whether there is any objective 
evidence that the net investment is impaired. 

Goodwill relating to the associated company is 
included in the carrying amount of the investment 
and is not tested for impairment separately.
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The table shows the summarized investments in associated companies included in the Groups balance 
sheet as of 31 December 2022
 

Name of Entity Place of 
business

Consolidated 
economic 
interest per 
31.12.22	 Segment Princippal Activities

Forte Energy Norway AS with SPV's. Assosiated company Norway 34.0% Production Hydro power

Odal Vind AS Assosiated company Norway 33.4% Production Wind power under 
construction 

Stenkalles Holding AS Joint Venture Sweden 50.0% Development Offshore wind  with 
construction permit

Proxima Hydrotech AS Assosiated company Norway 33.3% Operations Management hydro 

 
Forte Energy Norway AS (Forte)
Forte was acquired by the Group in November 2020. Forte owns 14 producing hydro power assets and one 
power offtake agreement in Norway, with a combined normalized annual production of 87 GWh net to 
Cloudberry. The hydro power assets have an average license life of minimum 50 years.

Odal Vind AS (Odal)
Odal was first acquired in December 2020 with 15% ownership, and further increased its ownership to 33.4%  
in July 2021.  The other owners of Odal Vind AS are Akershus Energi Vind AS and KLP, owning 33.4% and 33.2% 
respectively. Odal windfarm has been constructed during 2021 and 2022 and is now finished and was in full 
production from second half of 2022. The windfarm has a normalized annual production of 176 GWh net to 
Cloudberry and the remaining concession is 29 years. 

Stenkalles Holding AS (Stenkalles) 
Stenkalles Holding AS includes two Swedish subsidiaries owning the Stenkalles Grund project. The Stenkalles 
Grund project is a 100 MW shallow-water wind project in the lake of Vänern in south-central Sweden (SE3). 
50% of the project was sold to Hafslund Vekst AS in September 2022, bringing them in as a joint partner. 
Together the parties will work towards a final investment decision (FID) for the project. The 50% ownership is 
now accounted as a joint venture.   
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The table show the summarised financial information in the Group accounts for equity accounted companies.  

FY 2022

NOK million

Forte 
Energy 

Norway AS
Odal Vind 

AS
Stenkalles 

Holding AS

Proxima 
Hydrotech 

AS Total

Book value beginning of year 254 423 - - 677

Additions of invested capital - 31 17 2 50

Share of profit/loss for the year 41 74 - - 114

Depreciation of excess value (3) - - - (3)

IFRS adjustment 9 - - - 9

Dividend paid to the owners (31) - - - (31)

Correction from previous years result - - - - -

Currency translation differences 2 27 - - 29

Items charges to equity 45 - - - 45

Book value at reporting date 317 555 17 1 890

Excess value beginning of year 137 19 - - 156

Correction against booked equity - - - - -

Excess value 31 December 134 19 1 - 154

Book value of equity at 31 December associated company/JV 183 536 16 1 736

 

 
FY 2021

NOK million

Forte 
Energy 

Norway AS
Odal Vind 

AS
Stenkalles 

Holding AS

Proxima 
Hydrotech 

AS Total

Book value beginning of year 234 103 - - 337

Additions of invested capital - 332 - - 332

Share of Profit/loss for the year 16 (4) - - 12

Depreciation of excess value (3) - - - (3)

Dividend paid to the owners - - - - -

Correction from previous years result 1 - - - 1

IFRS adjustment 6 - - - 6

Currency translation differences - (8) - - (8)

Items charges to equity - - - - -

Book value at reporting date 254 423 - - 677

Excess value beginning of year 141 7 - - 148

Correction against booked equity (1) - - - (1)

Excess value 31 December 137 19 - - 156

Book value of equity at 31 December associated company/JV 116 404 - - 520



Cloudberry Annual report 2022

Financial statements

144

The IFRS adjustment in Forte relates to the power off take agreement which in the Forte accounts is recog-
nised at cost, while in the Group accounts according to IFRS is recognised in the balance sheet at fair value 
with the change in fair value recognised in the periods profit or loss statement.

The table shows the summarized financial information for Forte and Odal. The figures apply to 100% of the 
companies’ operations. 

Revenue and balance total

FY 2022 FY 2021

NOK million
Forte Energy 

Norway AS Odal Vind AS Total 
Forte Energy 

Norway AS Odal Vind AS Total 

Revenue 337 405 742 122 - 122

Operating costs (167) (98) (265) (48) (7) (56)

Depreciations and amortisations (21) (22) (42) (20) - (20)

Operating profit 149 285 434 54 (8) 47

Net interest expenses 43 (13) 30 27 (3) 24

Tax expense (38) (53) (91) (18) (2) (20)

Profit for the period 153 219 373 63 (13) 50

Total non current assets 1 197 2 160 3 358 950 1 701 2 651

Total current assets 270 557 827 117 518 635

Total cash and cash equivalents 242 83 325 99 399 499

Long term debt 687 907 1 593 664 882 1 546

Short term debt 243 206 449 60 127 187

Equity 538 1 604 2 142 343 1 209 1 552

The table shows the Group’s share of the summarized financial information on a line for line basis for Forte 
and Odal. 

Revenue and balance based on Cloudberrys ownership

FY 2022 FY 2021

NOK million
Forte Energy 

Norway AS Odal Vind AS Total 
Forte Energy 

Norway AS Odal Vind AS Total 

Revenue 114 135 250 42 - 42

Operating costs (57) (33) (90) (16) (2) (18)

Depreciations and amortisations (7) (7) (14) (7) - (7)

Operating profit 51 95 146 18 (2) 16

Net interest expenses 15 (4) 10 9 (1) 8

Tax expense (13) (18) (31) (6) (1) (7)

Profit for the period 52 73 125 22 (4) 18

Total non current assets 407 722 1 129 323 568 891

Total current assets 92 186 278 40 173 213

Total cash and cash equivalents 82 28 110 34 133 167

Long term debt 234 303 536 226 295 520

Short term debt 82 69 151 20 43 63

Equity 183 536 719 116 404 520
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Note 21  Cash, cash equivalents and corporate funding

Accounting principle 
Cash and cash equivalents include deposits held at call with financial institutions, commercial papers and 
other short term interest-bearing securities or highly liquid investments (money market funds) that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Placements in money market funds are made to diversify risk and at the same time secure high liquidity of 
the placements to be able to meet short term cash commitments. The funds are larger funds with estab-
lished low interest rate risk and low credit risk. 

Placements in money market funds are classified as cash equivalents as the placements are short term 
placements and can be redeemed at any time without restrictions or cost (2-3 days settlement) to meet 
short term commitments when needed.  The placements have insignificant risk of change in value as they 
are placements with the lowest risk profiles. 

The Group has entered into a corporate account agreement with SpareBank 1 SR-Bank for the Norwegian 
companies. No credit facility is incorporated in this agreement, but a larger facility with SpareBank 1 SR-Bank 
is established, see note 23 Long term debt.  

NOK million 2022 2021

Bank deposits 541 383

Money market funds 998 732

Total cash and cash equivalents 1 538 1 115

Investments in money market funds consist of investments in KLP fund and Fondsforvaltning. These place-
ments are short term placements and is readily convertible to cash. 

Of bank deposits per 31 December, NOK 96m is related to Kraftanmelding AS, which is a company owned 51% 
in the Operations segment. The company is a power trade agent and receives settlement from spot sales 
before it settles with the power producers. Hence, the cash position must be seen in relation to other short-
term positions, current accounts payable, current provisions and other current debt and assets (including 
restricted cash related to settlements).  

Restricted cash is not included in cash and cash equivalents, this is classified as other current assets and a 
deposit for office rent of NOK 2m is classified as a non-current financial asset.
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Note 22  Share capital and shareholder information

Accounting principle
Nature and purpose of reserves included in total equity
	· Share premium: Share premium includes net share premium paid as part of capital increases.
	· Other Equity: Other equity includes share-based payment transaction reserve used to recognise the value 

of equity-settled and share-based payment transactions provided to employees, including key manage-
ment personnel, as part of their remuneration. It also includes hedging reserves charged to other compre-
hensive income and currency translation differences, together with retained earnings. 

	· Foreign currency translation reserve: The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign cur-
rency differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.

	· Hedging reserve: The hedging reserve includes mark-to-market revaluation reserve after tax on derivatives 
used in the Group’s cash flow hedging.

Share capital 
The table below show the share capital, share premium and number of shares as of 31 December 2022 and 
31 December 2021.  

NOK million 2022 2021

Share capital  73 59

Share premium 3 495 2 676

Share capital and premium at 31 December 3 568 2 735

Number of shares at 31 December 291 299 905 235 244 646

The shares are at par value NOK 0.25. 

The following capital increases has taken place in 2022:

NOK 1000 Date
Number 

of shares
Share 

capital

Number of shares 1 January 2022 235 244 646 58 811 162

Capital increase 07.01.2022 3 484 041 871 010

Capital increase 29.06.2022 935 020 233 755

Capital increase 22.09.2022 51 612 903 12 903 226

Capital increase 24.10.2022 23 295 5 824

Number of shares and share capital 31 December 2022 291 299 905 72 824 976
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The table below show the 20 largest shareholders of Cloudberry as of 31 December 2022:

Number of 
shares

Share of 
ownership

Share of 
voting rights

Ferd AS 33 919 686 11.6% 11.6%

Joh Johannson Eiendom AS 29 512 098 10.1% 10.1%

Havfonn AS (Bergesen family) 24 761 554 8.5% 8.5%

Snefonn AS (Bergesen family) 16 203 725 5.6% 5.6%

The Northern Trust Comp, London 15 980 677 5.5% 5.5%

HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt GmbH 15 600 000 5.4% 5.4%

Caceis Bank 12 669 673 4.3% 4.3%

State Street Bank and Trust Comp (Swedbank Robur) 9 578 902 3.3% 3.3%

Clearstream Banking S.A. 7 486 279 2.6% 2.6%

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB 6 570 220 2.3% 2.3%

Danske Invest Norge Vekst 6 317 098 2.2% 2.2%

Verdipapirfondet Alfred Berg Gamba 5 658 324 1.9% 1.9%

Awilco AS 5 282 256 1.8% 1.8%

Citibank Europe plc 5 000 000 1.7% 1.7%

Verdipapirfondet Storebrand Norge 4 087 885 1.4% 1.4%

Gjensidige Forsikring ASA 4 023 469 1.4% 1.4%

MP Pensjon PK 3 496 230 1.2% 1.2%

CCP AS 3 484 041 1.2% 1.2%

CCPartner AS 3 202 040 1.1% 1.1%

Verdipapirfondet KLP Norge 2 426 887 0.8% 0.8%

Other 76 038 861 26.1% 26.1%

Total number of shares 291 299 905 100.0% 100.0%
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Note 23  Long term debt

In November 2021 the Group increased the NOK 700 million credit facility with a syndicate of Norwegian 
savings banks lead by SpareBank 1 SR-Bank ASA (established in March 2021) to NOK 1 400m, with a possibility 
to increase the facility with additional NOK 500m. The facility consists of a term loan facility of NOK 1 100m 
to finance investments in power plants (hydro and wind) in the Nordics. The facility covers current inhouse 
producing assets and growth opportunities both organically and in-organically. 

In addition to the term loan facility, the facility with SP Bank also consists of a related revolving credit facility 
of NOK 300m. 

The Group has the following long-term borrowings as per 31 December 2022:

NOK million 31.12.2022 31.12.2021

Total bank loan related to power plants 338 302

Reclassified principal payment to current interest bearing loans and borrowings  (12) (10)

Derivative liability realted to hedge accounting 1 3

Total long term interest bearing loans and borrowings 327 294

Per year end 2022 all external debt in the consolidated group has been re-financed using the facility.  
There are no other long-term bank loans that are in any other bank. 

The total amount drawn from the term loan facility as per 31 December is NOK 328m. 

The table below shows a reconciliation of opening balance, movements and closing balance of the long-
term debt for the year 2022:

NOK million In cash flow statement

Opening balance long term debt 01.01.22 294

Debt take over in acqusitions non-cash 84

Repaid existing debt in subsidiaries for refinancing cash outflow (151)

Drawn from new facility with refinanced cash inflow 116

Drawn construction loan cash inflow -

Downpayments cash outflow (13)

Change in swap derivative non cash (1)

Reclassified principal payments to short term non-cash (2)

Closing balance long term debt 31.12.22 327

Of which:

Drawn from new facility with refinanced 116

Drawn construction loan -

Proceeds from new term loans 2022 116

Repaid existing debt in subsidiaries for refinancing (151)

Downpayments (13)

Total repayment of term loan 2022 (164)
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The interest rate on the term loan is 3 months NIBOR plus margin less than 2%  

The bank loan facilities’ terms are at a market floating interest rate with a fixed interest rate swap to reduce 
the interest rate risk. See note 10 Hedge accounting.   

The following financial covenants and collateral apply to the credit facilities:

1.	 	Group consolidated equity ratio, minimum 30% 
Cloudberry Production AS equity ratio, minimum 30% 
Minimum Group equity NOK 1 800m 
Minimum equity Cloudberry Production AS, NOK 900m

2.	 	Liquidity reserves Group level, minimum NOK 40m 

3.	 	Minimum secured 75% share of principal pr loan of 5 years. 

4.	 Main securities granted under the credit facility: 
 
Pledge related to Cloudberry Production AS: 
Pledge in shares in all subsidiaries with producing assets (SPV’s) 
Pledge in shares in associated companies  
Pledge in cash, inventory and receivables 
 
Pledge applied for subsidiaries with producing assets: 
Pledge in cash and bank accounts 
Pledge in property plant and equipment 
Pledge in inventory and receivables 
Pledge in lease agreements for land and water/fall rights 
 
Pledge in shares in Cloudberry Development AS

The Group was not in any breach of covenants as per 31 December 2022.  
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Note 24  Provisions, guarantees and other contractual obligations

Accounting principle
Asset retirement obligation
Provision for asset retirement costs is recognized when the Group has an obligation to dismantle and remove 
a hydro or wind power plant and to restore the site where it is located after a concession period is over. 

Long term provisions
The Group has NOK 36 m in long term provisions, of which NOK 15m is related to asset retirement obligations. 

Asset retirement obligation is established for Hån Vindpark and Sundby Vindpark in 2022, in addition to 
Røymyra Vindpark, payable between 15-30 years. 

Current liabilities and provisions

NOK million 2022 2021

Trade creditors 131 37

Advance tax withholdings and taxes payable 4 1

Accounts payables and other liabilities 135 38

Accrued salary and bonus 14 7

Provision for project costs 5 7

Public duties payable 3 2

PPA contract termination 5 5

Accrued fall lease 48 6

Other 54 14

Provisions 128 41

Trade creditors and other provisions is related to Kraftanmelding, see also note 21 Cash, cash equivalents 
and corporate funding. 

Guarantees and other contractual obligations
The Group has the following guarantees and bank deposits with duration: 

NOK million
Balance 
sheet item Maturity date 2022 2021

Sundby wind farm Parent guarantee 
to supplier

off-balance H1 2024 311 -

Guarantee Odal Vind Bank guarantee/
bank deposit 
restricted

off balance / other 
current asset

H1 2022 - 317

Guarantee Hån wind farm Bank deposit 
restricted

other current asset H2 2022 3 3

Bank guarantee to Axpo Bank guarantee off-balace February 2022 - 5

Bank guarantee Marker Vindpark Bank guarantee off-balace August 2022 - 8

Guarantees for office rent Escrow account non-current financial asset February 2029 2 1

Total guarantees and deposits 316 333

The Sundby guarantee is a Vesta’s guarantee securing nine wind turbines to be installed at Sundby during  
H2 2023. 
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Other obligations not recognised in the balance sheet is related to financial close of secured portfolio.  
The Group has per 31. December 2022 signed sale and purchase agreement to the following power plants 
with financial close after 31 December 2022: 

NOK million
Expected 

settlement
Equity 

financed
Debt 

Financed Total

Øvre Kvemma Kraftverk H1 2024 60 60 120

Total 60 60 120

The power plant is under construction and risk of the assets is not yet transferred to the Group. Because the 
risk is not transferred and there are conditions precedent up until the takeover e.g. that the power plants 
shall function according to the agreement, the assets and the obligations are not recognised in the balance 
sheet.

In February 2023 the Group signed a share purchase agreement to the Danish Odin wind portfolio, see note 
29 subsequent events. 

For information about the Group’s share of debt in associated companies, please see note 20. 

Note 25  Lease agreements

Accounting principle 
Leases
At the lease commencement date, the Group rec-
ognises a lease liability and corresponding right of 
use asset for all lease agreements in which it is the 
lessee, except for the following exemptions applied:
	· 	Short-term leases (defined as 12 months or less)
	· 	Low value assets

For these leases, the Group recognises the lease 
payments as other operating expenses in the state-
ment of profit or loss when they incur.

Lease liabilities
The Group measures the lease liability at the present 
value of the lease payments for the right to use the 
underlying asset during the lease term that are not 
paid at the commencement date. The lease term 
represents the non-cancellable period of the lease, 
together with periods covered by an option either to 
extend or to terminate the lease when the Group is 
reasonably certain to exercise this option.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, 
the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at 
the lease commencement date if the interest rate 
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments included in the measurement 
comprise of:
	· 	Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed 

payments), less any lease incentives receivable
	· 	Variable lease payments that depend on an index 

or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate 
as at the commencement date

	· 	Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, 
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an 
option to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by 
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on 
the lease liability, reducing the carrying amount to 
reflect the lease payments made and remeasuring 
the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment 
or lease modifications, or to reflect adjustments in 
lease payments due to an adjustment in an index or 
rate.

The Group does not include variable lease payments 
in the lease liability arising from future events, such 
as lease payments which depend on production vol-
ume. Instead, the Group recognises these variable 
lease expenses in profit or loss, se under description 
of water right lease agreement. 
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Right-of-use assets
The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the 
commencement date of the lease, i.e. the date the 
underlying asset is available for use. Right-of-use 
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted 
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The 
recognised right-of-use assets are depreciated on 
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated 
useful life and the lease term.

Water right lease agreements
Cloudberry enters into water-right lease agreements 
with owners of water rights, which entitles the 
company to utilise the water in the rivers. The agree-
ments typically have duration from 40 to 100 years, 
starting when the power plant is put into commercial 
operation.

The agreement with the owners of the water rights 
has a variable payment depending on the gross 
revenue of the power plant and is typically around 
10% of the gross revenue. In certain agreements 
the variable payment depends on the net profit of 
the power plant (not the gross revenue). In these 
cases, Cloudberry is secured a minimum return on 
the investment (typically 4 – 7% p.a.) before owners 
of the water rights are compensated. Excess return 
above this minimum return is then split between the 
owners of the water rights and Cloudberry.

When Cloudberry has a commitment to pay rent to 
the owners of the water rights, we account for this 

as other operating expenses as the commitment 
arises. Upon expiration of the agreement the owners 
have the right to purchase the power plant with all 
rights and technical installations at a price based on 
certain specific conditions.

Land lease agreements for construction of wind 
farms Cloudberry enters into lease agreements with 
land- owners, which entitles the company to utilise 
the land for construction of wind farms. The agree-
ment typically has a duration from 25 to 35 years 
dependent on the concession period, starting when 
the power plant is put into commercial operation.

The typical agreement with the landowners has a 
variable payment depending on the gross revenue 
of the power plant (around 4%). When Cloudberry 
has a commitment to pay rent to the landowners, 
we account for this as other operating expenses as 
the commitment arises.

Fixed amount- agreement: In certain cases, 
Cloudberry can be obligated to pay landowner 
a fixed annual amount, in such cases it may be 
accounted according to IFRS 16 lease agreement. 
Upon expiration of the agreement the landowner 
has the right to purchase the powerplant with all 
rights and technical installations at a price based on 
book value at the end of the lease agreement. 

Lease 
The table shows the reconciliation of lease liability  
in the beginning of the year and per 31 December:

NOK million 2022 2021

Lease liability  at 1.1. 5 4

Lease agreements entered into during the year 21 1

Lease agreements from business combinations 24 -

Lease agreements terminated during the year (3) -

Lease payments during the year (4) (1)

Interest expense on lease liability 1 -

Lease liability at 31.12. 43 5

Lease payment of which:

Payment on lease liabilities - interest (1) -

Repayment on lease liabilities (3) (1)

Lease payments during the year (3) (1)
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For split of total lease liability between current and 
non-current in the statement of financial position, 
please see table below in this note. 

Lease liability in the beginning of the year was 
related to office lease at Bergehus, and some minor 
lease agreements related to the fixed lease amounts 
on land lease related to power plants. 

During 2022 the Group has recognised office lease 
agreements related to the acquisition of the Captiva 
Companies. The office lease at Bergehus was termi-
nated and a new lease contract recognised. 

The discount rate used to calculate the present 
value of future lease payments is the lessees 
marginal loan rate, which consists of a base rate 
and a credit premium. The base rate is a market 
rate based on a combination of the lessee’s home 
country and the term of the lease. Credit premiums 
correspond to market credit premiums for compa-
nies with similar credit ratings as lessees. Credit 
rating is determined through individual credit assess-
ment of the individual lessee. Interest expenses 
related to the lease obligations are recognized as a 
separate line in the income statement. The Group 
presents its lease liabilities as separate line items in 
the statement of financial position.

Lease in the statement of financial position

NOK million 2022 2021

Assets

Right-to-use asset beginning of year 4 4

Right-to-use asset recognised in the year 43 1

Right-to-use asset terminated in the year (3) -

Amortisation during the year (4) (1)

Right to use asset end of year 40 4

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities 36 3

Current lease liability 7 1

Total lease liability 43 4

Leases in the income statement

NOK million 2022 2021

Operating expenses

Variable fall lease payment expenses (23) (6)

Short term lease expenses (2) -

Low value lease expenses (3) (1)

Depreciation expenses

Depreciation of right to use asset (office lease) (5) (1)

Financial expenses 

Interest expenses on lease liability (1) -

Total lease expense in the income statement (33) (8)

Included in variable lease is rent to landowner where the water right lease is variable. 
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Other information

Note 26  Earnings per share

Earnings per share is calculated as profit/(loss) attributable to the equity holders of the parent company 
divided by the number of shares outstanding. 

Diluted earnings per share is affected by the warrant program for equity settled share-based payments 
transactions, see note 12 Employee benefits and share based payments. 

NOK million 2022 2021

Profit/(loss) attributable to the equity holders of the company 118 (63)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding for the purpose of basic earnings per share 253 292 752 155 842 058

Earnings per share for income attributable to the equity holders of the company - basic NOK 0.47 (0.40)

Effect of potential dilutive shares 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding for the purpose of diluted earnings per share 254 067 752 159 800 849

Earnings per share for income attributable to the equity holders of the company - diluted NOK 0.47 (0.40)

For information about share capital on 31 December see note 22 Share capital and shareholder information. 
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Note 27  Transactions with related parties

The Group’s related parties include the Company and its subsidiaries, as well as members of the Board of 
Directors, members of Management and their related parties. Related parties also include companies in 
which the individuals mentioned in this paragraph have significant influence. 

All transactions are on arm’s length basis and done in the ordinary course of business. 

The following related party transactions have been entered in 2022:
	· 	Acquisition of 60% of the shares of Captiva Digital Services AS. Cloudberry’s chairperson, Frank J. Berg, 

through CCPartner AS and related party Mothe Invest AS, held a minority interest of 33% in Captiva Capital 
Partner AS (now CCP AS), which was the seller of the shares of Captiva Digital Services AS. Mothe Invest 
now holds 23% of CCP AS. 

	· 	Office lease contract for Frøyas Gate 15, Bergehus Holding AS: End of March 2022 the Company terminated 
the existing office lease contract and entered into a new lease contract for new office space at the same 
address and with the same lessor, Bergehus Holding AS. Bergehus Holding AS is owned by the Bergesen 
family who is an owner in Cloudberry through Havfonn AS and Snefonn AS. The new annual lease amount 
is initially NOK 1.7 million per year and will increase to NOK 3.4 million per year as Captiva is phasing out its 
existing rental agreements and moving more of its personnel to Cloudberry’s head-office. The contract is  
7 years on regular business terms. 

	· Short term office lease contract for Frøyas Gate 15, Bergehus Holding AS entered in September for 2-month 
lease, while main office was renovated. The contract was on regular business terms. 

The Board of Directors ensures that any material transaction between the Company and Shareholders, a 
Shareholder’s parent company, members of the Board of Directors, executive personnel, or close associates 
of any such parties will be entered into on arm’s length terms. The Board of Directors has adopted rules of 
procedures for the Board of Directors which inter alia includes guidelines for notification by members of the 
Board of Directors and executive management if they have any material direct or indirect interest in any 
transaction entered into by the Company. 

Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries have been eliminated on consolida-
tion and are eliminated in the consolidated accounts.  

The Group has had transactions with the following related parties:

NOK million 

Related party Relation for Cloudberry Nature of transaction 2022 2021

Bergehus Holding AS Board member and indirect 
shareholder

Office lease 3 1

CCPartners AS Chairman of the Board Consultant agreement - 1

Forte Energy Norway AS Associated company Management fee revenue 3 3

CCPartners AS Chairman of the Board Acqusition of 60% of 
Captiva Group

33 -

Capiva Asset Management AS Chairman of the Board & Indirect 
shareholder

Project  consultancy and 
operational platform asset 
management

- 1 5

1	 Captiva Asset Management AS part of Cloudbery Group from 07 January 2022. Intercompanmy transactions are eliminated in group accounts.

See note 12 Employee benefits and share based payment for information about management remuneration.  
See note 20 Investments in associated companies and JV’s for information about management fee to Forte. 
See note 25 Lease agreements for information about the office lease agreement with Bergehus. 

As per 31 December there were no employee or shareholder loans.  
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Remuneration to the Board of Directors

FY 2022

Function
Served 

since
Term 

expires

Remun-
eration 
paid in 

2022 (NOK)
Warrants 
pr 31.12.22

Shares pr 
31.12.22 Holding Company

Frank J Berg Chairman of 
the Board

2020 2023  260 000  -   3 209 805 CCPartner AS

Petter W. Borg Board Member 2019 2023  257 500  -   2 253 503 Caddie Invest AS & Kewa AS

Benedicte H. Fossum Board Member 2020 2023  245 000  -   100 103 Mittas AS

Liv E. Lønnum Board Member 2020 2023  205 000  -   7 765

Stefanie Witte Board Member 2022 2023  -    -   -

Henrik Joelsson Board Member 2022 2023  -    -   -

Nicolai Nordstrand Board Member 2022 2023  -    -   31 264

Morten S. Bergesen Board Member 2019 2022  255 000  -   40 965 279 Havfonn AS & Snefonn AS

1 222 500 - 46 559 954

FY 2021

Function
Served 

since
Term 

expires

Remun-
eration 
paid in 

2021 (NOK)
Warrants 
pr 31.12.21

Shares pr 
31.12.22 Holding Company

Frank J Berg Chairman of 
the Board

2020 2022 550 000 - 3 202 040 CCPartner AS

Petter W. Borg Board Member 2019 2022 275 000 - 1 995 738 Caddie Invest AS & Kewa AS

Morten S. Bergesen Board Member 2019 2022 275 000 - 33 868 506 Havfonn AS & Snefonn AS

Benedicte H. Fossum Board Member 2020 2022 275 000 - 67 845 Mittas AS

Liv E. Lønnum Board Member 2020 2022 275 000 - -

1 650 000 - 39 134 129

 
The remuneration to the Board is proposed by the nomination committee to the Company general meeting. 
The remuneration is paid after the next Company general meeting when the remuneration is earned. 

Due to change in routines, the remuneration for the period 2021/2022 was paid in 2021, while the remu-
neration for 2020/2021 was paid in 2022. The remuneration for the period 2022/2023 will be paid after the 
Company general meeting in April 2023. 

The Group have a share purchase program for Board members implemented by the Company general 
meeting in 2021. The Board members shall use 30% of the fixed gross remuneration (prior to tax) per year to 
acquire shares in the Company, until the value of the shares of each individual member reaches a threshold 
of two years of board remuneration. The Board members shall after the threshold of two years board remu-
neration has been achieved, be offered to use up to 30% of the gross board remuneration (prior to tax) to 
acquire shares. 

Please refer for further information to the Remuneration report for 2022 that will be presented at the annual 
Company general meeting and published on the website.  
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Note 28  List of subsidiaries and equity accounted companies

The following companies are fully consolidated (subsidiaries) or accounted for with the equity method (asso-
ciated companies or joint ventures) as per 31 December 2022.  

Name of Entity Accouned as
Place of 
business

Ownership 
intrest to 
majority 

shareholders
Part of Group 

from date Segment

Cloudberry Clean Energy ASA Parent company Norway 100% 24.11.2017 Corporate

Cloudberry Production AS Subsiduary Norway 100% 15.02.2020 Production 

Røyrmyra Vindpark AS Subsiduary Norway 100% 15.02.2020 Production 

Finnesetbekken Kraftverk AS Subsiduary Norway 100% 15.02.2020 Production 

Cloudberry Develop AS Subsiduary Norway 100% 15.02.2020 Development

Cloudberry Utveckling II AB Subsiduary Sweden 100% 15.02.2020 Development

Duvhällen Vindpark AB Subsiduary Sweden 100% 15.02.2020 Development

Hån Vindpark AB Subsiduary Sweden 100% 15.02.2020 Production 

Hån 22kV AS Subsiduary Norway 100% 15.02.2020 Production 

Cloudberry Utveckling AB Subsiduary Sweden 100% 15.02.2020 Development

Cloudberry Projekt AB Subsiduary Sweden 100% 15.02.2020 Development

Kånna Vindpark AB Subsiduary Sweden 100% 15.02.2020 Development

Ljunga Vindpark AB Subsiduary Sweden 100% 15.02.2020 Development

Cloudberry Wind AB Subsiduary Sweden 100% 15.02.2020 Development

Skogvind AS Subsiduary Norway 100% 31.08.2020 Development

Rewind Offshore AB Subsiduary Sweden 100% 15.02.2020 Development

Forte Energy Norway  AS Associated Company Norway 34.0% 15.11.2020 Production 

Odal Vind AS Associated Company Norway 33.4% 23.12.2020 Production 

Selselva Kraft AS Subsiduary Norway 100% 13.01.2021 Production 

Skåråna Kraft AS Subsiduary Norway 100% 24.02.2021 Production 

Bjørgelva Kraft AS Subsiduary Norway 100% 30.06.2021 Production 

Næssakraft AS Subsiduary Norway 100% 30.06.2021 Production 

Usma Kraft AS Subsiduary Norway 100% 20.08.2021 Production 

Åmotfoss AS Subsiduary Norway 100% 01.12.2021 Production 

Sundby Vindpark AB Subsiduary Sweden 100% 21.12.2021 Development

Captiva Digital Services AS Subsiduary Norway 60% 07.01.2022 Operations

Captiva Asset Management AS 1 Subsiduary Norway 60% 07.01.2022 Operations

Caprtiva Financial Services AS 1 Subsiduary Norway 60% 07.01.2022 Operations

Proxima HydroTech AS 1 Associated Company Norway 20% 07.01.2022 Operations

Captiva Digital Services GmbH 1 Subsiduary Switzerland 60% 07.01.2022 Operations

Captiva Digital Solutions AS Subsiduary Norway 60% 07.01.2022 Operations

Kraftanmelding AS 1 Subsiduary Norway 30% 07.01.2022 Operations

Broentech Solutions AS 1 Subsiduary Norway 34% 07.01.2022 Operations

Captiva Energi AS 1 Subsiduary Norway 60% 07.01.2022 Operations

Tinnkraft AS Subsiduary Norway 100% 01.02.2022 Production 

Munkhyttan Vindkraft AB Subsiduary Sweden 100% 03.02.2022 Development

Ramsliåna Kraftverk AS Subsiduary Norway 100% 31.03.2022 Production 

Re Energi AS Subsiduary Norway 100% 31.03.2022 Development

Enestor AS 1 Subsiduary Norway 31% 01.06.2022 Operations

Bøen Kraft AS Subsiduary Norway 100% 10.06.2022 Production 

Stenkalles Holding AS Joint Venture Norway/Sweden 50% 19.09.2022 Development

1	 Owned through Captiva Digital Services AS (60% ownership to Cloudberry Clean Energy ASA).
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Name of Entity Accouned as
Place of 
business

Ownership 
intrest

Part of Group 
from date Segment

Øvre Kvemma Kraftverk AS Subsiduary Norway 100% H1-2024 Production 

 
Acquired companies in 2023
Entities with acquisition close after 1 January 2023 is included in secured portfolio, but not included in the 
table. Se note 29 Subsequent events. 

Note 29  Subsequent events

Signed SPA Odin portfolio 
On 10 February the Group signed a sale and 
purchase agreement with Skovgaard Energy A/S 
(“Skovgaard”), a Danish renewable energy developer. 
The agreement secured Cloudberry a majority stake 
in a portfolio consisting of up to 51 high-quality wind 
turbines in production, with 47 turbines located 
in Denmark and additional 4 turbines in southern 
Sweden.

Cloudberry will acquire 80% ownership in the newly 
established company Odin Energy P/S (“Odin”) while 
Skovgaard will keep a 20% ownership. Thisadds 
a total capacity of 106 MW (~311 GWh) net to 
Cloudberry.  The turbines are high quality Vestas and 
Siemens turbines with an average expected remain-
ing lifetime of about 23 years.

The agreed enterprise value for 80% of Odin Energy 
is DKK 1,488 million. The final purchase price will be 
reduced with the cash flow generation between 1 
January 2023 to Closing, potential pre-emptive rights 
in Tranche 2 (as described below) and adjustments 
related to net debt and net working capital.  As part 
of the transaction and included in the enterprise 
value, Odin will also purchase the land associated 
with 44 (~95%) of the Danish turbines and certain 
rights to new wind and solar projects through a 
development agreement with Skovgaard.

The transaction will be divided into two tranches, 
where Tranche 1 includes all entities which are 
wholly owned and partially owned entities without 
pre-emptive rights (approx. 247 GWh). Tranche 
2 covers entities which are partially owned with 

pre-emptive rights (approx. 64 GWh). For the entities 
included in Tranche 2, the existing co-owners have 
certain shareholder rights (such as inter alia right of 
first refusal) which may be triggered by the transac-
tion. Consequently, the exact size of the portfolio to 
be transferred in relation to Tranche 2 is subject to 
changes.

The acquisition of the portfolio will be fully financed 
by existing cash and the existing bank facility avail-
able to Cloudberry by Nordic banks (approx. 50% 
equity and 50% debt).  With the expected cash flow 
generation from the enlarged producing portfolio 
and a low levered balance sheet, Cloudberry has 
capacity to fund further growth such as assets in 
the development portfolio.

The transaction is inter alia subject to approval from 
Danish authorities with Closing estimated in latter 
part of Q2 2023.  

Increased backlog with signed 
option to two projects in Sweden
Cloudberry has increased its backlog to 480 MW 
by securing exclusive rights to the wind projects 
Ulricehamn Vindpark and Söderköping Vindpark 
both in the attractive SE-3 region.  
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Statement of profit or loss 
1 January - 31 December

NOK 1 000 Note 2022 2021

Revenue 3 - 2 100

Total revenue - 2 100

Cost of goods sold - -

Salary and personnel expenses 4 (51 124) (27 748)

Other operating expenses 5 (19 509) (17 534)

EBITDA (70 633) (43 182)

Depreciation and amortizations 8 (233) (109)

Operating profit (EBIT) (70 867) (43 290)

Financial income 6 113 221 10 276

Financial expenses 6, 14 (19 844) (12 747)

Profit/(loss) before tax 22 511 (45 761)

Income tax expense 7 - -

Profit/(loss) after tax 22 511 (45 761)

Allocation of profit/(loss) for the period

Transfer to/(from) other equity 22 511 (45 761)

Total allocation of profit/(loss) for the period 22 511 (45 761)
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Statement of financial position 

NOK 1 000 Note 31.12.2022 31.12.2021

ASSETS

Non-current assets 

Property, plant and equipment 8 1 022 918

Investment in subsiduaries 9 1 363 441 1 261 135

Other non current receivables 2 478 -

Loan to group companies 14 508 907 106 995

Total non-current assets 1 875 848 1 369 048

Current assets

Other current assets 1 328 701

Receivables group companies 14 348 113 372 466

Cash and cash equivalents 10 1 404 638 958 998

Total current assets 1 754 078 1 332 164

TOTAL ASSETS 3 629 926 2 701 213
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Statement of financial position

NOK 1 000 Note 31.12.2022 31.12.2021

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  

Equity 

Share capital 11 72 825 58 811

Sharepremium 11 3 495 270 2 676 075

Total paid in capital 3 568 095 2 734 886

Other equity 11 (19 921) (68 205)

Total equity 3 548 173 2 666 681

Current liabilities 

Interest-bearing short term liabilities 12, 14 56 932 -

Accounts payable 12, 14 14 036 23 358

Public duties payable 12 1 251 1 085

Other current liabilities 12 9 534 10 089

Total current liabilities 81 753 34 531

Total liabilities 81 753 34 531

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 3 629 926 2 701 213

Oslo, 23 March 2023

The Board of Directors of Cloudberry Clean Energy ASA

Frank J. Berg 
Chair of the Board

Petter W. Borg 
Board member

Benedicte Fossum 
Board member

Liv Lønnum 
Board member

Henrik Joelsson 
Board member

Nicolai Nordstrand 
Board member

Stefanie Witte 
Board member

Anders J. Lenborg 
CEO
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Statement of cash flows

NOK 1 000 Note 1.1.-31.12.2022 1.1.-31.12.2021

Cash flow from operating activities

Profit/(loss) before tax 22 511 (45 761)

Depreciation 8 233 109

Net interest paid/received (26 529) (7 094)

Share based payment - non cash to equity 25 773 4 388

Change in accounts payable 12 (9 322) 4 757

Change in other accruals 19 591 4 423

Net cash flow from operating activities 32 258 (39 180)

Cash flow from investing activities

Intrest received 6 31 105 9 762

Investments in property, plant and equipment 8 (338) (1 003)

Acquisition of shares in subsidiaries, net liquidity outflow 9 (101 037) (500 000)

Investments in associated companies 9 - (470 575)

Net increase loans to subsidiaries (401 912)

Group contributions/dividends received - -

Net cash flow from (used in) investing activities (472 181) (961 816)

Cash flow from financing activities

Proceeds from short term intrestbearing debt 12 56 932 -

Repayment of short-term interest-bearing liabilities - (236 767)

Interest paid 6 (4 576) (2 668)

Share capital increase 11 833 208 1 646 945

Net cash flow from financing activities 885 564 1 407 510

Total change in cash and cash equivalents 445 641 406 515

Cash and cash equivalents at start of period 10 958 998 552 483

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 10 1 404 638 958 997
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Notes to the parent company  
financial statements

Note 1  General information 

Corporate information
Cloudberry Clean Energy ASA, “the Company” is 
incorporated and domiciled in Norway. The address 
of its registered office is Frøyas gate 15, NO-0273 
Oslo, Norway. Cloudberry Clean Energy ASA was 
established on 10 November 2017. The Company is 
listed on Oslo Børs’ Main List with ticker CLOUD. 

Cloudberry Clean Energy ASA, its subsidiaries and 
investments in associated companies (“the Group”) 
is a Nordic renewable power producer and devel-
oper. The Group has an integrated business model 
across the life cycle of hydro- and wind power plants 

including project development, financing, construc-
tion (normally outsourced), ownership and lead 
manager of operations. 

The financial statement of the Company and the 
consolidated statements of the Group, presented 
earlier in this report, was approved by the Board of 
Directors on 23 March 2023. The statements have 
been prepared under the assumption that the 
Cloudberry Group is a going concern, and that this 
assumption was appropriate at the date of approval 
of the Financial Statements.

Note 2  General accounting policies and principles

Statement of compliance 
The financial statements of Cloudberry Clean 
Energy ASA are prepared in accordance with the 
Norwegian Accounting Act of 1998 and Norwegian 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (NGAAP).

Basis for preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on a 
historical cost basis.

Accounting estimates and judgements
In preparing the financial statements, assumptions 
and estimates that have had effect on the amounts 
and presentation of assets and liabilities, income 
and expenses and contingent liabilities must 
be made. Actual results could differ from these 
assumptions and estimates.

Foreign currency translation
The functional currency and presentation cur-
rency of the Company is Norwegian kroner (NOK). 

Transactions in foreign currency are translated 
at the rate applicable on the transaction date. 
Monetary items in a foreign currency are translated 
into NOK using the exchange rate applicable on 
the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items that 
are measured at their historical cost expressed in a 
foreign currency are translated into NOK using the 
exchange rate applicable on the transaction date. 
Non-monetary items that are measured at their fair 
value expressed in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rate applicable on the balance 
sheet date. 

Employee benefits
Wages, salaries, bonuses, pension and social 
security contributions, paid annual leave and sick 
leave are accrued in the period in which the asso-
ciated services are rendered by employees of the 
Company. The Company has pension plans for 
employees that are classified as defined contri-
bution plans. Contributions to defined contribution 
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schemes are recognized in the statement of profit or 
loss in the period in which the contribution amounts 
are earned by the employees. 

Cloudberry has an equity incentive plan for top 
management and key employees. The programme 
includes the issue of warrants for shares in the 
company. 

Interest income and expenses
Interest income and expenses are recognized in the 
income statement as they are accrued, based on 
the effective interest method.

Income tax expense
The tax charge in the profit or loss account consists 
of tax payable for the period and the change in 
deferred tax. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax 
rate at 22 % on the basis of tax-reducing and tax- 
increasing temporary differences that exist between 
accounting and tax values, and the tax loss carried 
forward at the end of the accounting year. Tax-
increasing and tax-reducing temporary differences 
that reverse or may reverse in the same period are 
set off and entered net. The net deferred tax receiv-
able is entered on the balance sheet to the extent 
that it is likely that it can be utilised. 

Classification and valuation of fixed assets
Fixed assets consist of assets intended for long-
term ownership and use. Fixed assets are valued at 
acquisition cost less depreciation and write-downs. 
Long-term liabilities are entered on the balance 
sheet at the nominal amount at the time of the 
transaction.

Plant and equipment is capitalised and depreciated 
over the economic lifetime of the asset. Significant 
items of plant and equipment that consist of several 
material components with different lifetimes are 
broken down in order to establish different depreci-
ation periods for the different components. Direct 
maintenance of plant and equipment is expensed 
on an ongoing basis under operating costs, while 
additions or improvements are added to the asset’s 
cost price and depreciated in line with the asset. 
Plant and equipment is written down to the recover-
able amount in the event of a fall in value that is not 
expected to be temporary. The recoverable amount 
is the higher of the net sales value and the value 
in use. Value in use is the present value of future 

cash flows related to the asset. The write-down is 
reversed when the basis for the write-down is no 
longer present.

Classification and valuation of 
current assets and liabilities
Current assets and short-term liabilities consist 
normally of items that fall due for payment within 
one year of the balance sheet date, as well as items 
related to the stock cycle. Current assets are valued 
at the lower of acquisition cost and fair value. Short-
term liabilities are entered on the balance sheet at 
the nominal amount at the time of the transaction.

Subsidiaries and investment in 
associated companies
Subsidiaries and associated companies are valued 
using the cost method in the company accounts. 
The investment is valued at acquisition cost for the 
shares unless a write-down has been necessary. A 
write- down to fair value is made when a fall in value 
is due to reasons that cannot be expected to be 
temporary and such write-down must be considered 
as necessary in accordance with good accounting 
practice. Write- downs are reversed when the basis 
for the write-down is no longer present.

Dividends, group contributions and other distri-
butions from subsidiaries are posted to income in 
the same year as provided for in the distributor’s 
accounts. To the extent that dividends/ group contri-
butions exceed the share of profits earned after the 
date of acquisition, the excess amounts represent a 
repayment of invested capital, and distributions are 
deducted from the investment’s value in the balance 
sheet of the parent company.

Receivables
Receivables from customers and other receivables 
are entered at par value after deducting a provision 
for expected losses. The provision for losses is made 
on the basis of an individual assessment of the 
respective receivables. 

Short term investments
Short-term investments (shares and interests valued 
as current assets) are valued at the lower of acqui-
sition cost and fair value on the balance sheet date. 
Dividends and other distributions received from 
the companies are posted to income under other 
financial income.
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Statement of cash flow
The cash flow statement has been prepared using 
the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents 
consist of cash, bank deposits and other short-term, 
liquid investments.

Events after the reporting period
New information on the Company’s financial position 
on the end of the reporting period which becomes 

known after the reporting period, is recorded in the 
annual accounts. Events after the reporting period 
that do not affect the Company’s financial position 
on the end of the reporting period, but which will 
affect the Company’s financial position in the future, 
are disclosed if significant.

Note 3  Sales revenues 

NOK 1 000 2022 2021

Fees management - 2 100

Total revenue - 2 100

Note 4  Employee benefits and share based payments

Employee benefits are accrued in the period in which the associated services are rendered by the  
employees of the Company. The table below shows the employee benefits accrued in the period 

NOK 1 000 2022 2021

Salaries (23 824) (18 749)

Social security tax (1 563) (3 628)

Pension costs (724) (724)

Share based payment (24 504) (4 388)

Other benefits (509) (259)

Total personnel expenses (51 124) (27 748)

Average number of full-time equivalents (FTEs) 8 7

Number of full-time equivalents  as 31.12 (FTEs) 9 8

Included in salaries are fees to board members. 

Pension
The Company has an established pension scheme that is classified as a defined contribution plan, the pen-
sion scheme is in line with the requirements of the law. Contributions to the defined contribution schemes are 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit and loss in the period in which the contribution amounts 
are earned by the employees. The defined contribution plan does not commit the Company beyond the 
amounts contributed.
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Remuneration of Executive Group management 
The remuneration of the Executive Group Management is based on a fixed salary, including personal benefits 
such as free telephone and health insurance, a variable group performance bonus scheme, pension bene-
fits, and a share-based long term incentive program. 

The table below shows the remuneration in 2022

NOK 1 000

Anders  
Lenborg 

(CEO) 

Christian 
Helland 

(CVO) 

Jon 
Gunnar Solli  

(COO) 

Ingrid 
Bjørdal 1 
(CCOO) Total 

Salary 3 300 2 600 1 900 650 8 450

Bonus 1 650 867 633 216 3 366

Pension costs 101 94 93 30 317

Share based payment 6 235 4 812 2 050 - 13 097

Total reportable benefits paid 2022 11 286 8 372 4 676 896 25 230

1	 Ingrid Bjørdal was hired 1 September, the remuneration represent 4 months’ salary.

The table below shows the remuneration in 2021 

NOK 1 000

Anders  
Lenborg 

(CEO) 

Christian 
Helland 

(CVO) 

Suna  
Alkan 
(CSO) 

Jon Gunnar 
Solli   

(COO) 

Tor Arne 
Pedersen 

(CDO) Total 

Salary 2 700 2 100 1 640 1 850 1 850 10 140

Bonus 1 350 700 400 600 150 3 200

Pension costs 83 77 87 0 87 334

Share based payment 1 729 1 259 355 586 401 4 330

Total reportable benefits paid 2021 5 862 4 136 2 482 3 036 2 488 18 004

The Board of Directors have set the target KPI for the group performance bonus scheme that was applicable 
for achievements in 2022. The Group has established a compensation committee which will set the targets 
for 2023. 
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Total remuneration, warrants and shares for top management:
Executive group management

FY 2022

NOK 1 000 Holding Company 
Shares 

pr 31.12.22

Total 
remun-
eration

Warrants 
granted 

2022
Warrants 

pr 01.01.22

Warrants 
granted 

total 
pr 31.12.22

Warrants 
exercised

Anders  Lenborg (CEO) Lenco AS 1 323 546 11 286 700 000 2 695 000 3 395 000 -

Christian Helland (CVO) Amandus Invest AS 452 758 8 372 550 000 2 000 000 2 550 000 -

Jon Gunnar Solli  (COO) Lotmar Invest AS 600 498 4 676 250 000 525 000 775 000 -

Ingrid Bjørdal* (CCOO) 40 000 896 - - - -

25 230 1 500 000 5 220 000 6 720 000 -

 

FY 2021

NOK 1 000 Holding Company 
Shares 

pr 31.12.21

Total 
remun-
eration

Warrants 
granted 

2021
Warrants 
pr 01.01.21

Warrants 
granted 

total 
pr 31.12.21

Warrants 
exercised

Anders Lenborg (CEO) Lenco AS 1 323 546 5 862 1 900 000 795 000 2 695 000 -

Christian Helland (CVO) Amandus Invest AS 452 758 4 136 1 500 000 500 000 2 000 000 -

Suna Alkan (CSO) Cappadocia Invest AS 233 448 2 482 300 000 225 000 525 000 -

Jon Gunnar Solli  (COO) Lotmar Invest AS 600 498 3 036 600 000 300 000 900 000 -

Tor Arne Pedersen (CDO) Viva North AS 139 128 2 488 300 000 300 000 600 000 -

18 004 4 600 000 2 120 000 6 720 000 -

Board of Directors

FY 2022

NOK 1 000 Function
Served 

since
Term 

expires

Remun-
eration  
in 2022

Warrants 
pr 31.12.22

Shares 
pr 31.12.22 Holding Company

Frank J Berg Chairperson 2020 2023 260 000 - 3 209 805 CCPartner AS

Petter W. Borg Board Member 2019 2023 257 500 - 2 253 503 Caddie Invest AS & Kewa AS

Benedicte H. Fossum Board Member 2020 2023 245 000 - 100 103 Mittas AS

Liv E. Lønnum Board Member 2020 2023 205 000 - 7 765

Stefanie Witte Board Member 2022 2023 - - -

Henrik Joelsson Board Member 2022 2023 - - -

Nicolai Nordstrand Board Member 2022 2023 - - 31 264

Morten S. Bergesen Board Member 2019 2022 255 000 - 40 965 279 Havfonn AS & Snefonn AS

1 222 500 - 46 559 954

FY 2021

NOK 1 000 Function
Served 

since
Term 

expires

Remun-
eration  
in 2021

Warrants 
pr 31.12.21

Shares 
pr 31.12.21 Holding Company

Frank J Berg Chairperson 2020 2022 550 000 - 3 202 040 CCPartner AS

Petter W. Borg Board Member 2019 2022 275 000 - 1 995 738 Caddie Invest AS & Kewa AS

Morten S. Bergesen Board Member 2019 2022 275 000 - 33 868 506 Havfonn AS & Snefonn AS

Benedicte H. Fossum Board Member 2020 2022 275 000 - 67 845 Mittas AS

Liv E. Lønnum Board Member 2020 2022 275 000 - -

1 650 000 - 39 134 129

 
In 2022 the remuneration to the Board of Directors was paid amounting to a total of NOK 1.2m (NOK 1.7m). 

The nomination committee will propose the remuneration for the board members for 2023 at the Company 
general meeting in April 2023. 
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Share based payments and long-term incentive program 
In accordance with the terms adopted by the General Meeting of the Company on 21 March 2020, the Board 
of Directors has established a share incentive scheme for the executive managers and key employees of the 
Group. The key conditions are as follows:

The equity incentive plan may cover up to 5% of the issued shares in the Company from time to time. 
Allocations are proposed by the Board and subject to shareholder approval. The exercise price for the war-
rants is determined by the Board in its reasonable discretion based on fair market value of the Shares on the 
date of the Board of Directors proposed allocation of warrants under the program. The determined exercise 
price is subject to approval by the general meeting in relation with issuance of warrants.  The duration of the 
warrants from grant date is 5 years. The vesting period is 1-3 years from the grant date. 

The value of the warrants in the accounts are calculated at the grant date given a fair value using the Black 
and Scholes model. The key assumptions applied for the grants in 2022 are 40% volatility (based on listed 
peer with 3 years historical data and updated with historic volatility for the Company from listing on the Main 
List Oslo Børs to the grant date in June 2022), 2.8% interest rate and approx. 1% dividend yield. Other inputs to 
the model are current stock price, exercise price and expected life of option (vesting period + one year). 

The table shows the outstanding warrants as of 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 and movements in 
the year: 

FY 2022

Outstanding warrants 01.01. 7 700 000

Granted in 2022 3 000 000

Exercised in 2022 -

Expired in 2022 (200 000)

Outstanding warrants 31.12. 10 500 000

Exercisable 31.12. 3 299 995

Charged to profit and loss statement 2022 (NOK million ) 24 780

Charged to equity 2022 (NOK million ) 25 780

The table shows the outstanding warrants as of 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021 and movements in the 
year: 

FY 2021

Outstanding warrants 01.01. 2 200 000

Granted in 2021 5 500 000

Exercised in 2021 -

Expired in 2021 -

Outstanding warrants 31.12. 7 700 000

Exercisable 31.12. 2 200 000

Charged to profit and loss statement 2021 (NOK million ) 5 261

Charged to equity 2021 (NOK million ) 4 388
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As of the date of the annual report the following warrants have been issued:  

FY 2022

NOK million # Warrants Grant date Expiry date

Weighted 
Average 

remaining 
contractual 

life

Weighted 
Average 

Strike Price

Vested 
instruments 

31.12.2022

Weighted 
Average 

Strike Price

Share 
Price  

(grant 
date) 

Warrant package #1 775 000 20.03.2020 20.03.2025 2.2 11.1 516 665 11.1 11.1

Warrant package #2 1 425 000 25.09.2020 25.09.2025 2.7 12.2 949 998 12.2 13.1

Warrant package #3 5 500 000 17.06.2021 17.06.2026 3.5 12.5 1 833 332 12.5 14.7

Warrant package #4 3 000 000 15.06.2022 28.04.2027 4.3 17.4 - - 16.0

10 700 000

Note 5  Other operating expenses 

The table shows the breakdown on other operating expenses in 2022 and 2021.
 

NOK 1 000 2022 2021

Rental of office and equipment (2 509) (1 148)

External accounting and auditing fees (3 899) (3 209)

Legal and other fees (8 245) (9 931)

Other (4 857) (3 245)

Total other operating expenses (19 509) (17 534)

 

Expenses related to statutory audit and other auditor services is presented below:
 

NOK 1 000 2022 2021

Statutory audit (2 641) (2 149)

Other assuranse services (610) (245)

Total auditor costs (3 251) (2 394)



Cloudberry Annual report 2022

Financial statements

174

Note 6  Financial items

Financial income

NOK 1 000 2022 2021

Income from subsidiaries 50 904 -

Interest income from subsidiaries 27 217 8 004

Intrest income 3 889 269

Other financial income and exchange differences 17 801 514

Increase in market value of financial current assets 15 597 1 489

Total financial income 115 407 10 276

Financial expense

NOK 1 000 2022 2021

Interest expense (893) (2 668)

Interest expense - group companies (3 683) -

Other financial expense and exchange differences (15 267) (10 079)

Total financial expense (19 844) (12 747)
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Note 7  Income tax expense

NOK 1 000 2022 2021

Tax expense in the income statement

Changes in deferred tax assets - -

Tax expense on ordinary profit/loss - -

Taxable income:

Ordinary result before tax 22 511 (45 761)

Permanent differences (9 048) (56 309)

Changes in temporary differences (3 549) 103

Use of tax losses (9 914) -

Taxable income - (101 967)

Payable tax in the balance:

Payable tax on this year's result - -

Payable tax on received Group contribution - -

Total payable tax in the balance - -

The tax effect of temporary differences and loss for to be carried forward that has formed the basis for 
deferred tax and deferred tax advantages, specified on type of temporary difference.

NOK 1 000 2022 2021 Difference

Deferred tax asset

Property, plant and equipment 6 3 (3)

Other 3 099 (451) (3 549)

Accumulated tax loss carried forward (136 009) (145 923) (9 914)

Not included in the deferred tax calculation 139 114 145 920 6 806

Basis for deferred tax asset in the balance sheet 6 210 (451) (6 660)

Basis for calculation of deferred tax asset (139 114) (145 920) (6 806)

Deferred tax asset 30 605 32 102 1 497

Deferred tax asset is not recognised in the balance sheet.
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Note 8  Property, plant and equipment

NOK 1 000 Equipment Total 

Accumulated cost 1.1.2021 46 46

Additions during the year 1 003 1 003

Accumulated cost at 31.12.2021 1 049 1 049

Accumulated depreciations and impairment losses at 1.1.2021 23 23

Depreciations for the year 109 109

Accumulated depreciations and impairment losses at 31.12.2021 132 132

Carrying amount at 31.12.2021 917 917

Estimated useful life (years) 3-5

 

NOK 1 000 Equipment Total 

Accumulated cost 1.1.2022 1 049 1 049

Additions during the year 338 338

Accumulated cost at 31.12.2022 1 387 1 387

Accumulated depreciations and impairment losses at 1.1.2022 132 132

Depreciations for the year 233 233

Accumulated depreciations and impairment losses at 31.12.2022 365 365

Carrying amount at 31.12.2022 1 021 1 021

Estimated useful life (years) 3-5

Note 9  Subsidiaries and investment in associated companies

The following subsidiaries are fully consolidated in the financial statement as of 31 December 2022

Name of Entity 
Place of 
business

Owner 
share

Share of 
votes

Purchase 
cost  

(NOK 1 000) 
Equity  

(NOK 1 000) 
Profit  

(NOK 1 000) 

Cloudberry Production AS Subsidiary Oslo, Norway 100% 100% 1 061 072 1 085 958 69 810

Cloudberry Develop AS Subsidiary Oslo, Norway 100% 100% 201 332 95 918 (2 416)

Captiva Digital Services AS Subsidiary Oslo, Norway 60% 60% 101 037 8 876 66

Total 1 363 441 1 190 753 67 459
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Note 10  Cash, cash equivalents and corporate funding

NOK 1 000 2022 2021

Free cash 407 018 226 975

Money market funds 997 620 732 023

Total cash 1 404 638 958 997

Placement in money market fund is a short-term placement. The placement is made to receive interest and 
is cash equivalent. 

Cash deposits for tax deduction account (restricted funds) and deposit for rent are not included as cash.

Note 11  Equity capital, share capital and shareholder information

 The table below show the changes in equity in 2022 and 2021:

NOK 1 000
Share 

capital
Share 

premium
Total paid  
in capital 

Other  
Equity 

Retained 
earnings

Total other 
equity

Total equity 
capital 

Equity as at 01.01 2021: 26 266 1 061 675 1 087 941 1 251 (28 083) (26 832) 1 061 110

Sharecapital increase 32 545 1 614 400 1 646 945 - - - 1 646 945

Profit/(Loss) for the period - - (45 761) (45 761) (45 761)

Share based payment - 4 388 - 4 388 4 388

Equity as at 31.12 2021 58 811 2 676 075 2 734 886 5 639 (73 844) (68 205) 2 666 681

Equity as at 01.01 2022: 58 811 2 676 075 2 734 886 5 639 (73 844) (68 205) 2 666 681

Sharecapital increase 14 014 819 194 833 208 - 833 208

Profit/(Loss) for the period 22 511 22 511 22 511

Share based payment 25 773 25 773 25 773

Equity as at 31.12 2022 72 825 3 495 270 3 568 095 31 412 (51 333) (19 921) 3 548 174

The table below show the share capital, share premium and number of shares as of 31 December 2022 and 
31 December 2021.  
  

NOK 1 000 2022 2021

Share capital  72 825 58 811

Share premium 3 495 270 2 676 075

Share capital and premium at 31 December 3 568 095 2 734 886

Number of shares at 31 December 291 299 905 235 244 648

The shares are at par value NOK 0.25. 
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The following capital increases has taken place in 2022

NOK 1 000 Date 
Number 

of shares
Share 

capital

Number of shares 1 January 2022 235 244 646 58 811 162

Capital increase 07.01.2022 3 484 041 871 010

Capital increase 29.06.2022 935 020 233 755

Capital increase 22.09.2022 51 612 903 12 903 226

Capital increase 24.10.2022 23 295 5 824

Number of shares and share capital 31 December 2022 291 299 905 72 824 976

The table below show the largest shareholders of Cloudberry as of 31 December 2022 

20 largest shareholders as of 31 December 
Number 

of Shares 
Share of 

ownership
Share of 

voting rights 

Ferd AS 33 919 686 11.6% 11.6%

Joh Johannson Eiendom AS 29 512 098 10.1% 10.1%

Havfonn AS (Bergesen family) 24 761 554 8.5% 8.5%

Snefonn AS (Bergesen family) 16 203 725 5.6% 5.6%

The Northern Trust Comp, London 15 980 677 5.5% 5.5%

HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt GmbH 15 600 000 5.4% 5.4%

Caceis Bank 12 669 673 4.3% 4.3%

State Street Bank and Trust Comp (Swedbank Robur) 9 578 902 3.3% 3.3%

Clearstream Banking S.A. 7 486 279 2.6% 2.6%

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB 6 570 220 2.3% 2.3%

Danske Invest Norge Vekst 6 317 098 2.2% 2.2%

Verdipapirfondet Alfred Berg Gamba 5 658 324 1.9% 1.9%

Awilco AS 5 282 256 1.8% 1.8%

Citibank Europe plc 5 000 000 1.7% 1.7%

Verdipapirfondet Storebrand Norge 4 087 885 1.4% 1.4%

Gjensidige Forsikring ASA 4 023 469 1.4% 1.4%

MP Pensjon PK 3 496 230 1.2% 1.2%

CCP AS 3 484 041 1.2% 1.2%

CCPARTNER AS 3 202 040 1.1% 1.1%

Verdipapirfondet KLP Norge 2 426 887 0.8% 0.8%

Other 76 038 861 26.1% 26.1%

Total number of shares 291 299 905 100.0% 100.0%
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Note 12  Short term debt and provisions

NOK 1 000 2022 2021

Interest-bearing short term liabilities 56 932 -

Trade creditors 14 036 23 358

Accrued salary and bonus 8 808 6 020

Public duties payable 1 251 1 085

Other 726 4 069

Total short term debt provisions 81 753 34 531

Interest bearing short term liabilities is related to group short term liabilities, see note 14.  

Note 13  Earnings per share

Earnings per share is calculated as profit/(loss) attributable to the equity holders of the Company divided by 
the number of shares outstanding. 

Diluted earnings per share is affected by the warrant program for equity settled share-based payments 
transactions, see note 4. 

NOK 1 000 2022 2021

Profit/(loss) attributable to the equity holders of the company 22 511 (45 761)

Wheighted average number of shares outstanding for the purpose of basic earnings per shaer 253 292 752 155 842 058

Earnings per share for income attributable to the equity holders of the company - basic NOK 0.09 (0.29)

Effect of potential dilutive shares 

Wheighted average number of shares outstanding for the purpose of diluted earnings per share 254 067 752 159 800 849

Earnings per share for income attributable to the equity holders of the company - diluted NOK 0.09 (0.29)

For information about share capital at 31 December see note 11 Equity capital, share capital and shareholder 
information.
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Note 14  Intercompany items between companies in the same group 

The Company has the following balance sheet item related to group companies 

NOK 1 000 2022 2021

Receivabls

Loans to companies in the same group 508 907 106 995

Other short-term receivables within the group 348 113 372 466

Total 857 020 479 461

Liabilities

Other short-term liabilities within the group 56 931 -

Total 56 931 -

As per 31 December there were no employee or shareholder loans.   

Note 15  Subsequent events

There are no material events subsequent to 31 December 2022 per reporting date. 
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We declare to the best of our knowledge that 

	· the Cloudberry Clean Energy ASA consolidated 
financial statements for 2022 have been prepared in 
accordance with IFRS and IFRICs as adopted by the 
European Union, and additional Norwegian disclo-
sure requirements in the Norwegian Accounting Act, 
and that 

	· the financial statements for the parent company, 
Cloudberry Clean Energy ASA, for 2022 have been 
prepared in accordance with the Norwegian 
Accounting Act and generally accepted accounting 
practice in Norway, and that 

	· the information presented in the financial state-
ments gives a true and fair view of the assets, 
liabilities, financial position and results for Cloudberry 
Clean Energy ASA and the Cloudberry Group for the 
period as a whole, and that 

	· the Board of Directors’ Report includes a true and 
fair view of the development, performance and 
financial position of Cloudberry Clean Energy ASA 
and the Cloudberry Group, together with a descrip-
tion of the principal risks and uncertainties that they 
face

Oslo, 23 March 2023

The Board of Directors of Cloudberry Clean Energy ASA

Frank J. Berg 
Chair of the Board

Petter W. Borg 
Board member

Benedicte Fossum 
Board member

Liv Lønnum 
Board member

Henrik Joelsson 
Board member

Nicolai Nordstrand 
Board member

Stefanie Witte 
Board member

Anders J. Lenborg 
CEO
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Alternative performance  
measures

The alternative performance measures (abbreviated APMs) that 
hereby are provided by Cloudberry are a supplement to the financial 
statements that are prepared in accordance with IFRS. This is based 
on the Group’s experience that APMs are frequently used by analysts, 
investors, and other parties for supplement information.

The purpose of the APMs, both financial and non- 
financial, is to provide an enhanced insight to the 
operations, financing, and future prospect for the 
Group. Management also uses these measures 
internally for key performance measures (KPIs). 
They represent the most important measures to 
support the strategy goals. Financial APMs should 

not be considered as a substitute for measures of 
performance in accordance with IFRS. APMs are 
calculated consistently over time and are based on 
financial data presented in accordance with IFRS 
and other operational data as described below. The 
Group uses the following financial APMs:

Financial APMs

Measure Description Reason for including

EBITDA EBITDA is net earnings before interest, 
tax, depreciation, amortisation & 
impairments. 

Shows performance regardless of capital structure, tax 
situation or effects arising from different depreciation 
methods. Management believes the measurement 
enables an evaluation of operating performance. 

EBIT EBIT is net earnings before interest 
and tax. 

Shows performance regardless of capital structure and 
tax situation. Management believes the measurement 
enables an evaluation of operating performance.

Net interest-bearing 
debt (NIBD)

Net interest-bearing debt is interest-
bearing debt, less cash and cash 
equivalents. IFRS 16 leasing liabilities are 
not included in the net interest-bearing 
debt. 

Shows the interest-bearing debt position of the company 
adjusted for the cash position. Management believes the 
measure provides an indicator of net indebtedness and 
risk. 

Equity ratio Equity ratio equals total equity divided 
by total assets

Shows the equity relative to the assets. Management 
believes the measurement enables an evaluation the 
financial strength and an indicator of risk. 
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Reconcilliation of financial APMs (consolidated figures)

NOK million FY 2022 FY 2021

EBITDA 151 (32)

EBIT 116 (41)

Equity ratio 82% 85%

Net interest bearing debt (NIBD) (1 200) (811)

NOK million FY 2022 FY 2021

Non-current Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 327 294

Current interest-bearing financial liabilities 12 10

Cash and cash equivalent (1 538) (1 115)

Net interest bearing debt (NIBD) (1 200) (811)

 

NOK million FY 2022 FY 2021

Operating profit (EBIT) 116 (41)

Depreciations and amortizations 35 10

EBITDA 151 (32)

Reconcilliation of financial APMs (proportionate figures)

NOK million FY 2022 FY 2021

Interest bearing debt 926 826

Cash and cash equivalent (1 587) (1 282)

Net interest bearing debt (NIBD) (661) (456)

 

NOK million FY 2022 FY 2021

Total revenue 646 83

Operating expenses (265) (107)

EBITDA 382 (25)
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Proportionate Financials 
The Group’s segment financials are reported on a 
proportionate basis. 

The Group introduces Proportionate Financials, 
as the Group is of the opinion that this method 
improves transparency and earnings visibility, and 
also aligns with internal management reporting. 

The key differences between the proportionate and 
the consolidated IFRS financials are that all entities 
are included with the Group’s respective ownership 
share:
	· Associated companies (ownership between 20%-

49%) or joint ventures (ownership 50%) are included 
in the financial accounting lines, the profit or loss 
statement and share of assets and net debt, with 
the respective proportionate ownership share. In 
the consolidated financials associated companies 
and joint ventures are consolidated using the 
equity method. 

	· Subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests 
(ownership between 50%-99%) are presented with 
only the Group controlled ownership share, while in 
the consolidated financials they are included with 
100%.

	· Group internal revenues, expenses and profits 
are eliminated in the consolidated financial 
statements, while in the proportionate financials, 
internal revenue and expenses, are retained.

	· Proportionate interest-bearing debt and NIBD 
does not include shareholder loans

From the consolidated IFRS reported figures, to 
arrive at the proportionate figures for the respective 
periods the Group has:

A: Added back eliminated internal profit or loss items 
and internal debt and assets, column A.

B: Replaced the equity accounted net profit from 
associated companies in the period with items in 
column C and D. Replaced the investment in shares 
in associated companies including historical share of 
profit or loss (asset value) with balance sheet items 
in column C and D. 

C: Reclassified excess value items included in the 
equity method to the respective line in the Profit or 
loss statement, and in the balance sheet. 

D: Included the proportionate share of the line in the 
profit or loss statement items (respectively: revenues, 
operating expenses, depreciations and amortiza-
tions and net finance items) and the balance sheet 
items (total assets, interest bearing debt and cash) 
for the respective associated company. 

E: Excluded residual ownership share related to 
non-controlling interest in the respective accounting 
lines. 



185Cloudberry Annual report 2022

Alternative performance measures

The tables below reconcile the consolidated Group figures with the proportionate financial for the periods  
FY 2022 and FY 2021:

FY 2022

Residual ownership interest

A B C D E

NOK million
Total 

Consolidated

Other 
eliminations 

group 
Equity 

accounted 
Excess 

value 

Proportionate 
share of line 

items ass.
comp.

Residual 
ownership 

fully 
consolidated 

entitied
Total 

proportionate 

Total revenue 217 218 - - 254 (43) 646

Operating expenses ex 
depreciations and amortisations

(186) (25) - - (94) 40 (265)

Net income/(loss) from 
associated companies

120 - (120) - - - -

EBITDA 151 193 (120) - 161 (3) 381

Depreciation and amortisation (35) - - (3) (15) 5 (48)

Operating profit (EBIT) 116 193 (120) (3) 146 2 333

Net financial items 6 - - - 10 (2) 15

Profit/(loss) before tax 122 193 (120) (3) 156 1 348

-

Total assets 4 603 695 (890) 156 1 330 (23) 5 870

Interest bearing debt 339 - - - 591 (4) 926

Cash 1 538 - - - 122 (73) 1 587

Net interest bearing debt (NIBD) (1 200) - - - 469 69 (662)

FY 2021

Residual ownership interest

A B C D E

NOK million
Total 

Consolidated

Other 
eliminations 

group 
Equity 

accounted 
Excess 

value 

Proportionate 
share of line 

items ass.
comp.

Residual 
ownership 

fully 
consolidated 

entitied
Total 

proportionate 

Total revenue 41 - - - 42 - 83

Operating expenses ex 
depreciations and amortisations

(89) - - - (20) - (107)

Net income/(loss) from 
associated companies

16 - (16) - - - -

EBITDA (32) - (16) - 22 - (25)

Depreciation and amortisation (10) - - (3) (7) - (19)

Operating profit (EBIT) (41) - (16) (3) 15 - (44)

Net financial items (22) - - 8 - (14)

Profit/(loss) before tax (64) - (16) (3) 24 - (58)

Total assets 3 118 110 (678) 160 1 103 - 3 815

Interest bearing debt 304 - - - 522 - 826

Cash 1 115 - - - 167 - 1 282

Net interest bearing debt (NIBD) (811) - - - 355 (456)
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Non-financial APMs

Measure Description Reason for including

Power Production Power delivered to the grid over the defined time period (one 
year). Units are measured in GWh.

Example
A typical 4 MW turbine produces 3 000 full-load hours during a 
year. 4 MW x 3 000 hours = 12 000 MWh or 12 GWh.

For illustration, according to the International Energy Agency 1 
(“IEA”) the electrical power consumption per capita in Europe is 
approximately 6 MWh per year. 

For power production estimates it is used normalized annual 
level of power production (GWh). This may deviate from actual 
production within a single 12-month period but is the best 
estimate for annual production over a period of several years. 
Defined as “Normalized production”.

Shows Cloudberry’s total 
production in GWh for the full 
year including the proportionate 
share of the production from 
Cloudberry’s associated 
companies. 

Production & under 
construction, secured

At the time of measure, the estimated power output of the 
secured production and under construction portfolio. The 
measure is at year-end. Units are measured in MW.

Shows Cloudberry’s total 
portfolio of secured projects that 
are either producing or under 
construction. 

Construction Permits At the time of measure, the estimated total power output to 
be installed in projects with construction permit. Construction 
Permit is at the stage when concession has been granted, but 
before a final investment decision has been made. The measure 
is at year-end. Units are measured in MW.

Shows Cloudberry’s total portfolio 
of projects with construction 
permit. 

Backlog At the time of measure, the estimated total effect to be installed 
related to projects that are exclusive to the Group and in a 
concession application process. The measure is at year-end. 
Units are measured in MW

Shows Cloudberry’s portfolio of 
project where Cloudberry has 
an exclusive right to the projects. 
The projects are still under 
development. 

Direct emissions Measure in tons of CO2 equivalents. The use of fossil fuels for 
transportation or combustion in owned, leased or rented assets. 
It also includes emission from industrial processes.

Shows Cloudberry’s direct 
emissions (Scope 1, GHG 
emissions) for the full year. 

Indirect emissions Measure in tons of CO2 equivalents. Related to purchased 
energy; electricity and heating/cooling where the organisation 
has operational control.

The electricity emission factors used are based on electricity 
production mixes from statistics made public by the IEA.

Emissions from value chain activities are a result of the Group’s 
upstream and downstream activities, which are not controlled 
by the Group. Examples are consumption of products, business 
travel, goods transportation and waste handling.

Shows Cloudberry’s indirect 
emissions (Scope 2 and Scope 3, 
GHG emissions) for the full year. 

CO2 reduction Refers to the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions relative 
to baseline emissions from the European electricity mix (EU-27 
electricity mix, IEA 2020 2.

Shows Cloudberry’s reduction of 
greenhouse gases for the full year 
relative to the European Electricity 
mix after the direct and indirect 
emissions from Cloudberry’s 
operation is subtracted

1	 https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/?country=WEOEUR&fuel=Energy%20consumption&indicator=ElecConsPerCapita (accessed 14 June 2021).

2	 https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/charts (accessed 6 May 2021).
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Annual Shareholders' Meeting of Cloudberry Clean Energy ASA

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Cloudberry Clean Energy ASA (the Company) which
comprise the financial statements of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (the Group). The financial statements of the Company comprise the
balance sheet as at 31 December 2022 and the income statement, statement of comprehensive income,
statement of cash flows and statement of changes in equity for the year then ended and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The consolidated financial
statements of the Group comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2022, the income statement,
statement of comprehensive income, statement of cash flows and statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion

 the financial statements comply with applicable legal requirements,
 the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31

December 2022 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway,

 the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2022 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU.

Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the audit committee.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the Group in
accordance with the requirements of the relevant laws and regulations in Norway and the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, no prohibited non-audit services referred to in the Audit
Regulation (537/2014) Article 5.1 have been provided.

We have been the auditor of the Company for 3 years from the election by the general meeting of the
shareholders on 18 June 2020 for the accounting year 2020.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements for 2022. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

Auditor’s report
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financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the financial statements.

Business Combination and Purchase Price Allocation

Basis for the key audit matter
During 2022 the Company has finalized
acquisition of several companies as disclosed in
note 5 – Business combinations and other
transactions. These acquisitions are accounted
for as described in note 2 in sections Basis and
principles for Consolidation and Business
combinations. In relation to these acquisitions the
Company has assessed whether assets are
acquired or a business, allocated purchase price
and determined the date from when control is
transferred to the Company. The purchase price
allocation, the valuation and identification of net
identifiable assets and liabilities and the
assumptions used in the allocation of the
purchase price require significant judgement by
management. The business combinations and
related purchase price allocations was a key audit
matter due to the number of acquisitions and the
significant judgments and assumptions involved in
these assessments.

Our audit response
As part of our audit procedures, we obtained an
understanding of the acquisitions, the agreements
made in relation to the acquisitions, the valuation
process and the valuation methods used to
determine purchase price allocations, and the
consideration of whether assets were acquired or
a business. We further reviewed the share
purchase agreement, tested assumptions and
amounts in the valuations to underlying
supporting documentation and assumptions
determined and documented by the company. We
evaluated the identification of net identifiable
assets and liabilities and the principles used for
recognition and allocation of the purchase price.
As part of evaluation of used principles, we
obtained an understanding that the principles
used are in accordance with the description in
note 2. We evaluated the presentation of the
Company’s disclosures in note 5 – Business
combinations to the 2022 consolidated financial
statements. In addition, we assessed the process
and the competence and capability of
management.

Other information

Other information consists of the information included in the annual report other than the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Management (the board of directors and chief executive
officer) is responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information, and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information,
and, in doing so, consider whether the board of directors’ report, the statement on corporate governance
and the statement on corporate social responsibility contain the information required by applicable legal
requirements and whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements, there is a material misstatement in this other information or that the information
required by applicable legal requirements is not included in the board of directors’ report, the statement
on corporate governance or the statement on corporate social responsibility, we are required to report
that fact.
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We have nothing to report in this regard, and in our opinion, the board of directors’ report, the statement
on corporate governance and the statement on corporate social responsibility are consistent with the
financial statements and contain the information required by applicable legal requirements.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements of the
Company in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway and of the consolidated financial statements of the Group in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the
Company or the Group, or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s and the Group’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s and the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Company and the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the board of directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the board of directors, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirement

Report on compliance with regulation on European Single Electronic Format (ESEF)

Opinion

As part of the audit of the financial statements of Cloudberry Clean Energy ASA we have performed an
assurance engagement to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements included
in the annual report, with the file name Cloudberry-2022-12-31-en.zip, have been prepared, in all material
respects, in compliance with the requirements of the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815
on the European Single Electronic Format (ESEF Regulation) and regulation pursuant to Section 5-5 of
the Norwegian Securities Trading Act, which includes requirements related to the preparation of the
annual report in XHTML format and iXBRL tagging of the consolidated financial statements.

In our opinion, the financial statements, included in the annual report, have been prepared, in all material
respects, in compliance with the ESEF Regulation.

Management’s responsibilities

Management is responsible for the preparation of the annual report in compliance with the ESEF
Regulation. This responsibility comprises an adequate process and such internal control as management
determines is necessary.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our responsibility, based on audit evidence obtained, is to express an opinion on whether, in all material
respects, the financial statements included in the annual report have been prepared in accordance with
the ESEF Regulation. We conduct our work in accordance with the International Standard for Assurance
Engagements (ISAE) 3000 – “Assurance engagements other than audits or reviews of historical financial
information”. The standard requires us to plan and perform procedures to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements included in the annual report have been prepared in accordance
with the ESEF Regulation.

As part of our work, we perform procedures to obtain an understanding of the company’s processes for
preparing the financial statements in accordance with the ESEF Regulation. We test whether the financial
statements are presented in XHTML-format. We evaluate the completeness and accuracy of the iXBRL
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tagging of the consolidated financial statements and assess management’s use of judgement. Our
procedures include reconciliation of the iXBRL tagged data with the audited financial statements in
human-readable format. We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Oslo, 23 March 2023
ERNST & YOUNG AS

Asbjørn Ler
State Authorised Public Accountant (Norway)
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About the report

Principles for reporting 
The enclosed Financial Statements and Board of Directors’ report, together 
with the accompanying notes, fulfills Cloudberry Clean Energy ASA’s Norwegian 
statutory requirements for annual reporting.

Regarding our ESG reporting, Cloudberry Clean Energy ASA aims to provide its 
key stakeholders insight into its ESG management and performance, and the 
Company strives to be consistent and transparent in this reporting. Cloudberry is 
preparing for the European Sustainability Reporting Standards (ESRS) required by 
the Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD) and the report is inspired 
by the standard. The standard is based on the ESG structure Environment, Social 
and Governance. Including an updated report on the Company`s performance in 
implementing the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD). 
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